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Preface
X

Accounting Trends & Techniques—2005, Fifty-Ninth Edition (the current edition), is a compilation
of data obtained by a survey of 600 annual reports to stockholders undertaken for the purpose of ana-
lyzing the accounting information disclosed in such reports. The annual reports surveyed were those of
selected industrial, merchandising, technology, and service companies for fiscal periods ending between
February 27, 2004 and February 3, 2005.

Significant accounting trends, as revealed by a comparison of current survey findings with those
of prior years, are highlighted in numerous comparative tabulations throughout this publication. These
tables show trends in such diverse accounting matters as financial statement format and terminology
and the accounting treatment of transactions and events reflected in the financial statements.

Accounting techniques are illustrated by excerpts from the annual reports of the survey companies.
References (in the form of a listing of company reference numbers—see the following paragraph) to
additional illustrations of an accounting technique may be requested from the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants by contacting Yury lofe, Senior Editor, at:

Harborside Financial Center
201 Plaza Three, Jersey City, NJ 07311-3881
Telephone: (201) 938-3491
Fax: (201) 938-3780
E-mail: yiofe@aicpa.org

Each of the 600 survey companies included in the current edition has been assigned a company
reference number which is used for reference in the discussion of pertinent information. Companies
not included from the prior edition were eliminated because of a business combination with another
company or a delisting by the SEC. The identification numbers of the eliminated companies have not
been reused. Over the years, company reference numbers 601 through 1115 have been assigned to the
replacement companies. In the current edition, company reference numbers 1116 through 1148 have
been assigned to additional replacement companies. The 600 companies in the current edition are listed
in the Appendix of 600 Companies both alphabetically and by company reference number.

With the appointment of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) by the
Securities and Exchange Commission, the PCAOB was given responsibility of oversight over the
audit of public companies. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 authorized the PCAOB to establish auditing
and related professional practice standards to be followed by public accounting firms registered with
the PCAOB. In 2004, the PCAOB issued AS No. 2, An Audit of internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Performed in Connection With an Audit of Financial Statements. Although AS No. 2 did not yet apply to
all of the company annual reports surveyed in this edition, illustrative examples of the required auditor
and management reports presented by survey companies can be found in Section 7.

In the current edition, one table was added. In Section 3, Income Statement, new Table 3-12, Plan
Asset Allocation—2004, was added.

We would appreciate your feedback! We hope the additions described above are informative and
useful. However, we urge you to give us your comments regarding the content of this publication,
suggested improvements for future editions, and any other feedback. Please direct your comments to
Yury lofe at the above address or phone numbers. All comments will be considered and kept strictly
confidential.

Robert Durak, CPA, Director—Accounting & Auditing Publications
AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Order/technical information:

Accounting Trends & Techniques: (201) 938-3491
AICPA Technical Hotline: (888) 777-7077, option 5
AICPA Member Satisfaction (order department): (888) 777-7077, option 1



mailto:yiofe@aicpa.org

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section

1 General

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

Companies Selected for Survey...........c..cooverrieennnne

Table 1-1: Industry Classifications......................

Table 1-2: Revenue of Survey Companies...........

Information Required by Rule 14a-3 to Be Included

in Annual Reports to Stockholders.........................
Quarterly Financial Data...........ccoooeiiiineenen.
Selected Information for Five Years....................
Management's Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations...........ccccvereiccrieniciiiiniinn
Forward Looking Information Excerpt.................
Liquidity and Capital Resources Excerpt.............
Environmental Matters Excerpt.............cccccevueiee.
Market Risk Information Excerpt............ccceeueenne.

Critical Accounting Policies Excerpt...................

Segment Information .........c.ccccooiiiiiiiii

Table 1-3: Segment Information..............ccccceeen.

Natural Business Year...........oovvvvemeeeieeeeeieieeenenn,

Table 1-4: Month of Fiscal Year End...................
Change in Date of Fiscal Year End....................
Definition of Fiscal Year............ccoovvvviviviiinnnn.

Comparative Financial Statements...............ccccceeeee.

Rounding of Amounts........c.ccovririiiiiieiiiisieee e

Table 1-5: Rounding of Amounts..............c..eceee.

Notes to Financial Statements.............ccccocceevevieeee....

Table 1-6: Noftes to Financial Statements ............

Disclosure of Accounting Policies.................ccoeeueeee.

Table 1-7: Disclosure of Accounting Policies........

Accounting Changes..........c.ooveiiiiniicniceneeeee e

Table 1-8: Accounting Principle Changes............
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities............
Postretirement Prescription Drug Benefit..............
Financial Instruments With Liability and

Equity Characteristics .........cccoevviririireenineenn
Revenue Recognition...........c.eeevvveriiinieeeaninneen.
Derivatives and Hedging Activities.....................
Stock Compensation..........ccccvvvevieriieiiiireeee e
Asset Retirement Obligation...............cccceeeennnne
Customer Consideration From a Vendor..............

INVENTOTIES. ...ovvieii e

Paragraph
.01-.190
.01-.06
.04

.06
.07-.19
10-11
12-13
14

15
16
A7

18
.19
.20-.28
.23
29-37
.32
33-34
35.37
38-40
41-42
42
43-.45
45
46-51
A48
52-.69
.57
58-59
.60-.61
.62

.63

.64
.65-.66
67

.68

.69

vii

ATT-CON



viii Accounting Trends & Techniques

Section Paragraph
1 General—continued
Consolidation Policies .............cocueviriiiieiiiiiianii, .70-79
Table 1-9: Nonhomogeneous Operations—
Consolidated.............coooovveiiiiiiiecee, .75
Business Combinafions..............cccevveieeercvrieeennnnnee. .80-.86
Table 1-10: Business Combination Disclosures..... .83
Purchase Method ............ccooiviiiiiiiiiicice . .84-85
Formation of Jointly Owned Companies............. .86
Contingencies ........c.ueieviiiieieriiiiiiiiiniie e .87-.102
Table 1-11: Contingencies............ccoovvioiennnns .89
Loss Contingencies..............ccoovviviiiiiiniincinncnnnn, .90-.99
LIHGAtiON ....eevee et .90-.91
Environmental Matters. ..........ccccooeevvnniiiniinrnenen. .92.93
Insurance Coverage/Self-lnsurance.................... 94
Possible Tax Assessments...........ccooovviriiiiininnee. .95-.96
Governmental Investigations...........cccoeccveeeern. .97-98
GUArGNIEES ... .99
Gain Contingencies..........c..covvviviiiiiieiciieeeeens .100-.102
Plaintiff LIHGation ..........cc.cveoueeoiieriiiiiiicnnnn .100-.101
Contingent Receivables..................ccoceoii, .102
Risks and Uncertainfies..........ccccceeiiniineeeenniiinneennn. .103-117
Nature of Operations.............ccccecercririenicennnne. .105-.107
Use of Estimates..........oooovveierireenriiieneiceiinenn. .108-.110
Significant Estimates...........ccoceereiiniiiiiieninnene 111-113
Vulnerability Due to Certain Concentrations........ 114117
CommiItMENnts .........oeeeieieiiiiiiiieeee e .118-135
Table 1-12: Commitments............cceveveeriiiiinnnnns .120
Debt Covenant Restrictions ............ccccooeeeeeennn... 121124
Purchase Agreements............c.cocoeiiininnnnnnn. 125-127
Capital Expenditures...........cccooiiiiiiiiinnninn. .128-.129
Additional Payments Related to Acquisitions........ .130-.131
Licensing Agreement..........c.ccoeeiiiii. 132
Employment Contracts..........cccoeeiiiiiiiiniinnnn. 133
Sales Agreement............ccooeeiieiiciieniencien 134
Merger Agreement.............ccoociiiiiiiiiiiic i, 135
Financial Instruments.............cuuvemeinnieiiiiiiin. .136-.160
Table 1-13: Financial Instruments....................... .139
Derivative Financial Instruments............c.....cccve.... .140-.144
Off-Balance-Sheet Financial Instruments................... .145.153
Financial Guarantees..........c.ccccoevciiiininnnnnnenn .145-150
Letters of Credit.....cc.vvveereeeeiiiiiieeciiiieeeeceen, 151
Sale of Receivables With Recourse..................... .152-.153
Disclosures of Fair Value..........c.cccvviviiiiiiiinnneeeen, 154-157
Concentrations of Credit Risk...........cccccovvieeeninnne .158-.160

ATT-CON



Table of Contents

Section
1 General—continued

Subsequent Events .............ccoceviiiiiiiiniiieee
Table 1-14: Subsequent Events.............ccouee.eee.
Business Combinations..............cccevvieeeininnrnne.
Debt Incurred, Reduced, or Refinanced...............
Discontinued Operations or Asset Disposals........
Litigaton ...
Capital Stock Issued or Purchased......................
Stock Splits/Dividends..............cccceviiiiiiinnnn
Employee Benefits ..........cocoovvereniriiciiicnn
Reorganization/Bankruptcy .........cccceevuveenneennnen.
Tax Resolution. ........cocceviiiiieiiee e
Related Party Transactions.............ccoeeeericenireenncenn.
Sale of Receivables to Subsidiary......................
Transaction Between Reporting Entity and Investee
Transaction Between Reporting Entity and Major
Stockholder..........ccooooeiiiiii

Transaction Between Reporting Entity and
Officer/Director.......ccuuueeiiiieieeeeeiiiiiiieee i,
Transaction Between Reporting Entity and Variable
Interest Entity .......ccooooni
Consolidated Tax Return............ccooeervrennicennnn.
Tax Sharing Agreement.............cccceeevvineeiianns
Inflation AcCounting.........cocveeriiiiiiiiieice e

2 Balance Sheet

Balance Sheet Title............ccocoiiiiiiiiiiiceeeeeeeee,
Table 2-1: Balance Sheet Title .............ocveeeiniaeee.
Balance Sheet Format.........ccccvvvviviiiiiiiiiieieeieieneeen,
Table 2-2: Balance Sheet Format.......................
Reclassifications..........ccoovvieiiiiiiiiiiireciiiieecee
Cash and Cash Equivalents.............cccoreeiiiieennnnne.

Table 2-3: Cash and Cash Equivalents—
Balance Sheet Captions.........c.ccooeeeeeinnienn.
Marketable Securities.........cccccovvvviiiiiiiiiiieeeireene,
Table 2-4: Marketable Securities—Bases............
Availablefor-Sale Securities...............ccccvvvieenn,
Held-to-Maturity Securifies ............ccoveeveininncnnn.
Trading Securities.........oocovveeiiiriiiiiireniiiineneenn,
Current Receivables..............ccoovvviiiiiiiin
Table 2-5: Current Receivables.........................
Receivables Other Than Trade Receivables............
Tax Refund Claims........ccooeeviiiiiiiiiiieieee

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

Paragraph

161-.175
.163
.164-165
166-.167
.168-.169
170
A71
172
173
174
175
176-186
177
.178-179

.180
.181-.182

.183-.184
.185
186

.187-.190

.01-310
.01-.02
.02
.03-.08
.06
.07-.08
.09-.13

1
14-27
22
.23-24
.25-26
.27
.28-53
31
.32-.40
.32-.33
.34
.35

ATT-CON



X Accounting Trends & Techniques

Section

2 Balance Sheet—continued
Finance Receivables...........ccccoeeeveiiiiiiiinnnne
Retained Interest in Sold Receivables..................
Insurance Claims.....ccovveieeereirieieeeiiiee e
Installment Receivables.............ccccceevvieeniiinnnne.
Sale Of ASSEES .....ociivieeeeiiieeeee e
Receivables Sold or Collateralized........................
Table 2-6: Receivables Sold or Collateralized......
Receivables Sold With Recourse........................
Receivables Sold With Limited Recourse..............
Receivables Sold Without Recourse...................
Receivables Used as Collateral .........................
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts...........ccveeeeennne
Table 2-7: Doubtful Account Captions.................
INVENIOTIES .. ovvieee e
Table 2-8: Inventory Captions...........c.cccoeeenen.
Table 2-9: inventory Cost Determination.............
Table 2-10: Industry Classification of Companies
Using LIFO.....oooiiiiiiii
First-In FirstOut....ocoovvnviiiis
LastIn FirstOut.....oooviiii e,
Average Cost.........cecuiiiiiiiiiiiiineiiii e
Specific Identification............ccoooeviniiiaiinnn
Prepaid Expenses............ccoooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiciiis
Table 2-11: Prepaid Expenses................c..ccoc...
Other Current Assets...........uvveeeeeeeeeenerinriiiiiieienenee
Table 2-12: Other Current Asset Captions...........
Deferred TaXes. .......oovvrereeeeirieeeeeeieieeee e
Property Held for Sale...........c..ooccoiiiiinn,
DEMIVAHVES .....oeveeeeeeeeee e
Unbilled Costs .....ooveeeieeeieiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeee e
Advances/Deposits ............ooovvriiciiiiiiiiiiiiieens
Property, Plant, and Equipment.................ocon
Table 2-13: Land Captions.........cccocceereirnneennn.
Table 2-14: Depreciable Asset Captions.............
Table 2-15: Accumulated Depreciation...............
INVESIMENTS .....ovviiieeieiiie et
Table 2-16: Investments—Carrying Bases............
Table 2-17: Investments—Description .................
Equity Method .....c..cooviiiii
FQir Value ..c.oooeeceieeeee e

Noncurrent Receivables...........ccooooeeiiiiiviie .
Table 2-18: Noncurrent Receivables...................

ATT-CON

Paragraph

.36
.37
.38
.39
40
A41-51
45
46
47-.48
.49-50
51
.52-.53
.53
.54-72
.63
.64

.65
.66-.67
.68-70

71

72
73-76

74
77-85

78
.79-.80
.81-.82

.83

.84

.85
.86-.98

.92

.93

.94

.99-114
.108
.109

110-111
J112-113
114
115-125
122



Section

Table of Contents

2 Balance Sheet—continued

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

Intangible Assets............ccccoiviiiiiiiiiiiii

Table 2-19: Intangible Assets.................ccccou...
Table 2-20: Amortization Period—2004.............
GoodWill.......ooeviiiie
Trademarks ........ccocceoeeeiiiiieiiee e
Customer Lists/Relationships.............ccccooeenennn.
Patents.......ccooviiiiiiiiii
Technology ......ccovvvviiiiiiiniieiit et
Licenses and Franchises...........c...oocviivieeennne,
Covenants Not to Compete...........cccouvvmeveeeneeen.
CONTACES ...

Other Noncurrent Assets. ..........coeeiveiieeeeeeiiiiieeeeen.

Table 2-21: Other Noncurrent Assets..................
Deferred Income Taxes............ccccocveieeiirennnnen.
Prepaid Pension Cost...........cocvevireniiieeniiinnns
Software Development Costs...........c.cceevevenenn.
Derivatives ..........ueeuuiiieienniiiii
Segregated Funds.........c..ocooiiiiiiiiniiiiii,
Debt Issue Costs.........coeerviieririiriiiiieeiiceenennn
Property Held for Sale............ccocceovinviniinenien
Cash Value of Life Insurance..............ccceeveeeennn.
Confracts ........ovvvemeeiiiiiiice
Assets of Nonhomogeneous Operations.............
Data BAse ........ooeeeeeeeiiiiiiiiii e

Current Liabilities........cooovviiiiiiciceeeeee e

ShorkTerm Debt.......oooiiiiiiiiici
Table 2-22: Short-Term Debt.........cccoccvvvieneeene.

Trade Accounts Payable...........c.cccocovviiiniinnn,
Table 2-23: Trade Accounts Payable..................

Employee-Related Liabilities .............cccccooernnneann.
Table 2-24: Employee-Related Liabilities..............

Income Tax Liability........ccccooviiiniiiiie
Table 2-25: Current Income Tax Liability.............

Current Amount of Long-Term Debt........................
Table 2-26: Current Amount of Long-Term

Other Current Liabilities..............c.cccooeeeeiiiiiininns
Table 2-27: Other Current Liabilities...................
Costs Related to Discontinued

Operations/Restructuring.........c...covveeeeennrn.n.
Deferred Revenue...............ccocooiivieeeiciinnn
INtErest. .. i e
Product Warranties.............coovveriieiiineeceeeennnn.
Taxes Other Than Federal Income Taxes.............

Paragraph

126-.
131
132
-.134
136
137
.138
139
.140-.
142
.143
144-,
145
147
.148-.
151
152
.153
154
155
156
157
.158
159
.208
169
167
175
173
176
77
.180-.
.181

.184-,

133
.135-

.146-

.150-

.160-

161-

.170-

191

143

141

159

149

179

183

190

.188
-.208
192

193
194
195
196
197

Xi

ATT-CON



xii Accounting Trends & Techniques

Section

2 Balance Sheet—continued
INSURGNCE ...t
Deferred TaxXes.........cccvvieeeveevieeeaniireniveenenn,
Advances/Deposits...........c..ccoeeeriiiiciiniicnnns
AAVertising........ccerveireeniece e
Dividends.........cooeieiimiiiirieeeeee e,
Derivatives ........ccovnvviiiieiiieeee e
Environmental Costs ..........cooeeeeeiiiieiiiiiiiiiinnnnan.
Litigation.........cciiiii
REBAIES . .....vvie e
Billings in Excess of Uncompleted Contract

Asset Retirement Obligation.............c.cccoocrniee.
Long-Term Debt........cccoveireriiiiiiiiiiceicc
Table 2-28: Long-Term Debt............ccccevvvennrenee
Unsecured........ccceiovniiiieiieeiiee e,
Collateralized.........cc.ooovveirieiiiiiiiiiiiirieenn
Convertible ........coooeviiiiieinicecei e
Debt Covenant Violation.........cccccooovuveiiennnn...
Credit Agreements.............cceeceeriieenieiiienieecenenan,
Table 2-29: Credit Agreements.........c...............
Long-Term Leases...........occovvreeniiiiiiiiinnii,
Table 2-30: Long-Term Leases............ccoceeennnee.
lessee—Capital Leases ..............cocoeeeiiie
Lessee—Operating leases..........ccoceeeviinnnninn
Lessor Leases.........ccooervvmniiiniiniiiiiiiiiie
Other Noncurrent Liabilities.........c...ococeeeeeiannnnnnn.
Table 2-31: Other Noncurrent Liabilities..............
Deferred Income Taxes..........ccccuveevrvverenieeennnnn,
Minority Interest..........ccccoooviiiii.
Derivatives ..........ccovvreeieiiiiiiiiie e
Preferred StOCK .......vvivivieierieieeieeeeee e
EmployeeRelated Liabilities..............................
Discontinued Operations............cccccococurenernnnee.
Environmental Costs .........ccevvvieemniiereniiennnn.
INSUFANCE ...uveeieiiie e
Warranties ........evveeerieeiiieiiiniiiieee
Liigation.....couueimeiiiii
Asset Retirement Obligation...............c..ccocceene
Deferred Credits..........ccocveeeerriieeeiiiiiiineeenns
Reserves—Use of the Term “Reserve”........................
Table 2-32: Use of Term “Reserve” ....................
Title of Stockholders’ Equity Section..........................
Table 2-33: Title of Stockholders’ Equity
SECHON ...eeieieiiiiieee e

ATT-CON

Paragraph

.198
199
.200
.201
.202
.203
.204
.205
.206

.207
.208
.209-.224
217
.218-220
.221-222
223
224
.225-230
226
.231-.242
234
.235-.237
.238-.240
.241-242
.243-260
.244
.245-246
.247-.248
.249
.250-.251
.252-253
.254
255
256
257
.258
.259
.260
.261-.262
.262
.263-.264

264



Table of Contents

Section
2 Balance Sheet—continued
Capital SrUCIUIES ....c.vevviieiiiiiii e,
Table 2-34: Capital Structures............cccvveeeenee...
Common Stock........ceeeereiiiiiiiciieee e
Table 2-35: Common Stock.........ccccoeeeivinnnn...
Preferred Stock..........cocvviieeiiiicee e,

Preferred Stock Extended at Liquidating Value.....
Preferred Stock Extended at Redemption Value....
Preferred Stock Extended at Fair Value
at Issuance Date ......c.ooooiviniiiiiiiiin,
Additional Paid-In Capital..............c.ccovevviiereirnnnn,
Table 2-37: Additional Paid-n Capital—
Caption Titfle......ccoovieiirniiriiieiic e
Retained EQrnings..........ccocveeiieniieiiconiieiceeeeee,
Table 2-38: Retained Earnings—Caption Title......
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income...............
Table 2-39: Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Income—Balance Sheet Caption....................
Table 2-40: Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Income—Presentation of Component
Balances........ccooeiriiiiiinnici
Notes to Financial Statements............c.cocveenne.
Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity......
Equity Section of Balance Sheet........................
Treasury StOCK.......cccciiiiiiiinieierciiere e
Table 2-41: Treasury Stock—Balance Sheet
Presentation ..........c.eeuiviiiiieeneieie e
Cost of Treasury Stock Shown as Reduction of
Stockholders’ Equity ...........ccoovvierinireneiiranne,
Par Value of Treasury Stock Deducted From lIssued

Other Accounts Shown in Stockholders’ Equity
SECHON. ...ceiieiiiiiieee e
Table 2-42: Other Stockholders’ Equity
ACCOUNTS ..ot
Unearned Compensation Relating to Stock
Award Plans........ccoocoiiiiiiiiie

Employee Benefit Trust.............cccoveiveniiieennnnn.
Receivables From Sale of Stock........cccooeeeeeinnin.
Stockholder Rights..........ccooviviericiiiiiiiinieen,

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

Paragraph

.265-.267
267
.268-.269
269
.270-276
272
273
274
275

276
.277-278

278
.279-.280
.280
.281-.292

.285

.286
.287-.288
.289-.290
.291-.292
.293-.298

295
.296-.297
.298
.299-310
.303
.304-.305
.306
307
.308

309
310

Xiii

ATT-CON



Accounting Trends & Techniques

Section

3 Income Statement
Income Statement Title.........coovmviiieiireeeiiiiiiies
Table 3-1: Income Statement Title.......................
Income Statement Format..........ccooeeveeiiiiiiiin.
Table 3-2: Income Statement Format...................
Reclassification ........ccccccoeeeiiiiriciiiieeee e
Revenues and Gains...........ccooevvveeerreireeeeenniiieeennn.
Table 3-3: Revenue Caption Title ............c..c......
Table 3-4: Gains........oevvviiviieiiieiie e,

[MEEI@St...veereeeeiiieiee e
Sale of Assets.......ccccivereieiiniiiiii
Equity in Earnings of Investee......................
Liability Accruals Reduced...........ccooeinin
Foreign Currency Transactions.................c.......
Change in Fair Value of Derivatives...................
Dividends........cooovuiimniiiiiiccii i,
Royalty, Franchise and License Fees...................
Litigation Settlements...........ccccooceiiiiiiiniinn
Insurance Recoveries............cccccoovniniininn.
Rentals.......cooveeiiieiiiiiciiic e
Debt Extinguishment ..o,
Nonrecurring Gain...........ccocoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiien,
Expenses and LOSSes..........cccoeviriiiiiininiiiiiinienn,
Table 3-5: Expenses—Cost of Goods Sold
CAPHONS....ceiiiiiiiicicii e
Table 3-6: Expenses—Other Than Cost
of Goods Sold.......cccoveiiviiiniiiii
Table 3-7: LoSSeS .....oeiovereereeeiiieeieeceeceee
EXPeNses......cocveiiiiiiiniiiiiiiiiiie e,
Cost of Goods Sold........ceevviirinienice,
Research and Development..............ccccccoeiinne
AVErising......oovieriieiie e
Provision for Doubtful Accounts.................ce..e.

Intangible Asset Amortization...................co...
Restructuring of Operations. ...........ccccovceeieeane.
Write-Down of Assets...........cccoevviriiiiiiiiiinnn,
Foreign Currency Transactions..........................
Debt Extinguishment............cccoccoiiiiiinn
Sale of Assets........ccceereiiiiiiiiiiiiiii

Paragraph

31-.61
.34

.35
.36
.37-.43
.37-.38
.39-.40
41
.42
.43
A44-61
A44- 45
A6-.47
.48
49
.50
51



Table of Contents

Section Paragraph
3 Income Statement—continued
Impairment of Intangibles .........c......coccoeninnn .52
Change in Fair Value of Derivatives................... .53
Litigation Settlement..............cccovviiiiniiienninane .54
Minority Interest..........coeoommiiiiinniii .55
Sale of Receivables..........c.coeceeniniiininn .56
Environmental Clean-Up..........ccccoceoiiiiiine, 57
Equity in Losses of Investee...........ccccoceernneennn. .58
Purchased R&D ..........coocviiieiiiiiiiniciieccie .59
Merger Costs........ccoviiiieriiniiiiiiicee .60
Nonrecurring/Unusual Losses ........................... 61
Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefis................ .62-77
Table 3-8: Assumed Discount Rate...................... .65
Table 3-9: Assumed Rate of Compensation
INCrASe. ....eeviiiiiiietii it .66
Table 3-10: Expected Rate of Return................... 67
Table 3-11: Health Care Cost Trend
Rate—2004 ...........coooiiiiiiiiiiii .68
Table 3-12: Plan Asset Allocation—2004........... .69
Defined Benefit Plans..........ccocccovieiiiinennncen. 70-72
Defined Contribution Plans.........c...cccevieeennne. 73
Supplemental Retirement Plans.......................... 74
Multiemployer Plans...........c.occccoviiiiiin. 75
Amendment of Plan .............ccoocieiiiiiiiinineen, 76
Special Termination Benefits.............c.cceeennnnn, 77
Postemployment Benefits..........cocooeviiiiiniiinicinenns .78-.80
Employee Compensatory Plans..........ccccovniininninn .81-.98
Table 3-13: Employee Compensatory Plans......... .84
Stock Option Plans..........cccoveeveieiiiiniiincceen. .85-.88
Stock Award Plans............coocvveeeviireriiine i, .89-.90
Savings/Investment Plans ..............ccccccevnieennn .91-92
Stock Purchase Plans ...........ccococeeiiciiniieennnn. .93
Deferred Compensation Plans..........c...c.ccccenne. .94
Employee Stock Ownership Plans...................... .95
Incentive Compensation Plans.................ccce... .96
Profit Sharing Plans ..........cc.cccovvniiiiniicienninn .97
Equity Participating Rights ............ccccocoiii .98
Depreciation Expense..........ccccceciviiiiiiiiiiinninnnnn. .99-.109
Table 3-14: Depreciation Methods..................... .102
Straight-line Method..........c.cccoooii .103-.104
Accelerated Methods.............ccooceeiniiieiniiien. .105-.106
Units-of-Production Method ............cccocoiieie .107
Composite Method............oocooiiiiiniiiicnen, .108
Depletion ........cccvvieeeiiiiiiee e .109

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

XV

ATT-CON



XVi

ATT-CON

Section

3

Accounting Trends & Techniques

Income Statement—continued
INCOME TAXES ..ceoevniiiiiiiiiiiiiii e
Presentation of Income Taxes............ccccccceviinnnnn.
Table 3-15: Income Tax Expense............c...oveee.
Expense Provision ...,
Credit Provision ...........ccceeveveeeiiieeeniieeeee s
NO Provision ........c...uceeeiiiviniiiiin.
Operating Loss and Tax Credit Carryforwards........
Taxes on Undistributed Earnings.......c....ccoccoeennn.
Long-Term Contracts............cocooviiiiriiiriieniiiiinnieennn
Table 3-16: Method of Accounting for Long-Term
Contracts .......ooeevieiiiiiii
Discontinued Operations...............cccceiieeeccricrannn.
Business Component Disposals...........cc.ccccccceen.
Adjustment of Gain/Loss Reported in Prior Period
Charges or Credits Shown After Income

Tax CaphOn .....ccvveerriiireeiieie e

Table 3-17: Charges or Credits Shown Affer
Income Tax Capion .........ceeerveevrniiieeeennnnen
Extraordinary Hems........c..coiioeiiiiniiiiniicicen
Table 3-18: Extraordinary ltems.................c......
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entity..............
Coal Act Health Benefit Adjustment....................
Earnings Per Share ............ccocconiiiiniiiiiiiiinn,

Comprehensive Income
Presentation in Annual Report.............cccocoiiiniiinnnn.
Table 4-1: Comprehensive Income—Reporting
Statement.........cooooriiiiiiiii e
Table 4-2: Comprehensive Income—Reporting
Statement Title .........ccovvveeeriiiiieiieeee
Included in Statement of Changes
in Stockholders’ Equity........c.ccoooeereviieeninncens
Separate Statement of Comprehensive Income....
Combined Statement of Net Income and
Comprehensive Income.............cococevvninn
Tax Effect Disclosure.............cooeeeiviicinnicnniiennn.
Components of Other Comprehensive Income............
Table 4-3: Other Comprehensive
Income—Components...............cccooeeeiiiieiennn
Cumulative Translation Adjustments....................
Minimum Pension Liability Adjustments...............
Changes in Fair Value of Derivatives..................
Unrealized Losses/Gains on Certain Investments.

Reclassification Adjustments...............ccocveennee.

Paragraph

.110-.124
10117
12
1132115
116
17
.118-.120
121-.124
.125-131

127
.132-.142
.139-.141

142

.143-.145

144
.146-.150
.148
.149
150
.151-.156

.01-32
.01-.14

.04
.07

.08-.10
11-12

1314
A5-17
.18-32

.22
.23-24
.25-26
.27-.28
.29-30
.31-32



Table of Contents

Section
5 Stockholders’ Equity
General.......ccooviiiiiii
Retained EQrnings..........cccocuveemiiiieicnicrennieeiiiee e
Presentation of Changes in Retained Earnings........
Table 5-1: Presentation of Changes in Retained
Earnings .......cooooiii
Dividends.......oeoiiiieeeie e
Table 5-2: Dividends............cccoeiiiiiiiininnn
Cash Dividends...........cocceiviiiniiiiiniiiiceene
Dividends-in-Kind ..........occoiiiniiiiiie
Stock Purchase Rights ............cccooiiiiiiniinnn
Adjustments to Opening Balance of Retained
EQrnings .ccooooeieeiiiie
Table 5-3: Adjustments to Opening Balance
of Retained Earnings .............ccoceevivvrerinnnne
Prior Period Adjustment............cccocoeiiininnn.
Change in Accounting Principle...........c.cccco.....
Other Changes in Refained Earnings............c.......
Table 5-4: Other Changes in Retained
Barnings....coooeeeiiiiiii e
Treasury Stock Transachions...........ccccooeerneenne.
Tax Benefit From ESOP Dividends......................
Change in Fiscal Year of Subsidiary ..................
Additional Paid-n Capital..........ccoccoii
Presentation of Changes in Additional Paid-In
Capital ..o
Table 5-5: Presentation of Changes
in Additional Paid-n Capital.............ccoeeeeee
Stock SPlits......oieeeiiieii e
Table 5-6: Stock Splits........ccccceriiiiiniiiiiniis
Changes in Additional Paid4n Capital...................

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

Table 5-7: Changes in Additional Paid-In

Capital oo
Common Stock Issued in Connection With

Employee Benefit Plans............c.cccceeeivnennnnnn,
Business Combination...............ccoveveeeeiininnnnen.
Public Offering......cccoooiiiiiiiniiii
Preferred Stock Conversion..........c.ccccoeveverrnnnnie.
Debt Conversion..........c.ocueiiiiiiincvienieceenninen
Stock Option Tax Benefit............cccevirreiinnnn..n.
Compensation Recognized.........cccc.ceeivniennnee.
Warrants Issued/Exercised............oooeiiieeein.
Stock Rights Issued ...........cooooiiieiiiiniiiiiee
Treasury Stock Purchased...........ccccccoiiiinnie
Treasury Stock Issued...........ccceoviieiniineinie

Paragraph

.01-

.02-
.02-

.04-

.08-

A2

.24-,

.34-

41

.57
.01
.23
.03

.03
BN
.07
.09
.10
RR

17

15
16
A7
-.23

19
.20-.
.22
.23
24-,

21

50

26

26
.27-.
.28
32-.

31

50

.33

35
36
37
38
39
40
.42

43

44
45..
47

46

xvii

ATT-CON



xviii Accounting Trends & Techniques

Section
5 Stockholders’ Equity—continued
Restricted StOCK......cvvvivveeeiiiniennieeic e
Conversion of Preferred Stock...........ccccoeurunenne.
Contingent Acquisition Payment........................
Other Components of Stockholders’ Equity.................
Unearned Compensation Expense.....................
Employee Stock Ownership Plan......................
Stock Loan Program.............coceevvviiiiiiiiienincns
Warrants..........ooeeeveeeermiiii e

6 Statement of Cash Flows
General...........coiveieniiiiiii
Presentation in Annual Report................occoiin,

Table 6-1: Presentation in Annual Report ............
Cash Flows From Operating Activities......................
Table 6-2: Method of Reporting Cash Flows From
Operating Activities.........c.ooevieniiiiininninn
Table 6-3: Cash Flows From Operating
Activities—Reconciling ltems..........................
Table 6-4: Interest and Income Tax Payments......
Direct Method........cooevvveiiiiein
Indirect/Reconciliation Method.............cocovuvvee..n.
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Operating
Cash Flows........cooviiiiiieeieeneeeeecee e
Employee Related Costs........ccccoooeiiiiiiiiinnn.
Sale of Property.........cccoceiivviiniiiiiiiiiiee
Sale of Assets Other Than Property....................
Provision for Bad Debt..........cccoveiviiniininiieeine
Equity Earnings/{Loss).......ccoovevimiiiiiiiiiiiiiai
Intangible Asset Amortization...................c........
Restructuring Charge ........oooovveeiiiiiiiiiiins,
Changes in Assets and Liabilifies.....................
Interest and Income Tax Payments.........................
Cash Flows From Investing Activities.............cccc.cce....
Property Acquisitions/Disposals........................
INVESIMENtS......eeeeeeieieeiiiiee e
Business Combinations............ccccooveeniiicinnnnn.
Sale of Discontinued Operation.........................
Notes Receivable...........ccocvviviiiiiiin,
Capitalized Software............cccooevviniiiinn,
Restricted Cash..........coooeveriiiiiiis
Life Insurance Policies........cccoueeeverreirenieceennne.
Revenue Sharing Program.............cccoociinnn,

ATT-CON

Paragraph

.48
49
.50
.51-.57
.53-.54
.55
.56
.57

.01-.64
.01-.02
.03-.04

.04
.05-.28

.10

BRI
A2
13-.14
15-.16

17-25
A7
.18
19
.20
21
.22
.23
.24-25
.26-.28
.29-.40
.30-31
.32-33



Section

Table of Contents

6 Statement of Cash Flows—continued

Cash Flows From Financing Activities..................
Debt Proceeds/Repayments..................c.......
Capital Stock Proceeds/Payments.................
Exercise of Stock Options...........ccc.ccceeeneeene.
Dividends Paid.........ccccovvviniirenniiiiiceee.
Debt Issuance Costs........cccoevvverenieeeinieeanns
Lease Obligation Payments..............ccoceeuee.
Repurchase of Minority Interest.....................

Foreign Currency Cash Flows................cccccoene

Noncash Achiviies..........ccooveeiiieeoiiiiiriieeeieene

Cash and Cash Equivalents.............ccccceeveienne

Table 6-5: Cash and Cash Equivalents...............

7 Independent Auditors’ Report

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

Presentation in Annual Report............cc..covennnne.

Table 7-1: Presentation in Annual Report............

ADAressee ...oovveeeeeee e

Table 7-2: Addressee of Auditors’ Reports......
Auditors’ Standard Report............occovvcieniniennnne
Statement of Comprehensive Income.............

Statement of Operations and Comprehensive

Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

Auditors’ Standard Report of a Public Company ........

Reference to Report of Other Auditors..................
Uncertainties...........evemriiiimiiiiniiineieniciiiiini

Table 7-3: Uncertainties...........cccocvoeeeeennns
Lack of Consistency.........ccoooeeeirciraaiieiiieeene

Table 7-4: Lack of Consistency ..........cccccovveeinnn

Goodwill Not Amortized............ccocveeveennn
Asset Retirement Obligations........................
Variable interest Entities.............ccocoeveeeninnee.
Stock-Based Compensation................c.oceeee..
Financial Instruments With Liability and Equity

Characteristics. .......ovevrriimniianieeeiieens

Employee Benefit Plans..............cccoccoveeiiinnn,

INVentories. .....coouevviveviiie e

Emphasis of a Mater.........cocooviiiniiniiiee

Departures From Unqualified Opinions................

Reports on Comparative Financial Statements.......

Opinion Expressed on Supplementary Financial
Information.......occeeereeniiiniiccc

Paragraph

41-50
42-.43
.44-.45
46
A7
48
.49
.50
.51-.53
.54-58
.59-.64
.60

.01-.66
.01-.04
.04
.05
.06-.08
.08
.09-.14
A2

13
14
15-16
A7-21
.22-26
24
.27-37
.28
.29
.30
.31-.32
.33-.34

.35
36
37
.38-.41
42
.43-.45

A6-.47

Xix

ATT-CON



ATT-CON

Accounting Trends & Techniques

Section Paragraph
7 Independent Auditors’ Repori—continued
Dating of Report.........ccciviriiiiiiiiiiieic e 48-54
Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial
REPOrHNG ... .55-.61
Separate Report on Internal Control................... .58-59
Combined Report on Financial Statements
and Internal Control ..........c.ccocvvviiiiiiinin. .60-.61
General Management and Special Purpose Committee
REPOIES ..o .62-.66
Report of Management on Financial
StAEMENTS ..ot .64
Audit Committee Report........ccccoveuveevrienereeean, .65
Compensation Committee Report....................... .66

Appendix/Indexes

Appendix of 600 Companies
Company Index
Pronouncement Index
Subject Index




COMPANIES SELECTED FOR SURVEY

1.01 This section is concerned with general information
about the 600 companies selected for the survey and with
certain accounting information usually disclosed in notes ac-
companying the basic financial statements.

1.02 All 600 companies inciuded in the survey are regis-
tered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).
Many of the survey companies have securities traded on one
of the major stock exchanges—81% on the New York and
2% on the American. The remaining 17% were traded on
“over-the-counter” exchanges. Table 1-1 presents an indus-
try classification of the 600 survey companies.

1.03 Each year, companies are selected from the latest
Fortune 1000 listing to replace those companies that were
deleted from the survey (see the Appendix of 600 Companies
for a comprehensive listing of the 600 companies as well as
those that were added and removed in this edition). Compa-
nies are deleted from the survey when they have either been
acquired, have become privately held (and are, therefore, no
longer registered with the SEC), or have ceased operations.

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

Section 1: General

1.04
TABLE 1-1: INDUSTRY CLASSIFICATIONS

2004 2003
Advertising, Marketing............ccourerecenennssncerionnes 2 4
ABTOSPACE ....ccovreereerrremsiiresisemmsenisenesosssessisssssnas 17 17
APPATEL.......oco e isesssi e nseresenae 15 14
BEVErages.........coouumiuvccmnriinininsssisnsesssnesssins 10 10
Building materials, glass.........c.cconuvvniiiriiciinnnins 8 8
ChemiCals.........coooveveerrerreereirnensisssseseeersenssssennene 27 29
Computer and data SEIVICeS.........cccvcriincncrenne 17 17
Computer peripherals...............coeeeeveurrneerseeenene 8 8
Computer software.................. 9 9
Computers, office equipment..............cccovccromnrrncens 1 11
Diversified outsourcing services............cccoeuneeveunas 10 8
Electronics, electrical equipment..........cccovvveeneen. 42 42
Engineering, CONSrUCtION...........ccovnecmiverienniies 12 11
Entertainment..........ccoovveeconinnensernncmmessecrsreenicees 7 6
Food.....cooouvveemmenerncrenes 23 24
Food and drug stores.... 16 15
FOOA SEIVICES.......oveevereececeeeeieiresr e 9 6
Forest and paper products............cooceeecverereeeenes 20 20
Furniture..........ccooeevernveeennes 10 10
General merchandisers............ooovvrineencereneenenns 10 1
Health Care..........cveeerereeeererrecnsrer e 10 10
HOMEDUIENS ..o 4 2
Hotels, casinos, reSOMS..........oc.covreerimreeermssennenes 7 8
Industrial and farm equipment....... 36 35
Medical products and equipment... 13 13
Metal products...........cccreermernerrennennne 19 21
Metals........ccoovveenevcenirinnnnine 15 14
Mining, crude-oil production.. 14 13
Miscellaneous..........ccoevrvencene 6 9
Motor vehicles and parts....... 15 17
Network communications.. 7 6
Petroleum refining............. 14 13
Pharmaceuticals............ ettt 10 10
Publishing, printing...........coeveereernrierneees 21 20
Rubber and plastic products............ccoev.cereeeerreonn. 7 6
Scientific, photographic, and control equipment... 19 20
SeMICONAUCIONS......cvuevrcereere s ieerennns 14 14
Soaps, cosmetics...... 7 8
Specialty retailers...... 18 17
Telecommunications..... 16 15
Temporary help............. 5 5
Textiles............. 4 5
Tobacco.......ccvcvecernenneces 6 6
Toys, sporting goods............. 2 2
Transportation equipment..... 4 4
Trucking, truck leasing...... 5 5
Waste management...... 3 3
WHOIESAIETS.......cvveeererererire e srers s ssnesnnens 16 19
Total Companies 600 600

ATT-SEC 1.04
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1.05 Table 1-2 indicates the relative size of the survey com-
panies as measured by dollar amount of revenue.

1.06

TABLE 1-2: REVENUE OF SURVEY COMPANIES
2004 2003 2002 2001

Less than $100,000,000............. 16 23 23 18
Between $100,000,000 and

$500,000,000..........ccoceonneneeen. 40 41 44 50
Between $500,000,000 and

$1,000,000,000....................... 43 52 55 4
Between $1,000,000,000 and

$2,000,000,000.............coee...... 105 110 128 123
Between $2,000,000,000 and

$3,000,000,000..........ccooovrn.... 82 77 64 77
Between $3,000,000,000 and

$4,000,000,000...........covrrronn 42 42 46 44
Between $4,000,000,000 and

$5,000,000,000............cerveene 39 43 40 41
Between $5,000,000,000 and

$10,000,000,000.........c.cevvvvee 93 91 84 80
More than $10,000,000,000....... 140 121 116 126
Total Companies.......co..ovserusiens 600 600 600 600

INFORMATION REQUIRED BY RULE 14a-3
TO BE INCLUDED IN ANNUAL REPORTS
TO STOCKHOLDERS

1.07 Rule 14a-3, Information to Be Furnished to Security
Holders, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, states that
annual reports furnished to stockholders in connection with
the annual meetings of stockholders should include audited
financial statements—balance sheets as of the 2 most recent
fiscal years, and statements of income and of cash flows for
each of the 3 most recent fiscal years. Rule 14a-3 also states
that the following information, as specified in Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) Regulation S-K, Standard In-
structions for Filling Forms Under the Securities Act of 1933,
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Energy Policy and Con-
servation Act of 1975, should be included in the annual report
to stockholders:

. Selected quarterly financial data.

Disagreements with accountants on accounting and

financial disclosure.

Summary of selected financial data for last 5 years.

. Description of business activities.

. Segment information.

. Listing of company directors and executive officers.

. Market price of Company’s common stock for each
quarterly period within the two most recent fiscal
years.

. Management’s discussion and analysis of financial
condition and results of operations.

9. Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about mar-

ket risk.

NoOA® =

o«
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1.08 Examples of items 1, 3, 8, and 9 follow. Included
with the item 8 examples are excerpts from management’s
discussion and analysis as to forward looking information,
liquidity and capital resources, environmental matters, and
critical accounting policies.

1.09 Examples of segment information disclosures are pre-
sented under “Segment Information” in this section.
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Quarterly Financial Data
1.10
EL PASO CORPORATION (DEC)

SUPPLEMENTAL SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL
INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

Financial information by quarter, is summarized below.

Quarters Ended

(In millions, except per common share amounts) March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 Total
2004
Operating revenues $1,557 $ 1,524 $1,429 $1,364 $ 5,874
Loss on long-lived assets 222 17 582 271 1,092
Operating income (loss) 205 370 (355) (14) 206
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 97 $ 45 $ (202) $ (548) $ (802)
Discontinued operations, net of income taxes(") (109) (29) (12) 4 (146)
Net income (loss) $ (206) $ 16 $ (214) $ (544) $ (948)
Basic and diluted eamings per common share

Income (loss) from continuing operations $(0.15) $ 007 $(0.31) $(0.86) $ (1.25)

Discontinued operations, net of income taxes (0.17) (0.04) (0.02) 0.01 (0.23)
Net income (loss) $(0.32) $ 0.03 $(0.33) $(0.85) $ (148)
2003
Operating revenues $1,828 $ 1,569 $1,714 $1,557 $ 6,668
Loss on long-lived assets 14 395 54 397 860
Westem Energy Settlement — 123 (20) 1 104
Operating income (loss) 264 (272) 481 (68) 405
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ (207) $ (297) $ 65 $ (84) $ (523)
Discontinued operations, net of income taxes(" (215) (939) (41) (201) {1,396)
Cumulative effect of accounting changes, net

of income taxes 9) — — — (9)
Net income (loss) $ (431) $(1,236) $ 24 $ (285) $(1,928)
Basic and diluted earnings per common share

Income (loss) from continuing operations $(0.34) $ (0.50) $ 011 $(0.14) $ (0.87)

Discontinued operations, net of income taxes (0.36) (1.57) (0.07) (0.33) (2.34)

Cumulative effect of accounting changes,

net of income taxes (0.02) — — — (0.02)

Net income (loss) $(0.72) $ (2.07) $ 0.04 $(0.47) $ (3.23)

() Qur petroleum markets operations, our Canadian and certain other international natural gas and oil production operations, and our coal
mining operations are classified as discontinued operations.

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques ATT-SEC 1.10



1.1
RYDER SYSTEM, INC. (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

238. Quarterly Information (Unaudited)

Accounting Trends & Techniques

Earnings Per
Common Share
Before Cumulative

Earnings Before
Cumulat?ve Effect Effect of Changes )
of Changes in in Accounting Net Eamings Per
Accounting Principles Common Share

(In thousands, except per share data) Revenue Principles Net Earnings Basic Diluted Basic Diluted
2004
First quarter $1,212,258 $ 35,041 $ 35,041 $0.54 $0.53 $0.54 $0.53
Second quarter 1,268,915 63,645 63,645 0.99 097 0.99 0.97
Third quarter 1,305,914 54,282 54,282 0.85 0.83 0.85 0.83
Fourth quarter 1,363,191 62,641 62,641 0.98 0.96 0.98 0.96
Full year $5,150,278 $215,609 $215,609 $3.35 $3.28 $3.35 $3.28
2003
First quarter $1,194,375 $ 20,940 $ 19,771 $0.34 $0.33 $0.32 $0.31
Second quarter 1,197,400 34,682 34,682 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55
Third quarter 1,193,603 40,507 37,553 0.64 0.63 0.59 0.58
Fourth quarter 1,216,916 39,430 39,430 0.62 0.61 0.62 0.61
Full year $4,802,294 $135,559 $131,436 $2.15 $2.12 $2.09 $2.06

Quarterly and year-to-date computations of per share
amounts are made independently; therefore, the sum of per
share amounts for the quarters may not equal per share

amounts for the year.

Earnings in 2004 were impacted, in part, by after-tax gains
from properties sold in connection with the relocation of our
headquarters of $0.6 million in the first quarter, $14 million in
the second quarter and $0.7 million in the third quarter. Earn-
ings in 2004 were also impacted, in part, by a net income tax
benefit of $9 million recognized in the fourth quarter associ-

ated with developments in various tax matters.

ATT-SEC 1.11
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Selected Information for Five Years
1.12
GOOGLE INC. (DEC)

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

You should read the following selected consolidated finan-
cial data in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”

and our consolidated financial statements and the related
notes appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

The consolidated statements of operations data for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, and the
consolidated balance sheet data at December 31, 2003 and
2004, are derived from our audited consolidated financial
statements appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The con-
solidated statements of operations data for the years ended
December 31, 2000 and December 31, 2001, and the con-
solidated balance sheet data at December 31, 2000, 2001
and 2002, are derived from our audited consolidated finan-
cial statements that are not included in this Form 10-K. The
historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results
to be expected in any future period.

(In thousands, except per share data) 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
Consolidated statements of operations data:
Revenues $19,108 $ 86,426 $439,508 $1,465,934 $3,189,223
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenues 6,081 14,228 131,510 625,854 1,457,653
Research and development 10,516 16,500 31,748 91,228 225,632
Sales and marketing 10,385 20,076 43,849 120,328 246,300
General and administrative 4,357 12,275 24,300 56,699 139,700
Stock-based compensation(”) 2,506 12,383 21,635 229,361 278,746
Non-recurring portion of settlement of disputes with Yahoo — — — — 201,000
Total costs and expenses 33,845 75,462 253,042 1,123,470 2,549,031
Income (loss) from operations (14,737) 10,964 186,466 342,464 640,192
Interest income (expense) and other, net 47 (896) (1,551) 4,190 10,042
Income (loss) before income taxes (14,690) 10,068 184,915 346,654 650,234
Provision for income taxes — 3,083 85,259 241,006 251,115
Net income (loss) $(14,690) $ 6,985 $ 99,656 $ 105,648 $ 399,119
Net income (loss) per share@

Basic $ (0.22) $ 007 $ 086 $ o077 § 207

Diluted $ (0.22) $ 004 $ 045 $ 0.41 $ 1.46
Number of shares used in per share calculation®

Basic 67,032 94,523 115,242 137,697 193,176

Diluted 67,032 186,776 220,633 256,638 272,781

™ Stock-based compensation, consisting of amortization of defe
employees for services rendered, is allocated as follows:

rred stock-based compensation and the value of options issued to non-

(In thousands) 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
Cost of revenues $ 167 $ 876 $ 1,065 $ 8,557 $ 11,314
Research and development 1,673 4,440 8,746 138,377 169,532
Sales and marketing 514 1,667 4,934 44,607 49,449
General and administrative 252 5,400 6,890 37,820 48,451

$ 2,506 $12,383 $21,635 $229,361 $278,746

@ See Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements includ
amounts.

ed in this Form 10-K for information regarding the computation of per share

(In thousands) 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
Consolidated balance sheet data:

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities $19,101 $ 33,589 $146,331 $334,718 $2,132,297
Total assets 46,872 84,457 286,892 871,458 3,313,351
Total long-term liabilities 7,397 8,044 9,560 33,365 43,927
Redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant — — 13,871 13,871 —
Deferred stock-based compensation (8,457) (15,833) (35,401) (369,668) (249,470)
Total stockholders’ equity 27,234 50,152 173,953 588,770 2,929,056
AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques ATT-SEC 1.12
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1.13
SYMBOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. (DEC)

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth selected consolidated financial
information of Symbol for each of the years in the five-year
period ended December 31, 2004. These tables should be
read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial State-
ments, including the notes thereto, appearing elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K and Item 7, “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations.”

(In thousands, except per share) 2000 2001 20029 2003 2004
Revenue:
Product $1,005,787 $1,206,176 $1,103,070 $1,223,853 $1,433,671
Services 207,476 281,280 298,547 306,425 298,452
Total revenue 1,213,263 1,487,456 1,401,617 1,530,278 1,732,123
Cost of revenue:
Product cost of revenue 658,149 826,766 693,980 635,103 709,967
Services cost of revenue 162,709 219,310 219,985 219,926 213,118
Total cost of revenue 820,858 1,046,076 913,965 855,029 923,085
Gross profit 392,405 441,380 487,652 675,249 809,038
Operating expenses:
Engineering 127,740 149,523 142,602 156,328 167,543
Selling, general and administrative 326,117 329,044 343,971 421,132 502,331
Stock-based compensation expense/(recovery) 9,402 (92,760) (68,084) 17,087 2,234
Provision/(recovery) for legal settlements - 98,300 72,000 (21,400)
Restructuring and impairment charges 4,761 10,218 2,590 1,181 5,170
In-process research and development 87,600 - — - 12,800
Merger integration charges 6,785 9,238 — — —
Amortization of goodwill 6,347 14,823 — — —
Total operating expenses 568,752 420,086 519,379 667,728 668,678
Earnings/(loss) from operations (176,347) 21,294 (31,727) 7,521 140,360
Other (expense)/income:
Interest income 4,484 2,876 2,322 2,969 3,507
Interest expense (19,405) (22,145) (16,801) (10,590) (20,032)
Impairment of investments — (23,757) (32,200) (3,550) —
Other income (expense), net — 4177 16,676 7,551 (66)
(14,921) (38,849) (30,003) (3,620) (16,591)
Earnings/(loss) before income taxes (191,268) (17,555) (61,730) 3,901 123,769
Provision for/(benefit from) income taxes (53,602) 214 (16,815) 606 41,922
Net earnings/(loss) $ (137,666) $ (17,769) $ (44915) $ 329 $ 81,847
Earnings/(loss) per share:
Basic $ (067) $ (0.08) $  (0.20) $ 0.01 $ 0.34
Diluted $ (0.67) $ (0.08) $ (0.20) $ 0.01 $ 0.33
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:
Basic 206,347 227,173 229,593 230,710 242,469
Diluted 206,347 227,173 229,953 236,449 246,166
Balance sheet data (at end of period):
Cash and cash equivalents $ 52,624 $ 70,365 $ 76121 $ 150,017 $ 217,641
Total assets 2,009,041 1,705,371 1,572,195 1,646,518 1,930,369
Long-term debt, less current portion 201,144 220,521 135,614 99,012 176,087
Total stockholders’ equity 1,092,588 999,115 887,739 920,598 1,072,519
Cash dividends per share® $ 00144 $ 0.0167 $ 0.02 $ 0.02 $ 0.02

() Symbol changed its method of accounting for good will and other intangibles effective January 1, 2002.

@ Adjusted to reflect three-for-two stock splits that became effective on April 16, 2001, April 5, 2000 and June 14, 1999.

ATT-SEC 1.13
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

1.14
MERRIMAC INDUSTRIES, INC. (DEC)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OR PLAN OF OPERATION

Overview

Merrimac Industries, Inc. is involved in the design, manu-
facture and sale of electronic component devices offering
extremely broad frequency coverage and high performance
characteristics, and microstrip, bonded stripline and thick
metal-backed Teflon® (PTFE) and mixed dielectric multilayer
circuits for communications, defense and aerospace appli-
cations. The Company’s operations are conducted primar-
ily through two business segments: (1) electronic compo-
nents and (2) microwave micro-circuitry (its subsidiary, Filtran
Microcircuits Inc.).

The following table provides a breakdown of our sales be-
tween these segments:

2004 2003
% of % of
$ Sales $ Sales
Electronic
components $25,141,000 81.2% $23,962,000 87.7%
Microwave

micro-circuitry  § 5,956,000 19.2% $ 3,709,000 13.6%
Less intersegment
sales $ (148,000) (04)% $ (349,000) (1.3)%

Consolidated $30,949,000 100.0%  $27,322,000 100.0 %

() Substantially all conducted by our Canadian subsidiary, Filtran
Microcircuits Inc.

Merrimac is a versatile technologically oriented company
specializing in miniature radio frequency lumped-element
components, integrated networks, microstrip and stripline
microwave components, subsystems and ferrite attenua-
tors. Of special significance has been the combination of
two or more of these technologies into single components
to achieve superior performance and reliability while mini-
mizing package size and weight. Merrimac components are
today found in applications as diverse as satellites, military
and commercial aircraft, radar, cellular radio systems, med-
ical and dental diagnostic instruments, personal communi-
cations systems (“PCS”) and wireless Internet connectivity.
Merrimac’s components range in price from $0.50 to more
than $10,000 and its subsystems range from $500 to more
than $500,000.

Multi-Mix®

In 1998, Merrimac introduced Multi-Mix® Microtechnology
capabilities, an innovative process for microwave, multilayer
integrated circuits and micro-multifunction module (MMFM)®
technology and subsystems. This process is based on fluo-
ropolymer composite substrates, which are bonded together
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into a multilayer structure using a fusion bonding pro-
cess. The fusion process provides a homogeneous dielectric
medium for superior electrical performance at microwave fre-
quencies. This 3-dimensional Multi-Mix® design consisting
of stacked circuit layers permits the manufacture of com-
ponents and subsystems that are a fraction of the size and
weight of conventional microstrip and stripline products.

Multi-Mix PICOP

In July 2001, Merrimac introduced its Multi-Mix PICO® Mi-
crotechnology. Through Multi-Mix PICO® technology, Mer-
rimac offers a group of products at a greatly reduced size,
weight and cost that includes hybrid junctions, directional
couplers, quadrature hybrids, power dividers and inline cou-
plers, filters and vector modulators along with 802.11a,
802.11b, and 802.11g Wireless LAN (Local Area Network)
modules. When compared to conventional multilayer quadra-
ture hybrids and directional coupler products, Multi-Mix
PICO® is more than 84% smaller in size, without the loss
of power or performance. Merrimac has completed the de-
velopment of integrated inline multi-couplers and is supply-
ing these Multi-Mix PICO® products to major basestation
customers.

Merrimac’s strategy is to be a reliable supplier of high qual-
ity, technically innovative signal processing products. Merri-
mac coordinates its marketing, research and development,
and manufacturing operations to develop new products and
expand its markets. Merrimac’s marketing and development
activities focus on identifying and producing prototypes for
new military and commercial programs and applications in
aerospace, navigational systems, telecommunications and
cellular analog and digital wireless telecommunications elec-
tronics. Merrimac’s research and development efforts are tar-
geted towards providing customers with more complex, re-
liable, and compact products at lower costs.

Merrimac’s customers are primarily major industrial corpo-
rations that integrate Merrimac’s products into a wide variety
of defense and commercial systems. Merrimac’s customers
include:

¢ The Boeing Company
e Raytheon Company
e Northrop Grumman Corporation
¢ Lockheed Martin Corporation
e Loral Space & Communications Ltd.

e Celestica, Inc.

e EADS Astrium

* BAE Systems

o [TT

¢ General Dynamics Corporation

The following table presents our key customers and the
percentage of net sales made to such customers:

2004 2003
Raytheon Company 13.9% 12.3%
Northrop Grumman Corporation 11.9% 12.4%
The Boeing Company 7.8% 16.1%

Sales to the foreign geographic area of Europe were 8.9%,
10.3% and 11.2% of net sales in fiscal years 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively.

ATT-SEC 1.14
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The following table provides a breakdown of the net sales
by customer industry segment and geographic area:

North America Rest of World
$ % $ %
2004
Military and
commercial satellites  $6,947,000 224% $ 459,000 1.5%
Defense $9,093000 32.3% $2,134,000 6.9%
Commercial $9,818,000 31.7% $1,598,000 5.2%
2003
Military and
commercial satellites ~ $6,442,000 23.6% $1,067,000 3.9%
Defense $7,436,000 27.2% $1,620,000 5.9%
Commercial $8,511,000 312% $2,246,000 8.2%

Acquired by Merrimac in February 1999, Filtran Microcircuits
Inc. (“FMT”) is a leading manufacturer of microwave micro-
circuitry for the high frequency communications industry.
FMI produces microstrip, bonded stripline, and thick metal-
backed Teflon® (PTFE) microcircuits for RF applications in-
cluding satellite, aerospace, PCS, fiber optic telecommuni-
cations, automotive, navigational and defense applications
worldwide. FMI participates in the market for millimeter-wave
applications. FMI also supplies mixed dielectric multilayer
and high speed interconnect circuitry to meet customer de-
mand for high performance and cost-effective packaging.
FMVI’s key customers include:

M/A-Com, Inc.

Raytheon Canada Ltd.

Filtronic Broadband Ltd.

Trak Microwave Corporation

Endwave North East Corporation

Communication Technigues Inc.

Signal Technology Corporation

For more information regarding our electronics compo-
nents business and the microwave micro-circuitry business
done by FMI, please see Note 8 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

The Company markets and sells its products domestically
and internationally through a direct sales force and manu-
facturers’ representatives. Merrimac has traditionally devel-
oped and offered for sale products built to specific customer
needs, as well as standard catalog items. The following ta-
ble provides a breakdown of electronic components sales as
derived from initial orders for products custom designed for
specific customer applications, repeat orders for such prod-
ucts and from catalog sales:

2004 2003 2002
Initial designs 21% 35% 35%
Repeat designs 58% 48% 50%
Catalog sales 15% 17% 15%

The Company believes that while its wireless subscriber
base continues to grow, the economic downturn, resulting in
reduced spending by wireless telecommunications service
providers, has caused many wireless telecommunications
equipment manufacturers to delay or forego purchases of the
Company’s products. However, the Company expects that its
defense and satellite customers should continue to maintain
their approximate current levels of orders during fiscal year
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2005, though there are no assurances they will do so. Nev-
ertheless, in times of armed conflict or war, military spending
is concentrated on armaments build up, maintenance and
troop support, and not on the research and development and
specialty applications that are the Company’s core strengths
and revenue generators. Accordingly, our defense and
military product revenues may decrease and should not be
expected to increase, at times of armed conflicts or war. The
Company also anticipates increased levels of orders during
fiscal year 2005 for its Multi-Mix® Microtechnology products,
based on inquiries from existing customers, reguests to
quote from new and existing customers and market research.
The improved telecommunications sector and the continued
efforts to diversify FMI into wireless base stations, auto-
motive and defense applications has resulted in additional
orders for FMI, which the Company anticipates will continue.

Cost of sales for the Company consists of materials,
salaries and related expenses, and outside services for man-
ufacturing and certain engineering personnel and manu-
facturing overhead. Our products are designed and man-
ufactured in the Company’s facilities. The Company’s
manufacturing and production facilities infrastructure over-
head are relatively fixed and are based on its expectations
of future net revenues. Should the Company experience a
reduction in net revenues in a quarter, it could have difficulty
adjusting short-term expenditures and absorbing any excess
capacity expenses. If this were to occur, the Company’s oper-
ating results for that quarter would be negatively impacted. In
order to remain competitive, the Company must continually
reduce its manufacturing costs through design and engineer-
ing innovations and increases in manufacturing efficiencies.
There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to
reduce its manufacturing costs.

Depreciation and amortization expenses exceeded cap-
ital expenditures for new projects and production equip-
ment during 2004 by approximately $1,500,000, and the
Company anticipates that depreciation and amortization ex-
penses will exceed capital expenditures in fiscal year 2005
by approximately $800,000. The Company intends to issue
up to $1,900,000 of purchase order commitments for capital
equipment from various vendors. The Company anticipates
that such equipment will be purchased and become opera-
tional during fiscal year 2005.

Selling, general and administrative expenses consist of
personnel costs for administrative, selling and marketing
groups, sales commissions to employees and manufactur-
ing representatives, travel, product marketing and promo-
tion costs, as well as legal, accounting, information technol-
ogy and other administrative costs. The Company expects
to continue to make significant and increasing expenditures
for selling, general and administrative expenses, especially
in connection with implementation of its strategic plan for
generating and expanding sales of Multi-Mix® products.

Research and development expenses consist of mate-
rials, salaries and related expenses of certain engineering
personnel, and outside services related to product develop-
ment projects. The Company charges all research and devel-
opment expenses to operations as incurred. The Company
believes that continued investment in research and develop-
ment is critical to the Company’s long-term business suc-
cess. We intend to continue to invest in research and devel-
opment programs in future periods, and expect that these
costs will increase over time, in order to develop new prod-
ucts, enhance performance of existing products and reduce
the cost of current or new products.
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Critical Accounting Estimates and Policies

The Company’s management makes certain assumptions
and estimates that impact the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities and stockholders’ equity, and revenues and ex-
penses. These assumptions and estimates are inherently
uncertain. The management judgments that are currently
the most critical are related to the accounting for the Com-
pany’s investments in Multi-Mix® Microtechnology, contract
revenue recognition, inventory valuation, valuation of good-
will and valuation of deferred tax assets. Below we describe
these policies further as well as the estimates and policies
involved.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The following is a summary of the carrying amounts of the
Multi-Mix® Microtechnology net assets included in the Com-
pany’s consolidated financial statements at January 1, 2005
and the related future planned purchases and lease obliga-
tion commitments through January 2006.

Net assets:
Property, plant and equipment, at cost $14,265,000
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 5,392,000
Property, plant and equipment, net 8,873,000
Inventories 585,000
Other assets, net 263,000
Total net assets at January 1, 2005 $ 9,721,000
Commitments:
Planned equipment purchases for 2005 $ 700,000
Lease obligations through January 2006 325,000
Total commitments $ 1,025,000
Total net assets and commitments $10,746,000

Approximately 32% of the property, plant and equipment
may be utilized in other areas of our electronic components
operations.

The Company anticipates receiving additional orders dur-
ing 2005 for its Multi-Mix® Microtechnology products, based
on inquiries from existing customers, requests to quote from
new and existing customers and market research, for which
substantial research and development costs have also been
incurred. Due to economic and market conditions in the
wireless industry since 2000, wireless telecommunications
system service providers substantially reduced their capi-
tal equipment purchases from our customers. While these
circumstances have resulted in the delay or cancellation
of Multi-Mix® Microtechnology product purchases that had
been anticipated from certain specific customers or pro-
grams, in connection with the improved conditions in the
industry, the Company has implemented a strategic plan uti-
lizing product knowledge and customer focus to expand spe-
cific sales opportunities. However, continued extended delay
or reduction from planned levels in new orders expected from
customers for these products could require the Company to
pursue alternatives related to the utilization or realization of
these assets and commitments. Should these alternatives
not be realized, the Company would have to write down the
value of these assets, thereby incurring an impairment charge
to earnings, the net result of which would be materially ad-
verse to the financial results and condition of the Company.
In accordance with the Company’s evaluation of Multi-Mix®
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under SFAS No. 144, the Company has determined no pro-
vision for impairment is required at this time. Management
will continue to monitor the recoverability of the Multi-Mix®
assets.

The Company’s planned equipment purchases and other
commitments are expected to be funded through cash re-
sources and cash flows that are expected to be provided
by operations, and supplemented by a $5,000,000 revolving
credit facility, which expires October 8, 2006.

Contract Revenue Recognition

Contract revenue and related costs on fixed-price and
cost-reimbursement contracts that require customization of
products to customer specifications are recorded when title
transfers to the customer, which is generally on the date of
shipment. Prior to shipment, manufacturing costs incurred
on such contracts are recorded as work-in-process inven-
tory. Anticipated losses on contracts are charged to opera-
tions when identified. Revenue related to non-recurring en-
gineering charges is generally recognized upon shipment of
the related initial units produced or based upon contractually
established stages of completion. The cost rates utilized for
cost-reimbursement contracts are subject to review by third
parties and can be revised, which can result in additions to
or reductions from revenue. Revisions which result in reduc-
tions to revenue are recognized in the period that the rates are
reviewed and finalized; additions to revenue are recognized
in the period that the rates are reviewed, finalized, accepted
by the customer, and collectability from the customer is as-
sured. The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with
the provisions of Staff Accounting Builetin No. 104.

Inventory Valuation

Inventories are valued at the lower of average cost or mar-
ket. Inventories are periodically reviewed for their projected
manufacturing usage utilization and, when slow-moving or
obsolete inventories are identified, a provision for a poten-
tial loss is made and charged to operations. Total inventories
are net of valuation allowances for obsolescence and cost
overruns of $1,942,000 at January 1, 2005 and $1,787,000
at January 3, 2004, of which $901,000 and $747,000, respec-
tively, represented cost overruns.

Procurement of inventory is based on specific customer
orders and forecasts. Customers have certain rights of mod-
ification with respect to these orders and forecasts. As a re-
sult, customer modifications to orders and forecasts affect-
ing inventory previously procured by us and our purchases of
inventory beyond customer needs may result in excess and
obsolete inventory for the related customers. Although we
may be able to use some of these excess components and
raw materials in other products we manufacture, a portion
of the cost of this excess inventory may not be recoverable
from customers, nor may any excess quantities be returned
to the vendors. We also may not be able to recover the cost
of obsolete inventory from vendors or customers.

Write offs or write downs of inventory generally arise from:

¢ declines in the market value of inventory; and

* changes in customer demand for inventory, such as

cancellation of orders and our purchases of inventory
beyond customer needs that result in excess quantities
on hand and that we are not able to return to the vendor
or charge back to the customer.

ATT-SEC 1.14
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Valuation of Gooawill

With the adoption of SFAS No. 142 by the Company on
December 30, 2001, goodwill is no longer subject to amor-
tization over its estimated useful life. However, goodwill is
subject to at least an annual assessment for impairment and
more frequently if circumstances indicate a possible impair-
ment. The Company performed the annual assessment dur-
ing the fourth quarter of 2004 and determined there was no
impairment.

Valuation of Deferred Tax Assets

The Company currently has significant deferred tax assets
resulting from net operating loss carryforwards, tax credit
carryforwards and deductible temporary differences, which
should reduce taxable income in future periods. A valuation
allowance is required when it is more likely than not that all
or a portion of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. The
Company’s 2002 and 2003 net losses weighed heavily in the
Company’s overall assessment. As a result of the assess-
ment, the Company established a full valuation allowance
for its remaining net domestic deferred tax assets at Decem-
ber 28, 2002. This assessment continued unchanged in fiscal
years 2003 and 2004. Management believes that a valuation
allowance is not required for FMI's deferred tax assets as
their realization is more likely than not.

Consolidated Statements of Operations Summary

The following table displays line items in, the Consolidated
Statements of Operations as a percentage of net sales.

Percentage of Net Sales
(Unaudited)
2005 2004 2002
Net sales 100.0% 100.0%  100.0%
Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales 58.3 61.3 57.4
Selling, general and administrative 31.7 34.9 36.4
Research and development 5.6 6.4 11.1
Restructuring charges — 6 21
95.6 103.2 107.0
Operating income (loss) 44 (3.2) (7.0)
Interest and other expense, net (0.8) (1.0) (.7)
Gain on disposition of assets — 4 —
Income (loss) before income taxes 3.6 (3.8) (7.7)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes (.3) (4) 1.0
Net income (loss) 3.9% (3.4%) (8.7%)
2004 Compared to 2003
Net Sales

Consolidated results of operations for 2004 reflect an in-
crease in net sales from 2003 of $3,627,000 or 13.3% to
$30,949,000. This increase was attributable to a $1,179,000
increase in net sales of electronic components and a
$2,247,000 increase in sales of microwave micro-circuitry
products from the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary
Filtran Microcircuits Inc. (“FMI”). The increase in net sales for
the electronic components segment for 2004 is attributable
to improved orders in 2004 from existing satellite and defense
customers and a higher backlog at the beginning of 2004
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as compared to the beginning of 2003; the higher backlog
reflected new orders from existing customers in the Com-
pany’s defense business. The Company expects that its de-
fense and satellite customers should continue to maintain
their approximate current levels of orders during fiscal year
2005, though there are no assurances they will do so. Nev-
ertheless, in times of armed conflict or war, military spending
is concentrated on armaments build up, maintenance and
troop support, and not on the research and development and
specialty applications that are the Company’s core strengths
and revenue generators. The Company also anticipates in-
creased levels of orders during fiscal year 2005 for its Multi-
Mix® Microtechnology products, based on inquiries from ex-
isting customers, requests to quote from new and existing
customers and market research. The increase in sales of the
microwave micro-circuitry segment for 2004 was due to new
orders from both existing and new customers due to the con-
tinued efforts to diversify FMI into wireless base stations, au-
tomotive and defense applications. FMI anticipates much of
this new order volume to renew in future periods.

Backlog represents the amount of orders the Company has
received that have not been shipped as of the end of a par-
ticular fiscal period. The orders in backlog are a measure of
future sales and determine the Company’s upcoming mate-
rial, labor and service requirements. The book-to-bill ratio for
a particular period represents orders received for that period
divided by net sales for the same period. The Company looks
for this ratio to exceed 1.0, indicating the backlog is being
replenished at a higher rate than the sales being removed
from the backlog.

The following table presents key performance measures
that we use to monitor our operating results:

2004 2003
Beginning backlog $12,395,000 $10,044,000
Plus bookings $31,499,000 $29,673,000
Less net sales $30,949,000 $27,322,000
Ending backlog $12,945,000 $12,395,000
Book-to-bill ratio 1.02 1.09

Orders of $31,499,000 were received for 2004, an increase
of $1,826,000 or 6.2% compared to $29,673,000 in or-
ders received for 2003. Backlog increased by $550,000 to
$12,945,000 at the end of 2004 compared to $12,395,000 at
year-end 2003.
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Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

The following table provides comparative gross profit infor-
mation, by product segment, for the past two years.

Increase/
(Decrease) % of
From Prior ~ Segment
$ Year  Net Sales
2004
Electronic components
gross profit $11,341,000  $1,841,000 45.1%
Microwave micro-circuitry
gross profit $ 1,569,000 $ 492,000 26.3%
Consolidated gross profit $12,910,000  $2,333,000 41.7%
2003
Electronic components
gross profit $ 9,500,000 $ 604,000 39.6%
Microwave micro-circuitry
gross profit $ 1,077,000 $ (493,000) 29.0%
Consolidated gross profit $10,577,000 $ 111,000 38.7%

The increases in gross profit for 2004 for the electronic com-
ponents segment were due to the overall increase in segment
sales along with savings resulting from the increased utiliza-
tion of the Company’s West Caldwell, New Jersey and Costa
Rica manufacturing production facilities, better product mix
and the benefits of the cost containment and restructuring
programs instituted during 2003. Cost of sales for the elec-
tronic components segment also reflects increased staffing
to meet production requirements and a reduction of interseg-
ment purchases from FMI of $201,000 for 2004.

Depreciation expense included in 2004 consolidated cost
of sales was $2,965,000, an increase of $187,000 compared
t0 2003. For 2004, approximately $1,593,000 of depreciation
expense was associated with Muiti-Mix® Microtechnology
capital assets. Increases in depreciation expense were a re-
sult of capital equipment purchases in the current and prior
years.

FMI sales include intersegment sales of $148,000 and
$349,000 in 2004 and 2003, respectively. The decrease in
gross margin percent for 2004 is due to higher material and
overhead costs, including additional overtime, related to the
new defense orders booked in 2004. During the second half
of 2004, gross profit margin at FMI was negatively impacted
by the weakness of the U.S. dollar against the Canadian dol-
lar. The higher material and overtime costs for such defense
orders are not expected to continue into future periods, but
certain additional overhead costs may affect future results.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses of $9,820,000
for 2004 increased by $284,000 or 3.0%, and when ex-
pressed as a percentage of net sales, decreased by 3.2 per-
centage points to 31.7% compared to 2003. 2003 selling,
general and administrative expenses included expenses as-
sociated with bank modification agreements entered into
during the second quarter and additional professional fees
that were incurred totaling approximately $400,000. The
2004 selling, general and administrative expenses increased
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due to higher marketing and administrative costs, including
higher professional fees for Sarbanes-Oxley assessments.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses for new products were
$1,723,000 for 2004, a decrease of $14,000 or 0.9% and
when expressed as a percentage of net sales, a decrease of
0.8 percentage points to 5.6% compared to 2003. Except for
$198,000 of expenses at FMI {an increase of $36,000 from
such FMI expenses in 2003) substantially all of the research
and development expenses were related to Multi-Mix® Mi-
crotechnology and Multi-Mix PICO® products. The Company
anticipates that these expenses will increase in future peri-
ods in connection with implementation of our strategic plan
for Multi-Mix®.

Operating Income

Consolidated operating income for 2004 was $1,367,000
compared to a consolidated operating loss of $856,000 for
2003. Operating income for 2004 was reduced by $150,000
for employee incentive compensation payments and by
$75,000 for a profit-sharing contribution to the Company’s
401(k) Plan. During 2003 the Company reduced its head
count by 14 persons, principally involved in production,
manufacturing support, sales and administration. The Com-
pany recorded personnel restructuring charges of $160,000,
consisting of severance and certain other personnel costs
during 2003.

For 2004, the Company’s operating income for its elec-
tronic component segment was $1,178,000 compared to
an operating loss of $860,000 for 2003. For 2004, operat-
ing income for the microwave micro-circuitry segment was
$189,000 compared to operating income of $4,000 for 2003.

Interest and Other Expense, Net

Interest and other expense, net was $265,000 for 2004 com-
pared to interest and other expense, net of $271,000 for 2003.
Interest expense for 2004 was principally incurred on borrow-
ings under the revolving line of credit and term loans which
the Company consummated during the fourth quarter of 2003
at higher interest rates than the previous facility. Interest ex-
pense for 2003 was principally incurred on borrowings under
the mortgage loan and the term loan facility with its prior
bank that was entered into during fiscal year 2002. The re-
duction of interest and other expense was due to lower out-
standing debt balances during 2004 as the Company repaid
$1,491,000 throughout 2004.

Income Taxes

The Company’s effective tax rate for the year ended
January 1, 2005 reflects U.S. Federal Alternative Minimum
Tax and State income taxes for the current year in the amount
of $122,000 that are due based on certain statutory limita-
tions on the use of the Company’s net operating loss carryfor-
wards. Tax benefits were recorded in the amount of $218,000
and $109,000 in 2004 and 20083, respectively, primarily as-
sociated with FMI’s research and development expenses in-
curred in Canada.

Internal Revenue Service Code Section 382 places a lim-
itation on the utilization of net operating loss carryforwards
when an ownership change, as defined in the tax law, occurs.
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Generally, an ownership change occurs when there is a
greater than 50 percent change in ownership. If such change
should occur, the actual utilization of net operating loss car-
ryforwards, for tax purposes, would be limited annually to a
percentage of the fair market value of the Company at the
time of such change. Although management believes these
limitations did not impact 2004, the limitation could be trig-
gered during 2005.

Net Income

Net income for 2004 was $1,198,000 compared to a net loss
of $914,000 for 2003. Net income per diluted share for 2004
was $.38 compared to a net loss of $.29 per share for 2003.

2003 Compared to 2002

Net Sales

Consolidated results of operations for 2003 reflect an in-
crease in net sales from the prior year of $2,752,000 or 11.2%
to $27,322,000. This increase was primarily attributable to
a $2,548,000 increase in the electronic components seg-
ment attributable to improved orders in the Company’s de-
fense and satellite business offset by a decrease in net
sales of microwave micro-circuitry products of $257,000 of
the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary Filtran Microcircuits
Inc. (“FMI”). The decrease in 2003 FMI sales was due to con-
tinued softness in the telecommunications sector that FMI
sarves, principally millimeter-wave applications for wireless
broadband solutions.

Orders of $29,673,000 were received during 2003, an in-
crease of $6,916,000 or 30.4%, compared to $22,757,000 in
orders received during 2002. As a result, backlog increased
by $2,351,000 or 23.4% to $12,395,000 at the end of 2003,
compared to $10,044,000 at year-end 2002.

The Company believes that the current economic down-
turn, resulting in reduced spending by wireless service
providers, has caused many wireless companies to delay or
forego certain purchases of the Company’s products and this
trend is expected to continue in the near term. However, the
Company expects that its satellite and defense customers
should continue to maintain their approximate current levels
of orders during 2004, although there are no assurances they
will do so. The Company also anticipates increasing levels of
orders during 2004 and for fiscal year 2005 for its Multi-Mix®
Microtechnology products, for which the Company has made
a significant capital investment and incurred substantial re-
search and development costs. The Company expects that
previous weaknesses in the telecommunications sector that
FMI serves will improve in 2004.

Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

Consolidated cost of sales increased $2,641,000 or 18.7%,
and as a percentage of net sales increased 3.9 percent-
age points to 61.3%, for 2003. Cost of sales increased
$1,943,000 (which includes lower intersegment purchases
from FMI of $461,000) for 2003 in the electronic components
segment, resulting from additional production costs above
anticipated costs, competitive pricing, and higher manufac-
turing costs that were attributable to increases in deprecia-
tion and other occupancy expenses related to the expansion
of the Company’s West Caldwell, New Jersey and Costa Rica
manufacturing production facilities. Cost of sales increased
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$237,000 during 2003 in the microwave micro-circuitry seg-
ment, due to higher material and labor costs.

Depreciation expense included in 2003 consolidated cost
of sales was $2,778,000, an increase of $531,000 compared
to 2002. For 2003, approximately $1,650,000 of deprecia-
tion expense was associated with Multi-Mix® Microtechnol-
ogy capital assets. Other increases in depreciation expense
were a result of capital equipment purchases in the current
and prior years and the commencement of depreciation ex-
pense associated with the West Caldwell, New Jersey 19,200
square-foot building expansion, which was placed into ser-
vice during the first quarter of 2002, During the third quarter
of 2002, depreciation and amortization expense commenced
on the recently completed 36,200 square-foot Multi-Mix®
manufacturing facility in San Jose, Costa Rica.

Consolidated gross profit for 2003 was impacted by the
items referred to in the above discussion of consolidated
cost of sales and depreciation expense. Consolidated gross
profit for 2003 was $10,577,000 or 38.7% of net sales com-
pared to consolidated gross profit of $10,466,000 or 42.6%
of net sales for 2002. Gross profit for 2003 for the electronic
components segment increased by $604,000 or 6.8% to
$9,500,000, which represented 39.6% of segment net sales
of $23,962,000, compared to a gross profit of $8,896,000
or 41.5% of segment net sales of $21,415,000 in 2002.
Gross profit for 2003 included revenue of $226,000 related
to the settlement of rate increases on prior year contract
costs. Gross profit for 2003 for the microwave micro-circuitry
segment decreased by $494,000 to $1,076,000 which repre-
sented 29.0% of segment net sales of $3,709,000, compared
to $1,570,000 or 39.6% of segment net sales of $3,966,000
in 2002. FMI sales include intersegment sales of $349,000
and $810,000 in 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Selling General and Administrative Expenses

Consolidated selling, general and administrative expenses
of $9,536,000 for 2003 increased by $586,000 or 6.6%, and
when expressed as a percentage of net sales, decreased
by 1.5 percentage points to 34.9% compared to 2002. The
dollar increases were primarily due to the $400,000 of ad-
ditional fees and costs (including accelerated amortization
of deferred financing costs) incurred related to the amend-
ment of the Company’s prior bank facilities incurred in the
second quarter of 2003, and the higher commissions, sell-
ing and other professional fee costs incurred throughout
2003.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses for new products were
$1,737,000 for 2003, a planned decrease of $992,000 or
36.4% compared to 2002. Except for $163,000 of research
and development expenses at FMI, a decrease of $325,000
from 2002 levels, substantially all of the research and devel-
opment expenses were related to Multi-Mix® Microtechnol-
ogy and Multi-Mix PICO® products.

Restructuring Charges

During 2003 the Company reduced its headcount by 14
persons, principally involved in production, manufacturing
support, sales and administration. The Company recorded
personnel restructuring charges aggregating $160,000,
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consisting of severance and certain other personnel costs
during the last three quarters of 2003. As a result of a decline
in orders received from its customers during 2002, the Com-
pany reduced head count by 28 persons, principally involved
in production, manufacturing support and sales. The Com-
pany recorded personnel restructuring charges of $240,000
and $270,000 consisting of severance and certain other per-
sonnel costs, during the second and fourth quarters of 2002
which increased the Company’s net loss by $510,000.

Operating Loss

Consolidated operating loss for 2003 was $856,000. Oper-
ating loss for the electronic components segment for 2003
was $860,000, which included the effect of charges associ-
ated with the personnel restructuring charges of $160,000 in
the last three quarters of 2003. In the fourth quarter of 2003,
$210,000 of income resulted from revenue related to the set-
tlement of rate increases on prior year contract costs. Oper-
ating loss for the electronic components segment for 2002
was $1,792,000 after the $468,000 personnel restructuring
charges in the second and fourth quarters of 2002. Operat-
ing income for the microwave micro-circuitry segment was
$4,000 in 2003 compared to operating income of $70,000 for
2002, after inclusion of the $42,000 second quarter person-
nel restructuring charge.

Interest and Other Expense, Net

Net interest expense was $271,000 for 2003, which com-
pares to net interest expense of $176,000 for 2002. Interest
expense for 2003 was principally incurred on borrowings un-
der mortgage and term loans taken out during fiscal year
2002 and the revolving line of credit, and term loans which
the Company refinanced during the fourth quarter of 2003 at
higher interest rates. Interest expense for 2002 was princi-
pally incurred on borrowings under a revolving credit facility
and mortgage loan in connection with capital equipment pur-
chases and the building expansion constructed during fiscal
year 2001.

Income Taxes

An income tax benefit of $109,000 was recorded for 2003,
with an effective tax rate of (10.7%), compared to an income
tax provision of $237,000 that was recorded for 2002 re-
lated to recording a partial income tax benefit of $282,000
on the 2002 operating loss and tax credits of $132,000 asso-
ciated with research and development expenditures offset by
the impact of providing a $645,000 net valuation allowance
against domestic net deferred tax assets. The 2003 tax ben-
efit recorded represents deferred tax benefits associated
with FMI’s research and development expenses incurred in
Canada. No domestic tax benefits have been recorded in
2003.

Due to the uncertainties related to, among other things,
the extent and timing of its future taxable income, the Com-
pany increased its domestic deferred tax asset valuation al-
lowance by $1,050,000 to $1,350,000 in fiscal year 2002. The
Company increased its domestic deferred tax asset valuation
allowance by $496,000 to $1,846,000 in fiscal year 2003. The
Company’s domestic net deferred tax assets have been fully
reserved as of January 3, 2004.
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Gooawill

During the year ended December 28, 2002, the Company
completed the first of the impairment tests of goodwill
required under SFAS No. 142, which was adopted effective
December 30, 2001. Under these rules, goodwill is no longer
subject to amortization but is reviewed for potential impair-
ment annually or upon the occurrence of an impairment in-
dicator. Goodwill of approximately $3,100,000, which arose
from the acquisition of FMI in 1999, was previously being
amortized on a straight-line basis over twenty years.

Net Loss

The Company recorded a net loss for 2003 of $914,000 com-
pared to a net loss of $2,135,000 for 2002. On a per share
basis, the Company recorded a net loss of $.29 per share for
2008 compared to a net loss of $.69 per share for 2002.

The weighted average number of basic shares outstanding
increased by approximately 47,000 shares or 1.5% for 2003
compared to 2002. The increase in shares outstanding was
primarily due to the issuance of 528,413 shares to DuPont
Electronic Technologies during the first quarter of 2002 partly
offset by the repurchase of 82,100 shares of stock during the
second half of 2002.

Ligquidity and Capital Resources

The Company had liquid resources comprised of cash and
cash equivalents totaling approximately $2,100,000 at the
end of 2004 compared to approximately $450,000 at the end
of 2003. The Company’s working capital was approximately
$8,500,000 and its current ratio was 2.9 to 1 at the end of
2004 compared to $6,800,000 and 2.6 to 1, respectively, at
the end of 2003. At January 1, 2005 the Company had avail-
able borrowing capacity under its revolving line of credit of
$4,200,000.

The Company’s planned equipment purchases and other
commitments are expected to be funded through cash re-
sources and cash flows that are expected to be provided
by operations, and supplemented by a $5,000,000 revolving
credit facility, which expires October 8, 2006.

The Company’s operating activities provided net positive
cash flows of $4,788,000 during 2004 compared to positive
cash flows of $1,093,000 during 2003. The primary sources
of operating cash flows were net income of $1,198,000
which was reduced by depreciation and amortization of
$3,210,000, a reduction in inventories of $268,000, and an
aggregate increase in accounts payable and accrued liabil-
ities of $479,000 partly offset by a reduction of customer
deposits of $156,000 and an increase in accounts receivable
of $118,000 and other current assets of $96,000.

The Company made net capital investments in property,
plant and equipment of $1,715,000 during 2004, compared
to net capital investments made in property, plant and equip-
ment of $1,097,000 during 2003. These capital expenditures
are related to new production and test equipment capabili-
ties in connection with the introduction of new products and
enhancements to existing products. The depreciated cost
of capital equipment associated with Multi-Mix® Microtech-
nology was $8,873,000 at the end of 2004, a decrease of
$1,191,000 compared to $10,064,000 at the end of fiscal
year 2003.
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On April 17, 2003, the Company and its prior bank en-
tered into bank modification agreements, that waived com-
pliance with certain covenants and further amended the ap-
plicable terms of the agreements and covenants to reduce
total availability and change maturity dates of the facility.
The loan agreements contained a material adverse change
clause, under which its prior Bank, in its good faith opinion,
could determine that the Company was in default under the
agreements. The Company believed that this clause was a
Subjective Acceleration Clause as indicated in EITF 95-22,
and, based upon the Company’s assessment under those
guidelines, among other factors, had classified the amounts
as a current liability at December 28, 2002.

On October 8, 2003, the Company completed the refinanc-
ing of its revolving credit and term loan obligations with a new
credit facility provided by The CIT Group/Business Credit,
Inc. (“CIT”) that provides for a three-year secured revolving
credit, term loan and letter of credit facility for $9,250,000.
All obligations due to its prior bank were repaid from the
proceeds of such refinancing. The new revolving credit facil-
ity combined with the expected cash flows from operations
should be sufficient to meet the Company’s current obliga-
tions and to fund its currently contemplated operations dur-
ing the next twelve months.

The financing agreement with CIT consists of a $5,000,000
revolving line of credit, that is temporarily reduced by
$250,000 until certain conditions are met; a $1,500,000 ma-
chinery and equipment term loan (“Term Loan A”) and a
$2,750,000 real estate term loan (“Term Loan B”). In con-
nection with this financing agreement, the Company was
required to place, over the life of the loan, $1,500,000 as
restricted cash with CIT. The revolving line of credit is sub-
ject to an availability limit under a borrowing base calculation
(85% of eligible accounts receivable as defined in the financ-
ing agreement plus 100% of the $1,500,000 restricted cash).
At January 1, 2005, the Company had available borrowing
capacity under its revolving line of credit of $4,200,000. The
revolving line of credit bears interest at the prime rate plus 1/2
percent (currently 6.25%). The principal amount of Term Loan
A is payable in 60 equal monthly installments of $25,000 and
bears interest at the prime rate plus one percent (currently
6.75%). The principal amount of Term Loan B is payable in
84 equal monthly installments of $32,738 and bears inter-
est at the prime rate plus one percent (currently 6.75%). At
January 1, 2005, the Company, under the terms of its agree-
ment with CIT, elected to convert $900,000 of Term Loan A
and $2,100,000 of Term Loan B from their prime rate base
to LIBOR-based interest rate loans. The current LIBOR in-
terest rate options were renewed on October 12, 2004 for
six months at an interest rate of 5.49%. The current LIBOR
interest rate options will expire April 11, 2005. The revolving
line of credit and the term loans are secured by substantially
all of the Company’s assets located within the United States
and the pledge of 65% of the stock of the Company’s sub-
sidiaries located in Costa Rica and Canada. The provisions
of the financing agreement require the Company to maintain
certain financial and other covenants. The Company was in
compliance with these covenants at January 1, 2005.
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The Company’s contractual obligations as of January 1,
2005 are as follows:

Payment due by period (in thousands)

Less More

Contractual Than 1-3 3-5 Than

Obligations Total 1Year Years  Years 5Years
Long-term debt

obligations $3683 $ 905 §1,523 $961 $294
Operating lease

obligations 554 445 98 11 —

Total $4237  $1,350  $1,621 $972 $294

Depreciation and amortization expenses exceeded capi-
tal expenditures for new projects and production equip-
ment during 2004 by approximately $1,500,000, and the
Company anticipates that depreciation and amortization ex-
penses will exceed capital expenditures in fiscal year 2005
by approximately $800,000. The Company intends to issue
up to $1,900,000 of purchase order commitments for capital
equipment from various vendors. The Company anticipates
that such equipment will be purchased and become opera-
tional during fiscal year 2005.

On March 31, 2003, the Company relinquished the balance
of the space in its previous Costa Rica facility to its cus-
tomer. The completion of this transaction resulted in a gain
of $71,000 during the second quarter of 2003. The Company
reduced its facility occupancy expenses by approximately
$22,000 and $87,000 in 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Related Party Transactions

In May 1998, the Company sold 22,000 shares of Common
Stock to Mason N. Carter, Chairman, President and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, at a price of $11.60 per
share, which approximated the average closing price of the
Company’s Common Stock during the first quarter of 1998.
The Company lent Mr. Carter $255,000 in connection with
the purchase of these shares and combined that loan with
a prior loan to Mr. Carter in the amount of $105,000. The
resulting total principal amount of $360,000 was payable May
4, 2003 and bore interest at a variable interest rate based on
the prime rate. This loan was further amended on July 29,
2002. Accrued interest of $40,000 was added to the principal,
bringing the new principal amount of the loan to $400,000,
the due date was extended to May 4, 2006, and interest (at
the same rate as was previously applicable) is now payable
monthly. Mr. Carter has pledged 33,000 shares of Common
Stock as security for this loan, which is a full-recourse loan.

On August 31, 2000, in connection with an amendment of
Mr. Carter’s employment agreement, the Company loaned
Mr. Carter an additional $280,000. Interest on the loan varies
and is based on the prime rate, payable in accordance with
Mr. Carter’s employment agreement. Each year the Company
is required to forgive 20% of the amount due under this loan
and the accrued interest thereon. During 2004, the Company
forgave $56,000 of principal and $4,500 of accrued inter-
est and paid a tax gross-up benefit of $6,100. During 2003,
the Company forgave $56,000 of principal and $7,000 of ac-
crued interest and paid $8,300 for a tax gross-up benefit.
During 2002, the Company forgave $56,000 of principal and
$12,000 of accrued interest and paid a tax gross-up benefit
of $10,700. The Company estimates that $56,000 of principal
and $3,000 of accrued interest will be forgiven in 2005.
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During fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively,
the Company’s General Counsel, KMZ Rosenman, was paid
$288,000, $359,000 and $372,000 for providing legal ser-
vices to the Company. A director of the Company is Counsel
to the firm of KMZ Rosenman but does not share in any fees
paid by the Company to the law firm.

During fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company
retained Career Consultants, Inc. and SK Associates to per-
form executive searches and to provide other services to
the Company. The Company paid an aggregate of $8,000,
$40,000 and $24,000 to these companies during 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively. A director of the Company is the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of each of these com-
panies.

During fiscal years 2003 and 2002, respectively, a director
of the Company was paid $12,000 and $36,000 for providing
financial-related consulting services to the Company. This
agreement terminated in April 2003.

During each of fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, a director
of the Company was paid $36,000 for providing technology-
related consulting services to the Company.

During fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively,
DuPont Electronic Technologies (“DuPont”), a stockholder,
was paid $84,000, $109,000 and $36,000 for providing tech-
nological and marketing related personnel and services on a
cost-sharing basis to the Company. A director of the Com-
pany is an officer of DuPont, but does not share in any of
these payments. )

Each director who is not an employee of the Company
receives a monthly director’s fee of $1,500, plus an addi-
tional $500 for each meeting of the Board and of any Com-
mittees of the Board attended. In addition, the Chair of the
Audit Committee receives an annual fee of $2,500 for his
services in such capacity. The directors are also reimbursed
for reasonable travel expenses incurred in attending Board
and Committee meetings. In addition, pursuant to the 2001
Stock Option Plan, each non-employee director is granted
an immediately exercisable option to purchase 2,500 shares
of the Common Stock of the Company on the date of each
Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Each such option has an
exercise price equal to the fair market value on the date of
such grant and will expire on the tenth anniversary of the date
of the grant. On June 17, 2004, non-qualified stock options
to purchase an aggregate of 20,000 shares were issued to
eight directors at an exercise price of $9.01 per share.

On February 28, 2002, the Company sold to DuPont
528,413 shares of Common Stock, representing approxi-
mately 16.6% of the Company’s outstanding Common Stock
after giving effect to the sale, for an aggregate purchase price
of $5,284,000. The Company and DuPont have also agreed
to work together to better understand the dynamics of the
markets for high-frequency electronic components and mod-
ules. David B. Miller, Vice President and General Manager of
DuPont, was appointed to the Company’s Board of Directors.

On December 13, 2004 Infineon Technologies AG (“Infi-
neon”), at such time a 15.2% holder of the Company’s com-
mon stock, sold 475,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock to four purchasers in a privately-negotiated transac-
tion. Two purchasers in such transaction, K Holdings LLC
and Hampshire Investments, Limited, each of which is affili-
ated with Ludwig G. Kuttner, purchased shares representing
an aggregate of approximately 9.6% of the Company’s com-
mon stock. Infineon also assigned to each purchaser certain
registration rights to such shares under the existing regis-
tration rights agreements Infineon had with the Company.
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In connection with the transaction, the Company and Infi-
neon terminated the Stock Purchase and Exclusivity Letter
Agreement dated April 7, 2000, as amended, which provided
that the Company would design, develop and produce ex-
clusively for Infineon certain Multi-Mix® products that incor-
porate active RF power transistors for use in certain wireless
base station applications, television transmitters and certain
other applications that are intended for Bluetooth tranceivers.

DuPont and the four purchasers above hold registration
rights which currently give them the right to register an
aggregate of 1,003,413 shares of Common Stock of the
Company.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2004, SFAS No. 151, “Inventory Costs (An
amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4),” was issued. SFAS
No. 151 amends Accounting Research Bulletin (“ARB”)
No. 43, Chapter 4, to clarify that abnormal amounts of idle
facility expense, freight, handling costs and wasted materials
(spoilage) should be recognized as current-period charges.
In addition, SFAS No. 151 requires that allocation of fixed
production overhead to inventory be based on normal ca-
pacity of the production facilities. SFAS No. 151 is effective
for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning af-
ter June 15, 2005. The Company is currently evaluating the
impact that SFAS No. 151 will have on its financial position
and results of operations.

In December 2004, SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Pay-
ment,” a revision of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation,” was issued. SFAS No. 123R replaces
existing requirements of SFAS No. 123 and APB Opinion
No. 25 “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, and re-
quires public companies to recognize the cost of employee
services received in exchange for equity instruments, with
limited exceptions. SFAS No. 123R also affects the pattern
in which compensation cost is recognized, the accounting for
employee share purchase plans, and the accounting for in-
come tax effects of share-based payment transactions. SFAS
No. 123R will be effective for interim periods beginning after
June 15, 2005. The Company is currently evaluating the ef-
fect that SFAS No. 123R will have on its financial position and
results of operations, but does not believe that the adoption
of SFAS No. 123R will have a material impact on its financial
position and results of operations.

The FASB has proposed FASB Staff Position No. 109-a,
“Application of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for In-
come Taxes, for the Tax Deduction Provided to U.S. Based
Manufacturers by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004.”
On October 22, 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act of
2004 was signed into law by the President. This Act includes
tax relief for domestic manufacturers by providing a tax de-
duction for up to 9 percent (when fully phased in) of the lesser
of (a) “qualified production activities income,” or (b) taxable
income (after the deduction for the utilization of any net op-
erating loss carryforwards). As a result of this Act, an issue
has arisen as to whether this deduction should be accounted
for as a special deduction or a tax rate reduction under SFAS
No. 109. The FASB staff believes that the domestic manu-
facturing deduction is based on the future performance of
specific activities, including the level of wages. Accordingly,
the FASB staff believes that the deduction provided for un-
der the Act should be accounted for as a special deduction
in accordance with SFAS No. 109 and not as a tax rate re-
duction. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that
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this provision will have on its financial position and results of
operations.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report contains statements relating to future
results of the Company (including certain projections and
business trends) that are “forward-looking statements” as
defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. Actual results may differ materially from those pro-
jected as a result of certain risks and uncertainties. These
risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to: risks
associated with demand for and market acceptance of ex-
isting and newly developed products as to which the Com-
pany has made significant investments, particularly its Multi-
Mix® products; general economic and industry conditions;
the possibilities of impairment charges to the carrying value
of our Multi-Mix® assets, thereby resulting in charges to our
earings; slower than anticipated penetration into the satellite
communications, defense and wireless markets; the risk that
the benefits expected from the Company’s acquisition of Fil-
tran Microcircuits Inc. are not realized; the ability to protect
proprietary information and technology; competitive prod-
ucts and pricing pressures; failure of our Original Equipment
Manufacturer, or OEM, customers to successfully incorpo-
rate our products into their systems; the emergence of new
or stronger competitors as a result of consolidation move-
ments in the market; the timing and market acceptance of
our or our OEM customers’ new or enhanced products; our
ability and the ability of our OEM customers to keep pace
with the rapid technological changes and short product life
cycles in our industry and gain market acceptance for new
products and technologies; changes in product mix resulting
in unexpected engineering and research and development
costs; delays and increased costs in product development,
engineering and production; reliance on a small number of
significant customers; foreign currency fluctuations between
the U.S. and Canadian dollars; risks relating to governmen-
tal regulatory actions in communications and defense pro-
grams; and inventory risks due to technological innovation
and product obsolescence, as well as other risks and uncer-
tainties as are detailed from time to time in the Company’s
Securities and Exchange Commission filings. These forward-
looking statements are made only as of the date hereof, and
the Company undertakes no obligation to update or revise
the forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise.

Forward Looking Information Excerpt
1.15
BARNES & NOBLE, INC. (JAN)

DISCLOSURE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING
STATEMENTS

This report may contain certain forward-looking statements
(within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934)
and information relating to the Company that are based on
the beliefs of the management of the Company as well as
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assumptions made by and information currently available
to the management of the Company. When used in this re-
port, the words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect”
“intend,” “plan” and similar expressions, as they relate to
the Company or the management of the Company, identify
forward-looking statements. Such statements reflect the cur-
rent views of the Company with respect to future events, the
outcome of which is subject to certain risks, including among
others general economic and market conditions, decreased
consumer demand for the Company’s products, possible dis-
ruptions in the Company’s computer or telephone systems,
possible work stoppages or increases in labor costs, pos-
sible increases in shipping rates or interruptions in shipping
service, effects of competition, possible disruptions or delays
in the opening of new stores or the inability to obtain suitable
sites for new stores, higher-than-anticipated store closing or
relocation costs, higher interest rates, the performance of the
Company’s online initiatives such as Barnes & Noble.com,
the performance and successful integration of acquired busi-
nesses, the successful and timely completion and integration
of the Company’s new New Jersey distribution center, the
success of the Company’s strategic investments, unantici-
pated increases in merchandise or occupancy costs, unan-
ticipated adverse litigation results or effects, and other fac-
tors which may be outside of the Company’s control. Should
one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or
should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual re-
sults or outcomes may vary materially from those described
as anticipated, believed, estimated, expected, intended or
planned. Subsequent written and oral forward-looking state-
ments attributable to the Company or persons acting on its
behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the caution-
ary statements in this paragraph.

Liquidity and Capital Resources Excerpt
1.16
MICHAELS STORES, INC. (JAN)

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our cash and equivalents increased $194.1 million, or 57%,
from $341.8 million at the end of fiscal 2003 to $535.9 mil-
lion at the end of fiscal 2004. We require cash principally for
day-to-day operations and to finance capital investments,
inventory for new stores, inventory replenishment for exist-
ing stores, and seasonal working capital needs. In recent
years, we have financed our operations, new store openings,
Common Stock repurchases, dividend payments, and other
capital investments with cash from operations and proceeds
from stock option exercises. In addition, borrowings under
our Credit Agreement may be an additional source of cash
flow to finance future growth and other capital investments.

Cash Flow From Operating Activities

Cash flow provided by operating activities in fiscal 2004 was
$427.8 million compared to $289.5 million in fiscal 2003. The
increase in cash provided by operating activities was due, in
part, to an increase of $24.0 million in net income as a result
of sales growth and operating margin expansion, primarily
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as aresult of a greater focus on expense control. In addition,
we used $45.6 million less cash in fiscal 2004 compared to
the prior year for merchandise inventories, net of accounts
payable, primarily as a result of the timing of inventory pur-
chases and related payments. Inventories per Michaels store
of $1.010 million at January 29, 2005, decreased 3.3% from
$1.045 million at January 31, 2004, as a result of the full
implementation of our perpetual inventory and automated
merchandise replenishment systems and the corresponding
improvement in inventory management. We used $26.4 mil-
lion less cash related to our income taxes payable, primarily
due to tax benefits realized from the exercise of stock options
and the timing of tax payments. Additionally, we used $20.4
million less cash for accrued liabilities and other in fiscal 2004
compared to the prior year primarily related to the timing of
payments.

Cash Flow From Investing Activities

Cash flow from investing activities was primarily the result of
the following capital expenditure activities:

(In thousands) 2004 2003®@ 20020
New and relocated stores

and stores not yet

opened $50,307 $ 37,964 $ 51,445
Existing stores 13,257 17,576 18,440
Distribution system

expansion, net of

building reimbursements 7,124 29,100 17,673
Information systems 15,398 13,053 15,323
Corporate and other 4,820 5417 6,028

$90,906 $103,110 $108,909

M In fiscal 2004, we incurred capital expenditures related to the
opening of 45 Michaels, seven Aaron Brothers, and six Recol-
lections stores, and the relocation of 30 Michaels and one Aaron
Brothers store.

In fiscal 2003, we incurred capital expenditures related to the
construction of our lllinois distribution center, the opening of 55
Michaels, 10 Aaron Brothers, two Recollections, and one Star
Wholesale store, and the relocation of 16 Michaels stores.

In fiscal 2002, we incurred capital expenditures related to the
completion of our Hazleton, Pennsylvania distribution center,
the expansion of our Lancaster, California distribution center,
the opening of 67 Michaels and 13 Aaron Brothers stores, and
the relocation of 18 Michaels and one Aaron Brothers store. In
addition, we received a reimbursement in the amount of $15.1
million for the expansion of our Lancaster, California distribution
center, which was completed in fiscal 2002.

@

@

We currently estimate that our capital expenditures will
be approximately $116.8 million in fiscal 2005. We antici-
pate spending approximately $47.9 million to open approxi-
mately 45 Michaels, two Aaron Brothers, three Recollections
stores, and one Star Wholesale store, and approximately 20
Michaels store relocations; $32.1 million for improvements in
existing stores; $7.1 million for new and existing distribution
centers; $16.5 million on information systems projects; and
$13.2 million for corporate expansion and various other cap-
ital investment activities. We expect to spend on average ap-
proximately $1.3 million to open a new Michaels store, which
includes $601,000 in net inventory and $113,000 of pre-
opening costs; and $601,000 to open a new Aaron Brothers
store, which includes $136,000 in net inventory and $39,000
of pre-opening costs. We anticipate that our new Michaels
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stores, as a group, will become profitable within their first 12
months of operation.

During fiscal 2004, we purchased interests in a Mas-
sachusetts business trust that invests primarily in auction
rate securities with auction reset periods of less than twelve
months. The purchase price of these interests was approxi-
mately $50.4 million.

Cash Flow From Financing Activities

Beginning in June 2003, Michaels has declared quarterly
cash dividends as follows:

Declaration Date Payable Date Amount Per Share
Fiscal 2004:
March 16, 2004 April 30, 2004 $0.06
June 17, 2004 July 30, 2004 0.06
September 16, 2004 October 29, 2004 0.07
December 1, 2004 January 31, 2005 0.07
Fiscal 2003:
June 19, 2003 July 30, 2003 $0.05
September 23, 2003 October 31, 2003 0.05
December 2, 2003 January 30, 2004 0.05

These dividends reflect the strength of our financial posi-
tion and our Board of Directors’ commitment to encouraging
long-term investment by a diverse stockholder base. We did
not pay any dividends on our Common Stock prior to fiscal
2003.

ATT-SEC 1.16
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Cash used for repurchases of our Common Stock in-
creased $29.6 million from $75.5 million in fiscal 2003 to
$105.1 million in fiscal 2004. Common Stock repurchases
were $12.8 million in fiscal 2002. The following table sets
forth information regarding our Common Stock repurchase
plans as of January 29, 2005:

Shares Authorized for Shares Available for

Repurchase Shares Repurchased Repurchase

December 5, 2000 repurchase plan (fixed portion) 4,000,000 (4,000,000) -
December 5, 2000 repurchase plan (variable portion) 54,552 (54,551) 1@
September 11, 2002 repurchase plan 2,000,000 {2,000,000) —
June 18, 2003 repurchase plan 2,000,000 {2,000,000) —®
February 2, 2004 repurchase plan 5,000,000 (3,099,749) 1,900,251

() On December 5, 2000, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 4.0 million shares of our outstanding Common Stock. By
later resolutions, our Board of Directors provided that proceeds of the exercise of options under our 2001 General Stock Option Plan may
be used to repurchase shares under the 2000 repurchase plan and that the maximum number of shares authorized to be repurchased under
the 2000 repurchase plan may be increased to the extent necessary to so use the proceeds from such option exercises. As of April 2003,
we had repurchased and subsequently retired a total of 4.0 million shares under the 2000 repurchase plan at an average price of $11.13 per
share and, as a result, we have used the entire fixed portion of the authority originally provided in the 2000 repurchase plan.

2

In fiscal 2004, we repurchased and subsequently retired 54,551 shares of our Common Stock at an average price of $27.03 per share using

proceeds from exercises of stock options granted under the 2001 General Stock Option Plan that were exercised in fiscal 2004.
@ As of January 2004, we repurchased and subsequently retired the 2.0 million shares of our Common Stock authorized under the 2002
repurchase plan at an average price of $17.73 per share and, as a result, we have used the entire authority originally provided in the 2002

“ repurchase plan.

In fiscal 2003, we repurchased and subsequently retired approximately 1.2 million shares of our Common Stock authorized under the 2003

repurchase plan at an average price of $21.55 per share. In fiscal 2004, we repurchased and subsequently retired 816,200 shares of our
Common Stock authorized under the 2003 repurchase plan at an average price of $24.34 per share and, as a result, we have used the entire

o authority originally provided in the 2003 repurchase plan.

In fiscal 2004, we repurchased and subsequently retired approximately 3.1 million shares of our Common Stock authorized to be repurchased

under the 2004 repurchase plan at an average price of $27.02 per share and, as a result, we had 1,900,251 shares available for repurchase

under the plan as of January 29, 2005.

We anticipate that we will continue to repurchase shares
of our Common Stock in fiscal 2005. On March 15, 2005,
our Board of Directors authorized an additional repurchase
plan for up to 3.0 million shares of our outstanding Common
Stock. Under the agreements governing our outstanding in-
debtedness, we can only repurchase shares of our Common
Stock if we maintain or comply with specified financial ra-
tios and other covenants. We may also be restricted by reg-
ulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission from
making future repurchases during certain time periods.
Proceeds from the exercise of outstanding stock options
have served as a source of cash for us, and we expect to
receive proceeds from the exercise of outstanding stock op-
tions and options to be granted under our stock option plans
in the future. Proceeds from the exercise of stock options
were $35.5 million, $30.7 million, and $34.7 million in fiscal
2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. Proceeds from the exer-
cise of stock options under our 2001 General Stock Option
Plan are required to be used to repurchase shares of our
own Common Stock under the 2000 repurchase plan, ex-
cept where not permitted by law or if there is a compelling
need to use the proceeds for other corporate purposes.

Debt

In October 2004, we signed an extension to our existing $200
million unsecured revolving bank credit facility with Fleet Na-
tional Bank and other lending institutions, which now ex-
pires on April 30, 2006. The Credit Agreement requires us to
maintain certain financial covenants and limits certain activ-
ities, including, among other things, levels of indebtedness,
liens, investments, payments of dividends, Common Stock
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repurchases, mergers and acquisitions, and sales of assets.
In addition to extending the term of the Credit Agreement, we
obtained the consent of the lenders to permit the prepayment
of the Senior Notes due 2009 when they become callable in
July 2005, if we have “liquidity” (defined as cash and equiva-
lents plus unused availability under the Credit Agreement) of
at least $300 million. Based on our current cash projections,
we anticipate calling our Senior Notes in July 2005, which
would result in a pre-tax charge to earnings of $12.1 million
to be recognized in the period in which we prepay our Senior
Notes, representing a combination of a prepayment penalty
and the unamortized debt costs associated with the notes.

We are in compliance with all terms and conditions of
the Credit Agreement. During fiscal 2004 and 2003, we had
no borrowings under our Credit Agreement. No borrowings
were outstanding under the Credit Agreement as of January
29, 2005 or January 31, 2004. Borrowings available under
the Credit Agreement are reduced by the aggregate amount
of letters of credit outstanding under the Credit Agreement
($26.1 million as of January 29, 2005). The following table
sets forth certain data related to borrowings under our Credit
Agreement:

2004 2003 2002

Days of borrowings outstanding — — 123
Average outstanding borrowings

(in thousands) $— $— $81,811

Weighted average interest rate —% —% 2.8%
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General

We believe that our available cash, funds generated by oper-
ating activities, funds available under the Credit Agreement,
and proceeds from the exercise of stock options will be suf-
ficient to fund planned capital expenditures, working capi-
tal requirements, and any anticipated dividend payments or
stock repurchases for the foreseeable future.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements as defined in
Iltem 303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation S-K.

Contractual Obligations

All of our significant contractual obligations are fully recorded
on our Consolidated Balance Sheets or fully discussed in our
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

It is not our business practice to enter into off-balance
sheet arrangements, except for arrangements related to op-
erating lease commitments, service contract commitments,
and letters of credit, as disclosed in the table below. In ad-
dition, it is not our normal policy to issue guarantees to third
parties. We currently have no commitments for capital leases
and do not expect that to change in the immediate future.

As of January 29, 2005, our contractual obligations were

as follows:
Payments Due By Fiscal Year

More Than
(In thousands) Total Less Than 1 Year 1-3 Years 4-5 Years 5 Years
Long-term debt(" $ 200,000 $ — $ — $200,000 $ —
Interest on long-term debt(") 81,708 18,500 37,000 26,208 -
Operating lease commitments® 1,783,178 264,775 503,580 417,698 597,125
Other commitments® 71,024 39,808 1,508 576 29,132
Deferred compensation®® — - — — —
Purchase obligations®® 37,843 37,843 — — —
$2,173,753 $360,926 $542,088 $644,482 $626,257

(" Long-term debt includes our Senior Notes due 2009, which are first callable, in part or in full, in July 2005. We pay interest semi-annually at a
rate of 9'/4% per annum. Based on our current cash projections, we anticipate calling our Senior Notes in July 2005, which would result in a
pre-tax charge to earnings of $12.1 million to be recognized in the period in which we prepay our Senior Notes, representing a combination
of a prepayment penalty and the unamortized debt costs associated with the notes.

@ Our operating lease commitments generally include non-cancelable leases for property and equipment used in our operations. Excluded -
from our operating lease commitments are amounts related to insurance, taxes, and common area maintenance associated with property
and equipment. Such amounts historically represented approximately $2.90 to $3.80 per selling square foot over the previous five fiscal
years.

@ Other commitments primarily include service contract obligations, letters of credit, and certain post-employment obligations.

@ Our deferred compensation plan is fully funded and, as such, we have a plan asset recorded on our consolidated balance sheet that

substantially offsets the amount of our obligation. Additionally, there is no specific payment date under the terms of the plan. Therefore, we

have excluded from this table our obligations pursuant to our deferred compensation plan. Our deferred compensation obligations of $15.6
million were included in our consolidated balance sheet at January 29, 2005, within other long-term liabilities.

Purchase obligations represent legally binding commitments to purchase merchandise inventories, which are made in the normal course of

business to meet operational requirements.

(&
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Environmental Matters Excerpt
1.17
EASTMAN CHEMICAL COMPANY (DEC)

ENVIRONMENTAL

Certain Eastman manufacturing sites generate hazardous
and nonhazardous wastes of which the treatment, storage,
transportation, and disposal of which are regulated by vari-
ous governmental agencies. In connection with the cleanup
of various hazardous waste sites, the Company, along with
many other entities, has been designated a potentially re-
sponsible party (“PRP”) by the U.S. Environmental Protection
Agency under the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act, which potentially subjects
PRPs to joint and several liability for such cleanup costs. In
addition, the Company will be required to incur costs for en-
vironmental remediation and closure and postclosure under
the Federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act. Ad-
equate reserves for environmental contingencies have been
established in accordance with Eastman’s policies as de-
scribed in Note 1 to the Company’s consolidated financial
statements. Because of expected sharing of costs, the avail-
ability of legal defenses, and the Company’s preliminary as-
sessment of actions that may be required, it does not believe
its liability for these environmental matters, individually or in
the aggregate, will be material to the Company’s consoli-
dated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

The Company accrues environmental remediation costs
when it is probable that the Company has incurred a lia-
bility and the amount can be reasonably estimated. When
a single amount cannot be reasonably estimated but the
cost can be estimated within a range, the Company accrues
the minimum amount. This undiscounted accrued amount
reflects the Company’s assumptions about remediation re-
quirements at the contaminated site, the nature of the rem-
edy, the outcome of discussions with regulatory agencies and
other potentially responsible parties at multi-party sites, and
the number and financial viability of other potentially respon-
sible parties. Changes in the estimates on which the accruals
are based, unanticipated government enforcement action,
or changes in health, safety, environmental, and chemical
control regulations and testing requirements could result in
higher or lower costs. Estimated future environmental ex-
penditures for remediation costs range from the minimum or
best estimate of $25 million to the maximum of $45 million
at December 31, 2004.

In addition to remediation activities, the Company estab-
lishes reserves for closure/postclosure costs associated with
the environmental assets it maintains. Environmental assets
include but are not limited to landfills, water treatment fa-
cilities, and ash ponds. When these types of assets are
constructed, a reserve is established for the anticipated fu-
ture environmental costs associated with the closure of the
site asset based on its expected life. These future expenses
are charged into earnings over the estimated useful life of the
assets. Reserves related to environmental assets accounted
for approximately 55% of the total environmental reserve at
December 31, 2004. Currently, the Company’s environmen-
tal assets are expected to be no longer useable at various
different times over the next 50 years. If the Company were
to invest in numerous new environmental assets, or, these
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assets were to require closure a significant number of years
before the Company anticipated they would, the amortization
on them would increase, and could have a material negative
impact on the Company’s financial condition and results of
operations. The Company views the likelihood of this occur-
rence to be remote, and does not anticipate, based on its
past experience with this type of planned remediation, that
an additional accrual related to environmental assets will be
necessary.

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company had rec-
ognized environmental contingencies of approximately $56
million and $61 million, respectively, representing the min-
imum or best estimate for remediation costs and, for clo-
sure/postclosure costs, the amount accrued to date over the
facilities estimated useful lives.

The Company’s estimated cash expenditures related to en-
vironmental protection and improvement were approximately
$184 million, $187 million, and $195 million in 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively. Cash expenditures estimated for 2005
are expected to remain at approximately $190 million. These
amounts pertain primarily to operating costs associated with
environmental protection equipment and facilities, but also
include expenditures for construction and development. The
Company does not expect future environmental capital ex-
penditures arising from requirements of recently promulgated
environmental laws and regulations to materially increase the
Company’s planned level of capital expenditures for environ-
mental control facilities.

Market Risk information Excerpt
1.18
CORN PRODUCTS INTERNATIONAL, INC. (DEC)

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES
ABOUT MARKET RISK

International Operations and Foreign Exchange

The Company has operated a multinational business sub-
ject to the risks inherent in operating in foreign countries and
with foreign currencies for many years. The Company’s US
dollar denominated results are subject to foreign currency ex-
change fluctuations and its operations are subject to political,
economic and other risks. Economic changes, terrorist activ-
ity and political unrest may result in business interruption or
decreased demand for the Company’s products. The Com-
pany’s success will depend in part on its ability to manage
continued global political and/or economic uncertainty, es-
pecially in the Company’s significant geographical markets,
as well as any political or economic disruption due to terrorist
activities.

The Company primarily sells world commodities and, his-
torically, local prices have adjusted relatively quickly to offset
the effect of a local devaluation. The Company may occasion-
ally hedge commercial transactions and certain liabilities that
are denominated in a currency other than the currency of the
operating unit entering into the underlying transaction.

In each country where we conduct business, the business
and assets are subject to varying degrees of risk and uncer-
tainty. The Company insures its business and assets in each
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country against insurable risks in a manner that it deems ap-
propriate. Because of its geographic dispersion, the Com-
pany believes that a loss from non-insurable events in any
one country would not have a material adverse effect on the
Company'’s operations as a whole.

Uncertain Ability to Generate Adequate Financial
Performance

The Company’s ability to generate operating income and to
increase profitability depends to a large extent upon its ability
to price finished products at a level that will cover manufac-
turing and raw material costs and provide a profit margin.
The Company’s ability to maintain appropriate price levels is
determined by a number of factors largely beyond the Com-
pany’s control, such as aggregate industry supply and market
demand, which may vary from time to time, and the eco-
nomic condition of the geographic region of the Company’s
operations.

Uncertain Ability to Contain Costs or to Fund
Capital Expenditures

The Company’s future profitability and growth also depends
on the Company’s ability to contain operating costs and
per-unit product costs, to maintain and/or implement ef-
fective cost control programs and to develop value-added
products and new product applications successfully, while
at the same time maintaining competitive pricing and su-
perior quality products, customer service and support. The
Company’s ability to maintain a competitive cost structure
depends on continued containment of manufacturing, deliv-
ery and administrative costs as well as the implementation
of cost-effective purchasing programs for raw materials, en-
ergy and related manufacturing requirements. The Company
plans to focus capital expenditures on implementing produc-
tivity improvements and, if supported by profitable customer
demand, expand the production capacity of its facilities. The
Company may need additional funds for working capital as
the Company grows and expands its operations. To the ex-
tent possible, the Company expects to fund its capital ex-
penditures from operating cash flow. If the Company’s oper-
ating cash flow is insufficient to fund such expenditures, the
Company may either reduce its capital expenditures or utilize
certain general credit facilities. The Company may also seek
to generate additional liquidity through the sale of debt or eq-
uity securities in private or public markets or through the sale
of non-productive assets. The Company cannot provide any
assurance that cash flows from operations will be sufficient to
fund anticipated capital expenditures or that additional funds
can be obtained from financial markets or from the sale of as-
sets at terms favorable to the Company. If the Company is
unable to generate sufficient cash flows or raise sufficient
additional funds to cover capital expenditures, it may not
be able to achieve its desired operating efficiencies and ex-
pansion plans, which may adversely impact the Company’s
competitiveness and, therefore, its results of operations.

Interest Rate Exposure

Approximately 48 percent of the Company’s borrowings are
fixed rate bonds and loans. Interest on the remaining 52
percent of the Company’s borrowings is subject to change
based on changes in short-term rates, which could affect
our interest costs. Included in the floating rate indebtedness
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information above is the Company’s $200 million Senior
Notes due 2009 which, through the use of interest rate swaps,
has effectively been converted from fixed to floating rate
debt. Included in the fixed rate indebtedness information
above is $18 million of Korean term loan debt which, through
the use of cross currency interest rate swaps, has effec-
tively been converted from floating rate US dollar to fixed
rate Korean Won debt. See also Note 8 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for further information. A
hypothetical increase of 1 percentage point in the weighted
average floating interest rate for 2004 would have increased
interest expense and reduced pretax income for 2004 by ap-
proximately $3 million.

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the carrying and fair val-
ues of long-term debt, including the current portion, were as
follows:

2004 2003
Carrying Fair  Carrying Fair
(In millions) Value Value Value Value
8.25% senior notes,
due 2007 $254 $280 $253 $281
8.45% senior notes,
due 2009 199 233 199 223
Korean loans 27 27 42 42
Total $480 $540 $494 $546
Competition

The Company operates in a highly competitive environment.
Almost all of the Company’s products compete with virtually
identical or similar products manufactured by other compa-
nies in the corn refining industry. In the United States, there
are other corn refiners, several of which are divisions of larger
enterprises that have greater financial resources and some
of which, unlike the Company, have vertically integrated their
corn refining and other operations. Many of the Company’s
products also compete with products made from raw materi-
als other than corn. Fluctuation in prices of these competing
products may affect prices of, and profits derived from, the
Company’s products. Competition within markets is largely
based on price, quality and product availability.

Price Volatility and Uncertain Availability of Corn

Corn purchasing costs, which include the price of the corn
plus delivery cost, account for 40 percent to 65 percent of the
Company’s product costs. The price and availability of corn
is influenced by economic and industry conditions, includ-
ing supply and demand factors such as crop disease and
severe weather conditions such as drought, floods or frost
that are difficult to anticipate and cannot be controlled by
the Company. In addition, government programs supporting
sugar prices indirectly impact the price of corn sweeteners,
especially high fructose corn syrup. Due to market volatility,
the Company cannot assure that it can adequately pass po-
tential increases in the cost of corn on to customers through
product price increases or purchase quantities sufficient to
sustain or increase its profitability.
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Commodity Costs

The Company’s finished products are made primarily from
corn. In North America, the Company sells a large portion
of finished product at firm prices established in supply con-
tracts typically lasting for periods of up to one year. In order
to minimize the effect of volatility in the cost of corn related
to these firm-priced supply contracts, the Company enters
into corn futures contracts, or takes hedging positions in the
corn futures market. From time to time, the Company may
also enter into anticipatory hedges. These contracts typically
mature within one year. At expiration, the Company settles
the derivative contracts at a net amount equal to the differ-
ence between the then-current price of corn and the fixed
contract price. While these hedging instruments are subject
to fluctuations in value, changes in the value of the underly-
ing exposures the Company is hedging generally offset such
fluctuations. While the corn futures contracts or hedging po-
sitions are intended to minimize the volatility of corn costs
on operating profits, occasionally the hedging activity can
result in losses, some of which may be material. Outside of
North America, sales of finished product under long-term,
firm-priced supply contracts are not material.

Energy costs for the Company represent a significant por-
tion of its operating costs. The primary use of energy is to
create steam in the production process and in dryers to dry
product. The Company consumes coal, natural gas, electric-
ity, wood and fuel oil to generate energy. The market prices for
these commodities vary depending on supply and demand,
world economies and other factors. The Company purchases
these commodities based on its anticipated usage and the fu-
ture outlook for these costs. The Company cannot assure that
it will be able to purchase these commodities at prices that it
can adequately pass on to customers to sustain or increase
profitability. The Company periodically uses derivative finan-
cial instruments to hedge portions of its natural gas costs.

The Company’s commodity price hedging instruments
generally relate to contracted firm-priced business. Based
on the Company'’s overall commodity hedge exposure at De-
cember 31, 2004, a hypothetical 10 percent decline in market
prices applied to the fair value of the instruments would result
in a charge to other comprehensive income (loss) of approx-
imately $23 million, net of income tax benefit. It should be
noted that any change in the fair value of the contracts, real
or hypothetical, would be substantially offset by an inverse
change in the value of the underlying hedged item.

Volatility of Markets

The market price for the common stock of the Company
may be significantly affected by factors such as the an-
nouncement of new products or services by the Company
or its competitors; technological innovation by the Com-
pany, its competitors or other vendors; quarterly variations in
the Company’s operating results or the operating results of
the Company’s competitors; general conditions in the Com-
pany’s and its customers’ markets; changes in the earnings
estimates by analysts or reported results that vary materially
from such estimates. In addition, the stock market has expe-
rienced significant price fluctuations that have affected the
market prices of equity securities of many companies that
have been unrelated to the operating performance of any
individual company. These broad market fluctuations may
materially and adversely affect the market price of the Com-
pany’s common stock.
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Consumer Preferences and Perceptions

Changes in consumer preferences and perceptions may
lessen the demand for the Company’s products, which would
reduce sales and harm the Company’s business. Food prod-
ucts are often affected by changes in consumer tastes, na-
tional, regional and local economic conditions and demo-
graphic trends. The Company'’s sales could also be affected
by changing consumer tastes—for instance, if prevailing
health or dietary preferences cause consumers to avoid food
products containing sweetener products in favor of foods
that are perceived as more heaithy.

Biotechnology

The commercial success of agricultural products developed
through biotechnology depends in part on public acceptance
of their development, cultivation, distribution and consump-
tion. Public attitudes can be influenced by claims that genet-
ically modified products are unsafe for consumption or that
they pose unknown risks to the environment even if such
claims are not based on scientific studies. These public attit-
udes can influence regulatory and legislative decisions about
biotechnology even where they are approved. The sale of the
Company’s products may in the future be delayed or impaired
because of adverse public perception regarding the safety
of the Company’s products and the potential effects of these
products on animals, human health and the environment.

Labor Disputes

Approximately 34 percent of US and 47 percent of non-US
employees are unionized. Strikes, lockouts or other work
stoppages or slow downs involving the Company’s union-
ized employees could have a material adverse effect on the
Company.

Uncertainty of Dividends

The payment of dividends is at the discretion of the Com-
pany’s Board of Directors and will be subject to the Com-
pany’s financial results and the availability of surplus funds
to pay dividends. No assurance can be given that the Com-
pany will continue to pay dividends.

Certain Anti-Takeover Effects

Certain provisions of the Company’s Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation (the “Corn Products Charter”) and
the Company’s Amended By-Laws (the “Corn Products By-
Laws”) and of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the
“DGCL”) may have the effect of delaying, deterring or pre-
venting a change in control of the Company not approved by
the Company’s Board. These provisions include (i) a classi-
fied Board of Directors, (ii) a requirement of the unanimous
consent of all stockholders for action to be taken without a
meeting, (i) a requirement that special meetings of stock-
holders be called only by the Chairman of the Board or
the Board of Directors, (iv) advance notice requirements for
stockholder proposals and nominations, (v) limitations on the
ability of stockholders to amend, alter or repeal the Corn
Products Amended By-Laws and certain provisions of the
Corn Products Charter, (vi) authorization for the Company’s
Board to issue without stockholder approval preferred stock
with such terms as the Board of Directors may determine and
(vii) authorization for the Company’s Board to consider the
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interests of creditors, customers, employees and other con-
stituencies of the Company and its subsidiaries and the effect
upon communities in which the Company and its subsidiaries
do business, in evaluating proposed corporate transactions.
With certain exceptions, Section 203 of the DGCL (“Section
203”) imposes certain restrictions on mergers and other busi-
ness combinations between the Company and any holder of
15 percent or more of the Company’s Common Stock. In ad-
dition, the Company has adopted a stockholder rights plan
(the “Rights Plan”). The Rights Plan is designed to protect
stockholders in the event of an unsolicited offer and other
takeover tactics, which, in the opinion of the Company’s
Board, could impair the Company’s ability to represent stock-
holder interests. The provisions of the Rights Plan may render
an unsolicited takeover of the Company more difficult or less
likely to occur or might prevent such a takeover.

These provisions of the Corn Products Charter and Corn
Products By-Laws, the DGCL and the Rights Plan could dis-
courage potential acquisition proposals and could delay or
prevent a change in control of the Company, although such
proposals, if made, might be considered desirable by a ma-
jority of the Company’s stockholders. Such provisions could
also make it more difficult for third parties to remove and re-
place the members of the Company’s Board. Moreover, these
provisions could diminish the opportunities for a stockholder
to participate in certain tender offers, including tender offers
at prices above the then-current market value of the Com-
pany’s Common Stock, and may also inhibit increases in the
market price of the Company’s Common Stock that could
result from takeover attempts or speculation.

Reliance on Major Customers

A substantial portion of the Company’s 2004 worldwide sales
were made to companies engaged in the processed foods
industry and the soft drink industry. Additionally, a significant
portion of the Company’s 2004 worldwide sales were made
to the animal feed market. If the Company’s processed foods
customers, soft drink customers or animal feed customers
were to substantially decrease their purchases, the business
of the Company might be materially adversely affected. How-
ever, the Company believes there is no concentration of risk
with any single customer or supplier, or small group of cus-
tomers or suppliers, whose failure or non performance would
materially affect the Company’s results.

Critical Accounting Policies Excerpt
1.19
COOPER CAMERON CORPORATION (DEC)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company believes the following critical accounting
policies affect the more significant judgments and esti-
mates used in the preparation of its consolidated finan-
cial statements. These policies and the other sections of
the Company’s Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Results of Operations and Financial Condition have been
reviewed with the Company’s Audit Committee of the Board
of Directors.
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Revenue Recognition

The Company generally recognizes revenue once the follow-
ing four criteria are met: (i) persuasive evidence of an arrange-
ment exists, (i) delivery of the equipment has occurred or
services have been tendered, {iii) the price of the equipment
or service is fixed and determinable, and (iv) collectibility is
reasonably assured. For certain engineering, procurement
and construction-type contracts, which typically include
the Company’s subsea systems and processing equip-
ment contracts, revenue is recognized in accordance with
Statement of Position 81-1, Accounting for Performance of
Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts
(SOP 81-1). Under SOP 81-1, the Company recognizes rev-
enue on these contracts using a units-of-completion method.
Under the units-of-completion method, revenue is recog-
nized once the manufacturing process is complete for each
piece of equipment specified in the contract with the cus-
tomer, including customer inspection and acceptance, if re-
quired by the contract. Approximately 15% of the Company’s
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2004 was recog-
nized under SOP 81-1.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company maintains allowances for doubtful accounts
for estimated losses that may result from the inability of its
customers to make required payments. Such allowances are
based upon several factors including, but not limited to, his-
torical experience and the current and projected financial
condition of specific customers. Were the financial condi-
tion of a customer to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment
of its ability to make payments, additional allowances may
be required.

Inventories

The Company’s aggregate inventories are carried at cost or,
if lower, net realizable value. Inventories located in the United
States and Canada are carried on the last-in, first-out (LIFO)
method. Inventories located outside of the United States and
Canada are carried on the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.
During 2004 and 2003, the Company reduced its LIFO in-
ventory levels. These reductions resulted in a liquidation of
certain low-cost inventory layers. As a result, the Company
recorded non-cash LIFO income of $9.7 million and $15.9
million for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. The Company writes down its inventory for es-
timated obsolescence or excess quantities on hand equal to
the difference between the cost of the inventory and its es-
timated realizable value. During 2004, the Company revised
its estimate of realizable value on certain of its excess inven-
tory. The impact of this revision was to increase the required
reserve as of December 31, 2004 by $6.5 million. If future con-
ditions cause a reduction in the Company’s current estimate
of realizable value, additional provisions may be required.

ATT-SEC 1.19
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Product Warranty

The Company provides for the estimated cost of product war-
ranties at the time of sale based upon historical experience,
or, in some cases, when specific warranty problems are en-
countered. Should actual product failure rates or repair costs
differ from the Company’s current estimates, revisions to the
estimated warranty liability would be required. See Note 7
of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for addi-
tional details surrounding the Company’s warranty accruals.

Contingencies

The Company accrues for costs relating to litigation, claims
and other contingent matters, including tax contingencies
and liquidated damage liabilities, when such liabilities be-
come probable and reasonably estimable. Such estimates
may be based on advice from third parties or on manage-
ment’s judgment, as appropriate. Actual amounts paid may
differ from amounts estimated, and such differences will be
charged to income in the period when final determination is
made.

Deferred Tax Assets

The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce its de-
ferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to
be realized, considering future taxable income and ongoing
prudent and feasible tax planning strategies. As of December
31, 2004, the Company had a net operating loss carryforward
for U.S. tax purposes of approximately $294.0 million, which
does not begin to expire until 2020. Currently, the Company
believes it is more likely than not that it will generate sufficient
future taxable income to fully utilize this net operating loss
carryforward. Accordingly, the Company has not recorded a
valuation allowance against this net operating loss carryfor-
ward. In the event the oil and gas exploration activity in the
United States deteriorates over an extended period of time,
the Company may determine that it would not be able to fully
realize this deferred tax asset in the future. Should this occur,
a valuation allowance against this deferred tax asset would
be charged to income in the period such determination was
made.

Gooawill

The Company reviews the carrying value of goodwill in accor-
dance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (SFAS 142), which
requires that the Company estimate the fair value of each of
its reporting units annually and compare such amounts to
their respective book values to determine if an impairment
of goodwill is required. For the 2004 and 2003 evaluations,
the fair value was determined using discounted cash flows
and other market-related valuation models. Certain estimates
and judgments are required in the application of the fair value
models. Based upon the Company’s evaluations for 2004
and 2003, no impairment of goodwill was required. However,
should the Company’s estimate of the fair value of any of
its reporting units decline dramatically in future periods, an
impairment of goodwill could be required.
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Pension Accounting

The Company accounts for its defined benefit pension plans
in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Stan-
dards No. 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions (SFAS
87), which requires that amounts recognized in the financial
statements be determined on an actuarial basis. See Note
8 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the
amounts of pension expense included in the Company’s Re-
sults of Operations and the Company’s contributions to the
pension plans for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002, as well as the unrecognized net loss at December
31, 2004 and 2003.

The assumptions used in calculating the pension amounts
recognized in the Company’s financial statements include
discount rates, interest costs, expected return on plan as-
sets, retirement and mortality rates, inflation rates, salary
growth and other factors. The Company bases the discount
rate assumptions on investment yields available at the mea-
surement date on an index of long-term, AA-rated corporate
bonds. The Company'’s inflation assumption is based on an
evaluation of external market indicators. The expected rate
of return on plan assets reflects asset allocations, investment
strategy and the views of various investment professionals.
Retirement and mortality rates are based primarily on ac-
tual plan experience. In accordance with SFAS 87, actual re-
sults that differ from these assumptions are accumulated and
amortized over future periods and, therefore, generally affect
recognized expense and the recorded obligation in future pe-
riods. While the Company believes the assumptions used are
appropriate, differences in actual experience or changes in
assumptions may affect the Company’s pension obligations
and future expense.

A significant reason for the increase in pension expense in
2004 and 20083 results from the difference between the actual
and assumed rates of return on plan assets. During 2001 and
2002, the Company’s pension assets earned substantially
less than the assumed rate of return in those years. In accor-
dance with SFAS 87, the difference between the actual and
assumed rate of return is being amortized over the estimated
average period to retirement of the individuals in the plans. In
2003, and again in 2004, the Company lowered the assumed
rate of return for the assets in these plans. The plans earned
significantly more than the assumed rates of return in 2003
and slightly less than the assumed rate of return in 2004.



Section 1: General 25

The following table illustrates the sensitivity to a change
in certain assumptions used in (i) the calculation of pension
expense for the year ended December 31, 2005, and (i} the
calculation of the projected benefit obligation (PBO) at De-
cember 31, 2004 for the Company’s pension plans:

Impact on 2005
Pre-Tax Pension Impact on PBO at

(Dollars in millions) Expense December 31, 2004

Change in assumption:
25 basis point decrease in

discount rate $1.3 $14.6
25 basis point increase in

discount rate $(1.2) $(14.4)
25 basis point decrease in

expected return on assets $1.0
25 basis point increase in

expected return on assets $(1.0)

SEGMENT INFORMATION

1.20 Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS)
No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and
Related Information, supersedes SFAS No. 14, Financial Re-
porting for Segments of a Business Enterprise, in reporting
information about a public business enterprise’s operat-
ing segments. Operating segments are components of an
enterprise about which separate financial information is avail-
able that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision
maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing
performance.

1.21 SFAS No. 131 requires that a public business enter-
prise report a measure of segment profit or loss, certain
specific revenue and expense items, and segment assets. It
requires reconciliations of total segment revenues, total seg-
ment profit or loss, total segment assets, and other amounts
disclosed for segments to corresponding amounts in the en-
terprise’s general-purpose financial statements. It requires
that all public business enterprises report information about
the revenues derived from the enterprise’s products or ser-
vices (or groups of similar products and services), about the
countries in which the enterprise earns revenues and holds
assets, and about major customers regardless of whether
that information is used in making operating decisions. How-
ever, this Statement does not require an enterprise to report
information that is not prepared for internal use if reporting it
would be impracticable. In addition to SFAS No. 137, SFAS
No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, requires that
entities which report segment information shall provide infor-
mation about the changes in the carrying amount of goodwiill
during the period for each reportable segment.
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1.22 Table 1-3 shows the type of segment information
most frequently presented as an integral part of the financial
statements of the survey companies. Examples of segment
information disclosures follow.

1.23
TABLE 1-3: SEGMENT INFORMATION

Number of Companies
2004 2003 2002 2001

Industry segments
REVENUE.......vvrevveeecrrnneescananieees 406 420 404 412
Operating income or loss.................. 304 318 310 3N
Identifiable assets.......cc.ocoverrrenrieneen 366 378 383 400
Depreciation expense.............cccuwewee 374 395 406 402
Capital expenditures........c...coeeeveuunee. 337 34 367 373
GOOAWIll ...o.vvververeecceereeirrseneeseneenee 174 127 NIC* N/C*
Geographic area
REVENUE......c..oovicrreencirriesee s 321 323 296 295
Operating income or l0ss... . 65 68 48 66
Identifiable assets........... . 96 89 82 85

Depreciation expense
Capital expenditures..
Goodwill.........ccrvrncnnns .
Export sales.........cccoevveeivmrnerniierennineens 33 37 33 43
Sales to major customers.................... 136 178 137 138

* N/C = Not compiled. Line item was not included in the table for
the year shown.
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1.24
AGCO CORPORATION (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Operations and Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies

Gooawill and Other Intangible Assets (In Part)

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 are summarized
as follows (in millions):

Europe/Africa/

North America South America Middle East Consolidated
Balance as of December 31, 2001 $169.4 $ 70.0 $ 925 $331.9
Transitional impairment losses (10.2) (17.5) — 21.7)
Acquisitions 4.9 — — 49
Adjustment to purchase price allocations 3.2 - 0.4 3.6
Reversal of unused restructuring reserves — - (2.2) (2.2)
Foreign currency translation — (17.4) 14.0 (3.4)
Balance as of December 31, 2002 167.3 35.1 104.7 3071
Adjustment to purchase price allocations (1.8) — (0.1) (1.9)
Foreign currency translation — 7.2 19.3 26.5
Balance as of December 31, 2003 165.5 423 1239 331.7
Acquisitions — 68.8 289.6 358.4
Foreign currency translation — 9.7 30.8 40.5
Balance as of December 31, 2004 $165.5 $120.8 $444.3 $730.6

15. Segment Reporting

The Company has four reportable segments: North America;
South America; Europe/Africa/Middle East and Asia/Pacific.
Each regional segment distributes a full range of agricul-
tural equipment and related replacement parts. The Com-
pany evaluates segment performance primarily based on in-
come from operations. Sales for each regional segment are
based on the location of the third—party customer. Begin-
ning in the first quarter of 2004, the Company modified its
segment reporting from five reportable segments to four re-
portable segments. The Company no longer considers the
Sprayers division a reportable segment under the require-
ments of SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information,” due to organizational
changes and changes in the distribution and servicing of
certain Sprayer products which became effective January 1,
2004. Therefore, the segment disclosures for 2003 and 2002
have been reclassified to conform to the presentation going
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forward. All intercompany transactions between the seg-
ments have been eliminated. The Company’s selling, gen-
eral and administrative expenses and engineering expenses,
excluding corporate expense, are charged to each segment
based on the region and division where the expenses are in-
curred. As a result, the components of operating income for
one segment may not be comparable to another segment.
Segment results for the years ended December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002 are as follows (in millions):

27

Europe/Africa/

North America South America Middle East Asia/Pacific Consolidated
2004
Net sales $1,4125 $796.8 $2,873.0 $191.0 $5,273.3
Income from operations 32.6 126.6 186.8 329 378.9
Depreciation 22.3 10.4 473 43 84.3
Assets 766.9 298.0 1,349.5 63.6 2,478.0
Capital expenditures 13.5 111 49.1 47 78.4
2003
Net sales $1,176.2 $416.3 $1,758.8 $144.0 $3,495.3
Income from operations 396 61.2 113.6 232 2376
Depreciation 17.0 5.9 32.8 3.1 58.8
Assets 685.2 222.0 836.4 47.3 1,790.9
Capital expenditures 15.7 14.0 46.5 25 78.7
2002
Net sales $1,039.2 $270.8 $1,505.6 $107.1 $2,922.7
Income from operations 30.7 30.6 133.2 19.4 213.9
Depreciation 15.0 43 26.0 25 478
Assets 742.0 127.2 634.4 37.2 1,540.8
Capital expenditures 15.5 8.8 30.6 —_ 54.9

A reconciliation from the segment information to the consol-
idated balances for income from operations and total assets
is set forth below (in millions):

2004 2003 2002

Segment income from

operations $ 3789 $ 2376 § 2139
Corporate expenses (39.0 (23.4) (22.2)
Restricted stock compensation (0.5) (0.6) (44.1)
Restructuring and other

infrequent expenses (0.1) (27.8) (42.7)
Amortization of intangibles (15.8) (1.7) (1.4)
Consolidated income from

operations $ 3235 § 1843 § 1035
Segment assets $2,478.0 $1,790.9 $1,540.8
Cash and cash equivalents 325.6 147.0 34.3
Receivables from affiliates 79 0.5 89
Investments in affiliates 114.5 91.6 78.5
Other current and noncurrent

assets 402.5 391.6 293.1
Intangible assets, net 238.2 86.1 86.3
Goodwill 730.6 3317 307.1
Consolidated total assets $ 4297 $2,839.4 $2,349.0

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

Net sales by customer location for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were as follows (in millions):

2004 2003 2002
Net sales:

United States $1,168.1 $ 968.8 $ 8814
Canada 176.9 169.3 129.5
Germany 470.1 4331 4114
France 604.7 357.6 2734
United Kingdom and Ireland 301.0 204.6 168.1
Finland and Scandinavia 634.4 160.8 142.9
Other Europe 673.6 4476 348.1
South America 786.0 409.7 263.4
Middle East 1271 112.6 1234
Asia 720 56.9 46.9
Australia 119.0 87.1 60.2
Africa 62.2 42.6 37.3

Mexico, Central America and
Caribbean 78.2 446 36.7
$5,273.3 $3,495.3 $2,922.7
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Net sales by product for the years ended December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002 were as follows (in millions):

2004 2003 2002
Net sales:

Tractors $3,394.6 $2,0409  $1,712.1
Combines 361.8 3017 202.1
Sprayers 265.8 2323 226.9
Other machinery 551.4 377.9 286.7
Replacement parts 699.7 542.5 494.9
$5,273.3 $3,495.3 $2,922.7

Property, plant and equipment by country as of December 31,
2004 and 2003 was as follows (in millions):

2004 2003

United States $105.6 $108.8
Finland 134.5 —
Germany 137.5 1218
Brazil 101.8 51.5
France 89.4 86.0
Other 24.5 66.1
$593.3 $434.2

1.25
BRUNSWICK CORPORATION (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Significant Accounting Policies

Gooawill and Other Intangibles (In Part)

A summary of changes in the Company’s goodwill during the
period ended December 31, 2004, by segment is as follows:

(In millions) 2003  Acquisitions  Adjustments 2004
Marine Engine $ 235 $ 30.7 $51 $ 593
Boat 2131 68.7 31 2849
Fitness 265.6 0.3 14 267.3
Bowling & Billiards 12.9 0.4 — 13.3
Total $515.1 $100.1 $9.6  $624.8

A summary of changes in the Company’s goodwill during the
period ended December 31, 2003, by segment is as follows:

(In millions) 2002  Acquisitions  Adjustments 2003
Marine Engine $ 16.7 $79 $(1.1) $ 235
Boat 172.8 374 29 213.1
Fitness 261.9 24 1.3 265.6
Bowling & Billiards 1.4 11.5 — 12.9
Total $452.8 $59.2 $31  $515.1
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Adjustments in 2004 and 2003 primarily relate to the impact
of foreign currency translation and changes in the fair value of
net assets subject to purchase accounting adjustments, pri-
marily arising from the Company’s acquisitions as described
in Note 5, Acquisitions. There were no impairment charges
for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003.

4. Segment Information

The Company is a manufacturer and marketer of leading con-
sumer brands. The Company operates in four reportable seg-
ments: Marine Engine, Boat, Fitness and Bowling & Billiards.

The Company’s Marine Engine segment consists of the
Mercury Marine Group and Brunswick New Technologies
operations (BNT). The Mercury Marine Group manufactures
and markets a full range of outboard engines, sterndrive en-
gines, inboard engines, water-jet propulsion systems and
parts and accessories, which are principally sold directly
to boatbuilders, including the Company’s Boat segment, or
through marine retail dealers worldwide. The Mercury Marine
Group also manufactures and distributes boats in certain in-
ternational markets. The Company’s engine manufacturing
plants are located primarily in the United States, and sales
are primarily in the United States, Europe and Asia. Addi-
tionally, BNT manufactures and markets engine electronics
and controls and other marine technologies, including nav-
igation systems, chart plotters, telematics and global posi-
tioning systems.

The Boat segment designs, manufactures and markets
fiberglass pleasure boats, high-performance boats, offshore
fishing boats and aluminum fishing, deck and pontoon boats,
which are marketed primarily through dealers. The segment
also owns and operates marine parts and accessories distri-
bution and manufacturing businesses. The segment’s prod-
ucts are manufactured primarily in the United States. Sales
to the segment’s largest boat dealer, MarineMax, Inc., which
has multiple locations, comprised approximately 18 percent
of Boat segment sales in 2004.

The Fitness segment designs, manufactures, and mar-
kets fitness equipment, including treadmills, total-body cross
trainers, stationary bikes and strength-training equipment.
These products are manufactured or sourced from domes-
tic or foreign locations. Fitness equipment is sold primarily
in the United States, Europe and Asia to health clubs, mili-
tary, government, corporate and university facilities, and to
consumers through specialty retail shops.

The Bowling & Billiards segment designs, manufactures
and markets bowling capital equipment and associated parts
and supplies, including lanes, pinsetters, automatic scorers;
bowling balls and other accessories; billiards, Air Hockey and
foosball tables and accessories; and operates bowling cen-
ters. Products are manufactured or sourced from domestic
and foreign locations. Bowling products and commercial bil-
liards, Air Hockey and foosball tables are sold through a direct
sales force in the United States and through distributors in
the United States and foreign markets, primarily Europe and
Asia. Consumer billiards equipment is predominantly sold in
the United States and is distributed primarily through dealers.
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Information as to the operations of the Company’s operating
segments is set forth below:

Operating Segments
Net Sales to Customers Operating Earnings Total Assets

{In miltions) 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003
Marine Engine $2,353.2 $1,908.9 $1,705.2 $243.2 $171.1 $170.9 $1,043.7 $ 869.6
Boat 2,271.1 1,616.9 1,405.3 149.3 63.9 19.0 1,206.2 864.8
Marine eliminations (391.4) (275.1) (233.0) 0.1 — — — —
Total Marine 4,232.9 3,250.7 28715 392.6 235.0 189.9 2,249.9 1,734.4
Fitness® 558.3 486.6 456.7 452 29.8 44.9 667.9 635.9
Bowling & Billiards 4424 3924 3717 41.7 25.6 214 373.8 349.0
Eliminations (4.3) (1.0 — (0.1) — — — —
Corporate/other — — — (78.7) (69.0) (59.6) 1,054.8 883.2
Total $5,229.3 $4,128.7 $3,711.9 $400.7 $221.4 $196.6 $4,346.4 $3,602.5

A Operating Earnings for the year ended 2003, include a $25.0 million pre-tax litigation charge in connection with a patent infringement lawsuit

relating to the design of a cross trainer.

Marine eliminations are eliminations between the Marine En-
gine and Boat segments for sales transactions consummated
at arm’s length. Corporate/Other includes such items as cor-
porate staff and overhead, and financial results of the Com-
pany’s subsidiary Brunswick Financial Services.

Depreciation Amortization
(In millions) 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
Marine Engine $ 58.2 $ 54.8 $ 56.7 $ 17 $ 08 $ 01
Boat 455 46.2 44.5 15.6 12.6 114
Fitness 11.9 12.5 12.2 0.6 04 0.5
Bowling & Billiards 20.1 194 20.3 1.0 06 01
Corporate 29 3.3 2.6 — — —
Total $138.6 $136.2 $136.3 $ 189 $ 144 $ 121
Capital Expenditures Research & Development Expense
(In millions) 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
Marine Engine $ 764 $ 68.1 $ 44.8 $ 82.0 $ 700 $ 61.7
Boat 56.3 38.5 41.0 27.2 25.6 22.1
Fitness 8.3 14.9 94 16.0 16.9 14.4
Bowling & Billiards 217 34.8 15.7 5.9 5.7 46
Corporate 2.6 3.5 1.7 — — —
Total $171.3 $159.8 $1126 $131.1 $118.2 $102.8
Geographic Segments
Net Sales to Customers Total Assets

(In millions) 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003
United States $3,540.1 $2,886.5 $2,707.2 $2,505.8 $2,131.6
Intemational 1,689.2 1,242.2 1,004.7 785.8 587.7
Corporate/Other — — — 1,054.8 883.2
Total $5,229.3 $4,128.7 $3,711.9 $4,346.4 $3,602.5

The Company evaluates performance based on business
segment operating earnings. Operating earnings of seg-
ments do not include the expenses of corporate adminis-
tration, other expenses and income of a non-operating or

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

strategic nature, interest expense or provisions for income
taxes. Corporate assets consist primarily of cash and mar-
ketable securities, prepaid income taxes, and investments in
unconsolidated affiliates.
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1.26
DANA CORPORATION (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In miliions)

Note 6 (In Part): Gooadwill

Changes in goodwill during the years ended December 31,
2004 and 2003, by operating segment, are presented in the
following table.

Balance at Balance at

December 31, Discontinued Effect of Currency December 31,

2003 Operations Effect and Other 2004

Automotive Systems Group $431 $ — $32 $463
Heavy Vehicle Technology & Systems Group 125 — 2) 123
Other 2 — 5 7
$558 $— $35 $593

Balance at Balance at

December 31, Discontinued ~ Effect of Currency December 31,

2002 Operations Effect and Other 2003

Automotive Systems Group $418 $— $13 $431
Heavy Vehicle Technology & Systems Group 118 — 7 125
Automotive Aftermarket Group 30 (32) 2 —
Other 2 — — 2
$568 $(32) $22 $558

Note 22. Business Segments

In the first quarter of 2004, we announced the combination
of the Automotive Systems Group (ASG) and the Engine and
Fluid Management Group (EFMG) into a single business unit
which retained the ASG name. The operations of both the
ASG and EFMG produce components primarily for the light
vehicle original equipment (OE) manufacturer market. The
combination enables their global operations serving these
markets to focus resources on their common customers.
The consolidation of sales, marketing and similar functions
makes it impractical to continue evaluating these units as
separate operations. Accordingly, our segments for the year
ended December 31, 2004 consist of our Strategic Business
Units (SBUs)—the expanded ASG and the Heavy Vehicle
Technologies and Systems Group (HVTSG)—and DCC. The
segment data for the years ended December 31, 2003 and
2002 has been restated to reflect the combination of ASG
and EFMG.

The ASG sells axles, driveshafts, drivetrains, frames, seal-
ing, bearing, fluid-management and power-cylinder prod-
ucts, chassis products and related modules and systems for
the automotive light vehicle markets and driveshafts for the
commercial vehicle market.

The ASG also sells sealing, bearing, fluid-management
and power-cylinder products for the automotive, light and
commercial vehicle, leisure and outdoor power equipment
markets.

The HVTSG sells axles, brakes, driveshafts, chassis and
suspension modules, ride controls and related modules and
systems for the commercial and off-highway vehicle markets
and transmissions and electronic controls for the off-highway
market.
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The following table presents sales by product for those
products representing more than 10% of consolidated sales.

Product 2004 2003 2002
Axles $3,907 $3,378 $3,271
Driveshafts 1,246 1,031 985
Structures 1,072 851 737
Sealing products and bearings 872 761 697
Fluid systems 854 833 856
Other 1,105 1,064 955
Total $9,056 $7,918 $7,501

In accordance with plans announced in October 2001, we
have been divesting DCC’s businesses and assets; these
sales continued during 2004. As a result of sales and the
continuing collection of payments, DCC'’s total portfolio as-
sets were reduced to approximately $830 at December 31,
2004. While we are continuing to pursue the sale of many of
the remaining DCC assets, we expect to retain certain assets
for varying periods of time because tax attributes and/or mar-
ket conditions make disposal uneconomical at this time. As
of December 31, 2004, our expectation was that we would
retain approximately $405 of the $830 of DCC assets held
at that date; however, changes in market conditions may re-
sult in a change in our expectation. DCC'’s retained liabilities
include certain asset-specific financing and general obliga-
tions that are uneconomical to pay off in advance of their
scheduled maturities. We expect that the cash flow gener-
ated from DCC assets, including proceeds from asset sales,
will be sufficient to service DCC’s debt.
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Management evaluates the operating segments and geo-
graphic regions as if DCC were accounted for on the equity
method of accounting rather than on the fully consolidated
basis used for external reporting. This is done because DCC
is not homogeneous with our manufacturing operations, its
financing activities do not support the sales of our other oper-
ating segments and its financial and performance measures
are inconsistent with those of our other operating segments.
Moreover, the financial covenants contained in Dana’s long-
term bank facility are measured with DCC accounted for on
an equity basis.

Information used to evaluate our operating segments—the
SBUs and DCC—and our geographic regions is as follows:
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Inter
Extemal Segment Operating Net Profit Capital Depreciation/
Sales Sales EBIT PAT (Loss)  Net Assets Spend Amortization
2004
ASG $6,658 $187 $ 340 $238 $ 106 $3,100 $213 $239
HVTSG 2,322 35 173 106 48 676 57 49
DCC 29 29 350
Other 76 7 (228) (163) 27 41 6 4
Total continuing operations 9,056 229 285 210 210 4,167 276 292
Discontinued operations 84 52 52
Total operations 9,056 229 369 262 262 4,167 276 292
Unusual items excluded from
performance measures (292) (180) (180)
Consolidated $9,056 $229 $ 77 $ 82 $ 82 $4,167 $276 $292
North America $6,010 $109 $ 196 $123 $ 15 $2,230 $159 $177
Europe 1,775 127 141 105 72 1,224 67 66
South America 626 212 97 59 48 384 33 29
Asia Pacific 645 28 39 25 " 198 16 19
DCC 29 29 350
Other (188) (131) 35 (219) 1 1
Total continuing operations 9,056 476 285 210 210 4,167 276 292
Discontinued operations 84 52 52
Total operations 9,056 476 369 262 262 4,167 276 292
Unusual items excluded from
performance measures (292) (180) (180)
Consolidated $9,056 $476 $ 77 $ 82 $ 82 $4,167 $276 $292
(continued)
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Inter
External Segment Operating Net Profit Capital Depreciation/
Sales Sales EBIT PAT (Loss)  Net Assets Spend Amortization
2003
ASG $5,927 $149 $ 339 $ 242 $111 $3,027 $196 $229
HVTSG 1,924 75 130 79 27 610 39 51
DCC 21 21 291
Other 67 6 (221) (211) (28) 13 16 5
Total continuing operations 7918 230 248 131 131 3,941 251 285
Discontinued operations 90 52 52
Total operations 7,918 230 338 183 183 3,941 251 285
Unusual items excluded from
performance measures (1 39 39
Consolidated $7,918 $230 $ 337 $222 $222 $3,941 $251 $285
North America $5,473 $ 88 $245 $ 150 $ 30 $1,478 $150 $179
Europe 1,455 81 113 88 55 1,021 54 60
South America 441 165 70 43 33 222 17 27
Asia Pacific 549 3 47 30 15 158 29 17
DCC 21 21 291
Other (227) (201) {23) 771 1 2
Total continuing operations 7,918 337 248 131 131 3,941 251 285
Discontinued operations 90 52 52
Total operations 7,918 337 338 183 183 3,941 251 285
Unusual items excluded from
performance measures (1) 39 39
Consolidated $7,918 $337 $337 $222 $222 $3,941 $251 $285
2002
ASG $5,645 $127 $ 315 $230 $ 99 $2,794 $178 $239
HVTSG 1,797 92 102 63 14 629 23 53
DCC 26 26 271
Other 59 638 (198) (236) (56) (43) 2 4
Total continuing operations 7,501 857 219 83 83 3,651 203 296
Discontinued operations 157 88 88
Total operations 7,501 857 376 171 171 3,651 203 296
Unusual items excluded from
performance measures (246) (133) (133)
Change in accounting (220) (220)
Consolidated $7,501 $857 $130 $(182) $(182) $3,651 $203 $296
North America $5,516 $ 9 $ 289 $181 $ 56 $2,189 $135 $192
Europe 1,233 68 60 57 28 984 28 57
South America 361 155 52 32 24 252 12 34
Asia Pacific 391 2 19 13 1 151 27 12
DCC 26 26 271
Other (201) (226) (52) (196) 1 1
Total continuing operations 7,501 321 219 83 83 3,651 203 296
Discontinued operations 157 88 88
Total operations 7,501 321 376 171 171 3,651 203 296
Unusual items excluded from
performance measures (246) (133) (133)
Change in accounting (220) (220)
Consolidated $7,501 $321 $130 $(182) $(182) $3,651 $203 $296
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Operating profit after tax (PAT) is the key internal measure
of performance used by management, including our chief
operating decision maker, as a measure of segment prof-
itability. With the exception of DCC, operating PAT repre-
sents earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT), tax effected
at 39% (our estimated long-term effective rate), plus equity
in earnings of affiliates. Net profit (loss), which is operating
PAT less allocated corporate expenses and net interest ex-
pense, provides a secondary measure of profitability for our
segments that is more comparable to that of a free-standing
entity. The allocation is based on segment sales because it
is readily calculable, easily understood and, we believe, pro-
vides a reasonable distribution of the various components of
our corporate expenses among our diverse business units.
Because the accounting guidance does not permit the allo-
cation of corporate expenses to discontinued operations and
we have elected not to allocate interest expense to discon-
tinued operations, we have included the corporate expenses
and interest expense previously allocated to AAG in Other
in the segment tables. These amounts totaled $38, $43, and
$36 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. We believe this
avoids distorting the net profit (loss) previously reported for
the remaining SBUs and presents amounts that are indica-
tive of the reduced level of corporate expenses and inter-
est expense anticipated following the sale of our automotive
aftermarket business.

The Other category includes businesses unrelated to the
segments, trailing liabilities for closed plants and corporate
administrative functions. For purposes of presenting oper-
ating PAT, Other also inciudes interest expense net of inter-
est income, elimination of inter-segment income and adjust-
ments to reflect the actual effective tax rate. In the net profit
{loss) column, Other includes the net profit or loss of busi-
nesses not assigned to the segments and certain divested
businesses (but not discontinued operations), minority inter-
est in earnings and the tax differential.

The following table reconciles the EBIT amount reported
for our segments, excluding DCC, to our consolidated in-
come (loss) before income taxes as presented in the consol-
idated statement of income.

2004 2003 2002

EBIT of continuing operations $ 285 $ 248 $219
Restructuring and unusual items—total

operations (292) (1) (246)
Restructuring and unusual

items—discontinued operations 69 9 81
Interest expense, excluding DCC (172) (160) (175)
Interest income, excluding DCC 12 13 12
DCC pre-tax income (38) (28) (5)
Income (loss) before income taxes $(136) $ 81  $(114)

Restructuring and unusual items consist of the gains on sales
of businesses discussed in Note 20 and the restructuring and
other unusual charges discussed in Notes 21 and 23.

2004 2003 2002

EBIT OPAT EBIT OPAT EBIT OPAT
Sale of automotive aftermarket $ (71) $ (65) $— $— $ — $ —
Gain on DCC asset sales 27 40 39
Expenses related to DCC asset sales (8) (5) (7 (5) (11) (7)
Repurchase of notes (157) (96) 15 9
Realignment and related charges (76) (54) (243) (163)
Other divestitures and asset sales 20 13 (9) (5) 8 (2)
Unusual items excluded from performance measures $(292) $(180) $(1) $39 $(246) $(133)
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Unusual items excluded from performance measures in 2002
presented in the segment table and the EBIT reconciliation
table includes charges related to our restructuring efforts and
gains and losses on divestitures.

The gains and losses recorded by DCC are not presented
as unusual items excluded from performance measures in the
preceding EBIT reconciliation table since we do not include
DCC'’s results in EBIT for segment reporting. However, such
pre-tax amounts are included within DCC’s pre-tax income
in the table.

Expenses incurred in connection with our restructuring ac-
tivities are included in the respective SBUs’ 2003 operating
results, as are credits to earnings resulting from the periodic
adjustments of our restructuring accruals to reflect changes
in our estimates of the total cost remaining on uncompleted
restructuring projects and gains and losses realized on the
sale of assets related to restructuring. These expenses and
credits for 2003 are summarized by SBU in the following ta-
ble. They are included in Operating PAT and Net Profit (Loss)
after applying a 39% tax effect.

Year Ended December 31, 2004

Restructuring
Restructuring Adjustments Disposition
Provisions of Accruals Gain (Loss)
ASG $17 $(16) $—
HVTSG 1 — —
$18 $(16) $—

Year Ended December 31, 2003
Restructuring
Restructuring Adjustments Disposition
Provisions of Accruals Gain (Loss)
ASG $19 $(10) $(2)
HVTSG 7 (17 )
Other 3 — —
$29 $(27) $4)

Equity earnings included in the operating PAT and net profit
reported in 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $29, $34, and $38 for
ASG and $6, $(2) and $(6) for Other. Equity earnings included
for HVTSG were not material. The related equity investments
totaled $614, $564 and $473 for ASG, $32, $2, and $2 for
HVTSG and $45, $20 and $23 for Other in 2004, 2003 and
2002.

Net assets at the SBU and regional levels are intended
to correlate with invested capital. The amount includes ac-
counts receivable, inventories (on a first-in, first-out basis),
prepaid expenses (excluding taxes), goodwill, investments
in affiliates, net property, plant and equipment, accounts
payable and certain accrued liabilities, but excludes assets
and liabilities of discontinued operations.

ATT-SEC 1.26

Net assets differ from consolidated total assets as follows:

2004 2003 2002

Net assets $4167  $3941  $3,651
Accounts payable and other current

liabilities 2,171 1,838 1,609
DCC'’s assets in excess of equity 785 1,210 1,493
Other current and long-term assets 1,924 1,374 2,623
Assets of discontinued operations — 1,254 177
Consolidated total assets $9,047  $9617  $9,553

Although accounting for discontinued operations does not
result in the reclassification of prior balance sheets, our seg-
ment reporting excludes the assets of our discontinued op-
erations for all periods presented based on the treatment of
these items for internal reporting purposes.

The differences between operating capital spend and de-
preciation shown by SBU and region and purchases of prop-
erty, plant and equipment and depreciation shown on the
cash flow statement result from the exclusion from the seg-
ment table of the amounts related to discontinued operations
and our method of measuring DCC for operating purposes.
DCC'’s capital spend and depreciation are not included in the
operating measures. DCC purchased equipment for lease to
our manufacturing operations through 2002 and continues
to lease that equipment to the SBUs. These operating leases
have been included in the consolidated statements as pur-
chases of assets and the assets are being depreciated over
their useful lives.

Sales by region are based upon location of the entity
recording the sale. Sales from the U.S. amounted to $5,145
in 2004, $4,741 in 2003 and $4,907 in 2002. No other coun-
try’s sales exceeded 10% of total sales. U.S. long-lived as~
sets were $991 in 2004, $1,078 in 2003 and $1,304 in 2002.
No other country’s long-lived assets exceeded 10% of total
long-lived assets.

Export sales from the U.S. to customers outside the U.S.
amounted to $416 in 2004, $397 in 2003 and $223 in
2002. Total export sales (including sales to our non-U.S.
subsidiaries which are eliminated for financial statement pre-
sentation) were $646 in 2004, $587 in 2003 and $392 in 2002.

Worldwide sales to Ford Motor Company and subsidiaries
amounted to $2,298 in 2004, $2,098 in 2003 and $1,953 in
2002, which represented 25%, 27% and 26% of our consol-
idated sales. Worldwide sales to General Motors and sub-
sidiaries amounted to $975 in 2004, which represented 11%
of our consolidated sales. Sales to DaimlerChrysler AG and
subsidiaries were $823 in 2003 and $1,017 in 2002, repre-
senting 10% and 14% of our consolidated sales. Sales to
Ford were primarily from our ASG segment, while sales to
DaimlerChrysler were primarily from the ASG and HVTSG
segments. Sales to DaimlerChrysler AG in 2004 and to Gen-
eral Motors prior to 2004 did not exceed 10% of our con-
solidated sales; no other customer accounted for more than
10% of our consolidated sales in any of the years reported.



Section 1: General

35

1.27 Net Sales by Major Product
SCHERING-PLOUGH CORPORATION (DEC) 2004 2003 2002
Prescription Pharmaceuticals $6,417  $6,611 § 8,745
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REMICADE 746 540 337
(Dollars in millions) CLARINEX/AERIUS 692 694 598
NASONEX 594 500 523
15. Segment Information PEG-INTRON 563 802 1,015
L TEMODAR 459 324 278
The Company has three reportable segments: Prescription INTEGRILIN 325 306 304
Pharmaceuticals, Consumer Health Care and Animal Health. CLARITIN Rx 321 178 1.802
The segment sales and profit data that follow are consistent INTRON A 318 409 '533
with the Company’s current management reporting struc- REBETOL 287 639 19222
ture. The Prescription Pharmaceuticals segment discovers, SUBUTEX 185 144 '103
develops, manufactures and markets human pharmaceuti- ELOCON 168 154 165
cal products. The Consumer Health Care segment develops, CAELYX 150 111 71
manufactures and markets OTC, foot care and sun care prod- Other Pharmaceutical 1.609 1.660 1794
ucts. The Animal Health segment discovers, develops, man- Consumer Health Care 1’085 1'02 5 ‘758
fact i . ) ,
ufactures and markets animal health products 0TC (includes OTC CLARITIN
sales in 2004 and 2003 of $419
Net Sales by Segment and $432, respectively) 578 588 275
Foot Care 331 292 290
s Ty e
rescription Pharmaceuticals \ X , N
Consumer Health Care 1085 1026 758 Animal Health 770 697 677
Animal Health 770 697 6877 Consolidated net sales $8,272  $8,334  $10,180
Consolidated net sales $8,272 $8,334 $10,180
Net Sales by Geographic Area
Profit by Segment 2004 2003 2002
2004 2003 2002 United States $3,219  $3,559 § 5,761
Prescription Pharmaceuticals $ 13 $513 $2,548 Eurppe and Canada 3,59 3410 2,923
Latin America 782 716 740
Consumer Health Care 234 199 169 Pacific Area and Asia 676 649 756
Animal Health 88 86 93 .
Corporate and other (503) (844) (247) Consolidated net sales $8,272  $8,334  $10,180
Consolidated (loss)/profit before
tax $(168) $ (46) $ 2,563

Corporate and other includes interest income and expense,
foreign exchange gains and losses, headquarters expenses,
special charges and other miscellaneous items. The account-
ing policies used for segment reporting are the same as those
described in Note 1 “Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies.”

In 2004, Corporate and other includes Special charges
of $153, including $119 of employee termination costs,
as well as $27 of asset impairment charges and $7 of
closure costs primarily related to the exit from a small
European research-and-development facility (see Note 2
“Special Charges” for additional information). It is estimated
that the charges relate to the reportable segments as fol-
lows: Prescription Pharmaceuticals-$135, Consumer Health
Care-$3, Animal Health-$2 and Corporate and other-$13.

In 2003, Corporate and other includes Special charges
of $599, including $179 of employee termination costs, a
$350 provision to increase litigation reserves, and $70 of
asset impairment charges (see Note 2 “Special Charges”
for additional information). It is estimated that the charges
relate to the reportable segments as follows: Prescription
Pharmaceuticals-$515, Consumer Health Care-$25, Animal
Health-$4 and Corporate and other-$55.
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The Company has subsidiaries in more than 50 countries out-
side the U.S.. No single foreign country, except for France,
ltaly and Japan, accounted for 5 percent or more of consol-
idated net sales during the past three years. Net sales are
presented in the geographic area in which the Company’s
customers are located.

Accounting Trends & Techniques

2004 2003 2002
Total International Sales $5,053 61% $4,775 57% $4,419 43%
France 729 9% 691 8% 613 6%
Italy 443 5% 436 5% 339 3%
Japan 385 5% 414 5% 524 5%
Net Sales by Customer

2004 2003 2002
McKesson Corporation $868 10% $667 8% $2,092 21%
AmeriSourceBergen Corporation 589 7% 771 9% 1,101 1%
No single customer, except for McKesson Corporation and
AmeriSourceBergen Corporation, two major pharmaceutical
and health care products distributors, accounted for 10 per-
cent or more of consolidated net sales during the past three 1.28

years.

Long-Lived Assets by Geographic Location

2004 2003 2002
United States $2,447 $2,507 $2,477
Ireland 449 444 430
Singapore 884 828 668
Puerto Rico 298 317 300
Other 768 726 613
Total $4,846 $4,822 $4,488

Long-lived assets shown by geographic location are primarily
property.

Sales of products comprising 10 percent or more of the
Company’s U.S. or international sales for the year ended De-
cember 31, 2004, were as follows:

us. International
REMICADE $ — $746
CLARINEX 420 272
OTC CLARITIN 403 16
NASONEX 353 242

Schering-Plough net sales do not include sales of VYTORIN
and ZETIA that are marketed in partnership with Merck, as
the Company accounts for this joint venture under the eqg-
uity method of accounting. See Note 3 “Equity Income From
Cholesterol Joint Venture.”

The Company does not disaggregate assets on a segment
basis for internal management reporting and, therefore, such
information is not presented.

ATT-SEC 1.28

VERIZON COMMUNICATIONS INC. (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in millions)

Note 1 (In Part): Description of Business and Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business

Verizon Communications inc. (Verizon) is one of the world’s
leading providers of communications services. Verizon’s do-
mestic wireline telecommunications business provides local
telephone services, including broadband, in 29 states and
Washington, D.C. and nationwide long-distance and other
communications products and services. The domestic wire-
line consumer business generally provides local, broadband
and long distance services to customers. Our domestic wire-
line business also provides a variety of services to other
telecommunications carriers as well as large and small busi-
nesses. Verizon’s domestic wireless business provides wire-
less voice and data products and services across the United
States using one of the most extensive wireless networks. In-
formation Services operates directory publishing businesses
and provides electronic commerce services. Verizon’s inter-
national presence includes wireline and wireless communica-
tions operations and investments, primarily in the Americas
and Europe. We have four reportable segments, which we
operate and manage as strategic business units: Domestic
Telecom, Domestic Wireless, Information Services and In-
ternational. For further information concerning our business
segments, see Note 18.
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Note 8 (In Part): Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill
Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill are as follows:

37

Information
Domestic Telecom Services International Total
Balance at December 31, 2002 $314 $112 $446 $872
Goodwill reclassifications and other — (35) 2) (37)
Balance at December 31, 2003 314 77 444 835
Goodwill reclassifications and other 1 — 1 2
Balance at December 31, 2004 $315 $ 77 $445 $837

Note 18. Segment Information

Reportable Segments

We have four reportable segments, which we operate and
manage as strategic business units and organize by prod-
ucts and services. We measure and evaluate our reportable
segments based on segment income. This segment income
excludes unallocated corporate expenses and other adjust-
ments arising during each period. The other adjustments in-
clude transactions that the chief operating decision makers
exclude in assessing business unit performance due primar-
ily to their non-recurring and/or non-operational nature. Al-
though such transactions are excluded from the business
segment results, they are included in reported consolidated
earnings. Gains and losses that are not individually signifi-
cant are included in all segment results, since these items are
included in the chief operating decision makers’ assessment
of unit performance. These are mostly contained in Informa-
tion Services and International since they actively manage
investment portfolios.

Our segments and their principal activities consist of the
following:

Domestic Telecom

Domestic wireline communications services, principally rep-
resenting our telephone operations that provide local tele-
phone services in 29 states and Washington, D.C. These ser-
vices include voice and data transport, enhanced and custom
calling features, network access, directory assistance, pri-
vate lines and public telephones. This segment also provides
long distance services, customer premises equipment distri-
bution, data solutions and systems integration, billing and
collections, Internet access services and inventory manage-
ment services.

Domestic Wireless

Domestic wireless products and services include wireless
voice and data services and equipment sales across the
United States.

Information Services

Directory publishing business, including print directories, Su-
perPages.com online search services, as well as website cre-
ation and other electronic commerce services. This segment
has operations principally in the United States.

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques
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International

International wireline and wireless communications opera-
tions and investments primarily in the Americas, as well as
investments in Europe.

The following table provides operating financial informa-
tion for our four reportabie segments:

Domestic Domestic Information Total
2004 Telecom Wireless Services International Segments
External revenues $37,689 $27,586 $3,615 $ 1,982 $ 70,872
Intersegment revenues 862 76 — 32 970
Total operating revenues 38,551 27,662 3,615 2,014 71,842
Cost of services and sales 15,019 7,747 546 626 23,938
Selling, general & administrative expense 8,781 9,591 1,331 471 20,174
Depreciation & amortization expense 8,939 4,486 87 324 13,836
Total operating expenses 32,739 21,824 1,964 1,421 57,948
Operating income 5,812 5,838 1,651 593 13,894
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated businesses — 45 — 1,031 1,076
Income from other unconsolidated businesses — - — 31 31
Other income and (expense), net 103 1 15 35 164
Interest expense (1,638) (661) (33) (85) (2,417)
Minority interest — (2,323) (6) (80} (2,409)
Provision for income taxes (1,530) (1,265) (629) (300) (3,724)
Segment income $ 2,747 $ 1645 $ 998 $ 1,225 $ 6615
Assets $78,824 $68,027 $1,680 $14,885 $163,416
Investments in unconsolidated businesses 3 148 4 4,914 5,069
Plant, property and equipment, net 50,608 20,516 179 2,391 73,694
Capital expenditures 7,118 5,633 87 382 13,220
2003
External revenues $38,828 $22,436 $3,830 $ 1,921 $ 67,015
Intersegment revenues 774 53 — 28 855
Total operating revenues 39,602 22,489 3,830 1,949 67,870
Cost of services and sales 14,708 6,460 559 574 22,301
Selling, general & administrative expense 8,517 8,057 1,400 691 18,665
Depreciation & amortization expense 9,217 3,888 79 346 13,530
Sales of businesses, net — — (141) — (141)
Total operating expenses 32,442 18,405 1,897 1,611 54,355
Operating income 7,160 4,084 1,933 338 13,515
Equity in earnings (loss) of unconsolidated businesses — 15 (N 1,091 1,105
Income (loss) from other unconsolidated businesses 4) — — 169 165
Other income and (expense), net 47 12 6 32 97
Interest expense (1,682) (626) (38) (160) (2,506)
Minority interest — (1,554) (8) (20) (1,582)
Provision for income taxes (2,186) (848) (735) (58) (3,827)
Segment income $ 3,335 $ 1,083 $1,157 $ 1,392 $ 6,967
Assets $82,087 $65,166 $1,726 $11,872 $160,851
investments in unconsolidated businesses 64 288 4 4,555 4,911
Plant, property and equipment, net 53,378 18,998 190 2,164 74,730
Capital expenditures 6,820 4,590 74 358 11,842
(continued)
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Domestic Domestic Information Total
2002 Telecom Wireless Services International Segments
External revenues $40,260 $19,424 $4,039 $ 2,191 $ 65,914
Intersegment revenues 579 49 — 28 656
Total operating revenues 40,839 19,473 4,039 2,219 66,570
Cost of services and sales 13,390 5,456 643 586 20,075
Selling, general & administrative expense 9,048 7,084 1,343 610 18,085
Depreciation & amortization expense 9,456 3,293 66 376 13,191
Total operating expenses 31,894 15,833 2,052 1,572 51,351
Operating income 8,945 3,640 1,987 647 15,219
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated businesses — 13 1 644 658
Income from other unconsolidated businesses — — — 218 218
Other income and (expense), net 84 28 10 61 183
Interest expense (1,745) (626) (35) (238) (2,644)
Minority interest — (1,349) (16) (102 (1,467)
Provision for income taxes (2,920) (740) (736) (78) (4,474)
Segment income $ 4,364 $ 966 $1,211 $ 1,152 $ 7,693
Assets $82,257 $63,470 $3,591 $10,650 $159,968
Investments in unconsolidated businesses 70 289 9 3,603 3,971
Plant, property and equipment, net 52,582 17,690 237 2,432 72,941
Capital expenditures 8,004 4,414 158 421 12,997
AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques ATT-SEC 1.28
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Reconciliation to Consolidated Financial Information

A reconciliation of the results for the operating segments to
the applicable line items in the consolidated financial state-
ments is as follows:

2004 2003 2002
Operating revenues
Total reportable segments $ 71,842 $ 67,870 $ 66,570
Non-strategic access line sales — — 623
Corporate, eliminations and other (559) (402) (137)
Consolidated operating revenues—reported $ 71,283 $ 67,468 $ 67,056
Operating expenses
Total reportable segments $ 57,948 $ 54,355 $ 51,351
Non-strategic access line sales — - 241
Sales of businesses and investments, net 100 300 (2,747)
Transition costs — — 510
Severance, pension and benefit charges 815 5,523 1,949
Investment-related charges — — 732
NorthPoint settlement - - 175
MCI exposure, lease impairment and other special items 91) 496 593
Corporate, eliminations and other (606) (613) (625)
Consolidated operating expenses—reported $ 58,166 $ 60,061 $ 52,179
Net income
Segment income—reportable segments $ 6615 $ 6,967 $ 7,693
Sales of businesses and investments, net 1,059 44 1,895
Transition costs — — (288)
Severance, pension and benefit charges (499) (3,399) {1,264)
Investment-related charges — — (5,652)
NorthPoint settiement — — (114)
MCI exposure, lease impairment and other special items 2 (419) (469)
lusacell charge — (931) —
Tax benefits 234 — 2,104
Income (loss) on discontinued operations 54 46 (13)
Cumulative effect of accounting change — 503 (496)
Corporate and other 366 266 683
Consolidated net income—reported $ 7,831 $ 3,077 $ 4,079
Assets
Total reportable segments $163,416 $160,851 $159,968
Reconciling items 2,542 5117 7,500
Consolidated assets $165,958 $165,968 $167,468
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Results of operations for Domestic Telecom exclude the ef-
fects of the non-strategic access lines sold in 2002. In addi-
tion, the transfer of Global Solutions Inc. from International
to Domestic Telecom effective January 1, 2003 is reflected in
this financial information as if it had occurred for all periods
presented. Financial information for International excludes
the effects of lusacell. Financial information for Information
Services excludes the effects of Verizon Information Services
Canada.

Corporate, eliminations and other includes unallocated
corporate expenses, intersegment eliminations recorded in
consolidation, the results of other businesses such as lease
financing, and asset impairments and expenses that are not
allocated in assessing segment performance due to their
non-recurring nature.

We generally account for intersegment sales of products
and services and asset transfers at current market prices. We
are not dependent on any single customer.

Geographic Areas

Our foreign investments are located principally in the Amer-
icas and Europe. Domestic and foreign operating revenues
are based on the location of customers. Long-lived assets
consist of plant, property and equipment (net of accumu-
lated depreciation) and investments in unconsolidated busi-
nesses. The table below presents financial information by
major geographic area:

2004 2003 2002
Domestic
Operating revenues $69,173 $65,303 $64,576
Long-lived assets 72,668 74,346 72,726
Foreign
Operating revenues 2,110 2,165 2,480
Long-lived assets 7,311 6,745 6,009
Consolidated
Operating revenues 71,283 67,468 67,056
Long-lived assets 79,979 81,091 78,735

NATURAL BUSINESS YEAR

1.29 A natural business year is the period of 12 consecu-
tive months which ends when the business activities of an
entity have reached the lowest point in their annual cycle.
In many instances, the natural business year of a company
ends December 31.

1.30 Table 1-4 summarizes, by the month in which a fiscal
year ends, the fiscal year endings of the survey companies.
For tabulation purposes, if a fiscal year ended in the first week
of a month, the fiscal year was considered to have ended in
the preceding month.
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1.31 For 2004, 159 survey companies were on a 52-53
week fiscal year. During 2004, 5 survey companies changed
the date of their fiscal year end. Examples of fiscal year end
changes and of fiscal year definitions follow.

1.32
TABLE 1-4: MONTH OF FISCAL YEAR END
2004 2003 2002 2001

January ..o 30 30 31 32
February........cccovenrminccnniecnn. 8 9 9 10
March........ovcerrvieercee e 17 16 16 16
April. 9 8 7 8
May..... 18 18 21 18
June 4 49 49 48
JUY e 1 8 8 8
AUGUSL.....corieerrcireecesiee 11 14 14 15
September ... 44 42 42 38
October....... 19 17 16 19
November... 12 13 13 15
Subtotal........ccoeremrnnrrnrirennenns 220 224 226 227
December..........coceeeeeeirienons 380 376 374 373
Total Companies........ceeevesienns 600 600 600 600
ATT-SEC 1.32
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Change in Date of Fiscal Year End
1.33
DIMON INCORPORATED

Statements of Consolidated Income and
Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Balance Sheet

Statement of Consolidated Cash Flows

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note A (In Part): Significant Accounting Policies

Change in Fiscal Year

On June 23, 2003, our Board of Directors adopted a change
in fiscal year end from June 30 to March 31. The primary pur-
pose of the change is to better match the financial reporting
cycle with natural global crop cycles for leaf tobacco. As a
result of this change, the Company has a nine month transi-
tion period ended March 31, 2004. The Company’s new fiscal
year 2005 began on April 1, 2004. Condensed consolidated
comparative financial data for the nine months ended March
31, 2004 and 2003, are summarized below:

Nine Months
Nine Months Ended March
Ended March 31,2003
(In thousands) 31, 2004 (unaudited)
Sales and other operating revenues $835,291 $875,614
Gross profit 103,223 138,461
Selling, administrative and general
expenses 90,327 77,802
Restructuring and asset impairment
charges 29,480 —
Interest expense 32,167 34,268
Interest income 6,397 2,455
Derivative financial instruments
(income) expense (6,522) 10,371
Income taxes (benefit) (652) 4,249
Equity in net income (loss) of
investee companies (480) (171)
Minority interests (income) (2,792) 55
Net income (loss) $ (32,868) $ 14,000
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic $ (0.73) $ 031
Diluted $ (0.73) $ 031
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March 31, 2004

March 31, 2004

Nine Months Ended
March 31, 2004

Years Ended June 30,
2003 2002

June 30, 2003

Years Ended June 30,
2003 2002
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1.34
UNIVERSAL CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Income

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Consolidation (in Part)

Prior to March 31, 2004, the fiscal years of foreign sub-
sidiaries generally ended three months before the Company’s
year end to facilitate timely reporting. The financial impact of
intervening events materially affecting the consolidated fi-
nancial position or results of operations were disclosed or
recognized in the financial statements. The reporting lag for
foreign subsidiaries was eliminated in connection with the
Company’s change in fiscal year end. See Note 2 for addi-
tional information on the change in year end and elimination
of the foreign reporting lag.

Note 2. Change in Fiscal Year End and Elimination of
Reporting Lag for Foreign Subsidiaries

The Company changed its fiscal year end from June 30 to
March 31, effective March 31, 2004. In addition to better
matching the fiscal reporting period with the crop and oper-
ating cycles of the Company’s largest operations, the change
allowed the Company to eliminate the three-month reporting
lag previously used for most of its foreign subsidiaries. As
of March 31, 2004, all of the Company’s consolidated sub-
sidiaries have the same fiscal reporting period.

The consolidated statements of income, cash flows, and
changes in shareholders’ equity reflect audited results for
the nine-month transition year ended March 31, 2004 and
the fiscal years ended June 30, 2003 and 2002. The con-
solidated balance sheets reflect the audited financial posi-
tion of the Company at March 31, 2004, and June 30, 2003.
Net income of foreign subsidiaries for the three-month pe-
riod ended March 31, 2004, representing the elimination of
the reporting lag, is reflected as an addition to retained earn-
ings in the consolidated statement of changes in sharehold-
ers’ equity. In addition, the net change in cash and cash
equivalents of foreign subsidiaries for this three-month pe-
riod is reported on a separate line in the consolidated state-
ment of cash flows. Note 14 provides unaudited summary
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Nine Months Ended Fiscal Years Ended June 30,
March 31, 2004 2003 2002

March 31, 2004 June 30, 2003

Nine Months Ended Fiscal Years Ended June 30,
March 31, 2004 2003 2002

financial information recast to show consolidated historical
results without the reporting lag for foreign subsidiaries.

The Company’s U.S. tobacco operations recognize fixed
factory overhead expense in the periods in which tobacco is
processed. Since processing does not normally occur during
the period between April 1 and June 30, the projected over-
head expense for that period has historically been allocated
to the preceding three quarters of each fiscal year, based on
volumes processed. Because of the change in fiscal year end
to March 31, the U.S. factory overhead expense for the period
April 1 through June 30, 2004, will be reported in fiscal year
2005 results, and will be allocated to the subsequent quar-
ters of that fiscal year. As a result, operating income for the
nine-month transition year ended March 31, 2004, reflects
favorable comparisons to prior fiscal years. Had the 2004
transition year included the estimated fixed factory overhead
expense for April 1 through June 30, 2004, tobacco segment
operating income would have been approximately $11 million
lower.

Definition of Fiscal Year
1.35
CONAGRA FOODS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Fiscal Year

The fiscal year of ConAgra Foods, Inc. (“ConAgra Foods” or
the “company”) ends the last Sunday in May. The fiscal years
for the consolidated financial statements presented consist
of a 53-week period for fiscal year 2004 and 52-week periods
for fiscal years 2003 and 2002.
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1.36
THE PEPSI BOTTLING GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 2 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Fiscal Year

Our U.S. and Canadian operations report using a fiscal year
that consists of fifty-two weeks, ending on the last Satur-
day in December. Every five or six years a fifty-third week is
added. Fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002 each consisted
of fifty-two weeks. In 2005, our fiscal year will consist of
fifty-three weeks (the additional week is added to the fourth
quarter). Our remaining countries report using a calendar-
year basis. Accordingly, we recognize our quarterly business
results as outlined below:

Quarter U.S. & Canada Mexico & Europe

First Quarter 12 weeks January and February

Second Quarter 12 weeks March, April and May

Third Quarter 12 weeks June, July and August

Fourth Quarter 16 weeks September, October,
November and December

1.37

SEARS, ROEBUCK AND CO.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Fiscal Year

The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday nearest De-
cember 31. Unless otherwise stated, references to years in
this report relate to fiscal years rather than to calendar years.

Fiscal Year Ended Weeks
2004 January 1, 2005 52
2003 January 3, 2004 53
2002 December 28, 2002 52

COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.38 Rule 14a-3 requires that annual reports to stock-
holders should include comparative balance sheets, and
statements of income and of cash flows for each of the 3
most recent fiscal years. All of the survey companies are reg-
istered with the SEC and conformed to the aforementioned
requirements of Rule 14a-3.

1.39 In their annual reports, the survey companies usually
present an income statement as the first financial statement.
For 2004, 327 survey companies presented an income state-
ment first followed by a balance sheet; 220 survey companies
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presented a balance sheet first followed by an income state-
ment; 18 survey companies presented an income statement
first followed by a statement of cash flows; and 19 survey
companies presented an income statement first combined
with a statement of comprehensive income or followed by a
separate statement of comprehensive income.

1.40 Prior to 1986, the financial statements, with rare ex-
ception, were presented on consecutive pages. Beginning in
1986 certain survey companies did not present their financial
statements on consecutive pages but interspersed the Man-
agement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations among the financial statements
by having comments discussing the content of a financial
statement follow the presentation of a financial statement.
Such interspersed material was not covered by an auditor’s
report and was not presented in lieu of notes. For 2004, 3
survey companies did not present their financial statements
on consecutive pages.

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS

1.41 Table 1-5 shows that most of the survey companies
state financial statement amounts in either thousands or mil-
lions of dollars.

1.42
TABLE 1-5: ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS
2004 2003 2002 2001

To nearest dollar............ccovvverenenne. 12 21 21 20
To nearest thousands dollars:
Omitting 000.........oevereeerrerrinrirerinns 322 322 336 334
Presenting 000......ccccocrnmrernnines 3 5 4 4
To nearest million dollars................... 263 252 239 242

Total Companies.......c.oueeeseseasenses 600 600 600 600
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.43 SEC Regulations S-X, Accounting Rules—Form and
Content of Financial Statements, and S-K, and Statement on
Auditing Standards (SAS) No. 32, Adequacy of Disclosure in
Financial Statements, state the need for adequate disclosure
in financial statements. Normally the financial statements
alone cannot present all information necessary for adequate
disclosure without considering appended notes which dis-
close information of the sort listed below:

Changes in accounting principles.
Retroactive adjustments.
Long-term lease agreements.
Assets subject to lien.

Preferred stock data.

Pension and retirement plans.

Restrictions on the availability of retained earnings for cash
dividend purposes.

Contingencies and commitments.
Depreciation and depletion policies.
Stock option or stock purchase plans.
Consolidation policies.

Computation of earnings per share.
Subsequent events.

Quarterly data.

Segment information.

Financial instruments.

1.44 Table 1-6 summarizes the manner in which financial
statements refer to notes. Notes on specific topics are illus-
trated in this publication in the sections dealing with such
topics.

1.45

TABLE 1-6: NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2004 2003 2002 2001
General reference only.........cc.......... 514 509 514 475
General and direct references.. 86 91 85 124
Direct reference only.........cccccoevence. — — 1 1

Total Companies..........coocceerrrerrrernnes 600 600 600 600

DISCLOSURE OF ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

1.46 Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 22,
Disclosure of Accounting Policies, requires that the signifi-
cant accounting policies of an entity be presented as an in-
tegral part of the financial statements of the entity. APB Opin-
ion No. 22 sets forth guidelines as to the content and format
of disclosures of accounting policies. APB Opinion No. 22
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states that the preferable format is to present a Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies preceding notes to financial
statements or as the initial note. During 2004, 467 survey
companies presented the Summary of Significant Account-
ing Policies as either the first footnote or as a separate pre-
sentation following the last financial statement and preced-
ing the footnotes. Of the remainder, most survey companies
presented the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
as the second footnote following a footnote which described
the nature of operations.

1.47 Table 1-7 shows the nature of information frequently
disclosed in summaries of accounting policies and the num-
ber of survey companies disclosing such information. Exam-
ples of summaries of accounting policies follows.

1.48
TABLE 1-7: DISCLOSURE OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Number of Companies
2004 2003 2002 2001
Revenue recognition.............ccvneen. 586 587 584 574
Consolidation policy...........cc.ccomeenne. 572 572 576 587
Use of estimates.......ccc.eveerecernreerninns 570 571 576 577

Property.......cccooeceevvevoesensincrnieenenns 565 562 556 543
Stock-based compensation................ 554 567 483 335
Cash equivalents............cccoecerierrernnes 553 551 537 543
Depreciation methods............c.veeennee. 547 552 567 584
Impairment............ocoevereceenerinerens 526 503 540 533
Amortization of intangibles................ 515 512 509 495
Inventory pricing........co....... 514 518 522 523
Financial instruments....... 496 505 487 450
Interperiod tax allocation 477 464 444 418
Translation of foreign currency.......... 436 441 420 407
Earnings per share calculation.......... 370 402 386 383
Nature of operations 295 325 361 329
Advertising COStS.......oveverviunceenirinnns 273 271 250 227
Research and development costs..... 217 213 206 186
Credit risk concentrations.................. 184 189 178 167
Fiscal Years.........c.coeverrrrmrmneererranninens 166 176 181 175
Employee benefits ..o, 149 172 167 133
Environmental costs.........c.ccccvinennee 134 138 133 131
Capitalization of interest..................... 85 92 89 87

1.49
IDT CORPORATION (JUL)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business

IDT Corporation (“IDT” or the “Company”) is a multinational
telecommunications and entertainment company. IDT Tele-
com is the Company’s largest division, focused on marketing
and selling prepaid and rechargeable calling cards, whole-
sale carrier services and local and long consumer distance
phone services. IDT Entertainment is the Company’s second
largest division, comprised of complementary operations and
investments that enables it to acquire, develop, finance and
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produce animated entertainment programming and to dis-
tribute filmed entertainment content to the mass market.
IDT’s Voice over IP segment consists mostly of Net2Phone,
Inc., a provider of VoIP telephony products and services
and of cable and other broadband telephony services. The
Company’s IDT Capital (formerly known as Menlo Park and,
before that, IDT Media) segment consists primarily of IDT’s
brochure distribution and radio operations. The Company’s
announced the reorganization of the IDT Solutions segment,
which consists of Winstar Holdings, LLC. Once the reorgani-
zation is complete, IDT Solutions will no longer provide retail
switched communication services to commercial customer.
IDT Solutions currently provides communications services
only to select governmental customers in 14 markets.

Basis of Consolidation and Accounting for Investments

The method of accounting applied to long-term investments,
whether consolidated, equity or cost, involves an evaluation
of the significant terms of each investment that explicitly
grant or suggest evidence of control or influence over the
operations of the investee and also includes the identifica-
tion of any variable interests in which the Company is the
primary beneficiary. The consolidated financial statements
include IDT’s controlled subsidiaries that are not considered
variable interest entities. The Company has not identified any
variable interests in which the Company is the primary bene-
ficiary. Investments in businesses that IDT does not control,
but has the ability to exercise significant influence over op-
erating and financial matters, are accounted for using the
equity method. Investments in which IDT does not have the
ability to exercise significant influence over operating and fi-
nancial matters are accounted for using the cost method.
Equity and cost method investments are included in invest-
ments in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. All
intercompany transactions between the consolidated sub-
sidiaries are eliminated. The Company periodically evaluates
its cost method investments for impairment due to declines
considered to be other than temporary. Such impairment
evaluations include, in addition to persistent, declining mar-
ket prices, general economic and company-specific evalua-
tions. If the Company determines that a decline in cost value
is other than temporary, then a charge to earnings is recorded
in investment and other income (expense), net in the accom-
panying consolidated statements of operations for all or a
portion of the unrealized loss, and a new cost basis in the
investment is established.

The effect of any changes in the Company’s ownership
interests resulting from the issuance of equity by one of
its consolidated subsidiaries is included in the consolidated
statements of operations in gain on sale of subsidiary stock.

Marketable Securities

The Company has investments in marketable securities that
are considered “available-for-sale” under Statement of Fi-
nancial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 115, Accounting
for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. Under
SFAS No. 115, available-for-sale securities are required to
be carried at their fair value, with unrealized gains and losses
(net of income taxes) that are considered temporary in na-
ture recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
The fair values of the Company’s investments in marketable
securities are determined based on market quotations. The
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Company periodically evaluates its investments in mar-
ketable securities for impairment due to declines in market
value considered to be other than temporary. Such impair-
ment evaluations include, in addition to persistent, declining
market prices, general economic and company-specific eval-
uations, If the Company determines that a decline in market
value is other than temporary, then a charge to earnings is
recorded in investment and other income (expense), netin the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations for all
or a portion of the unrealized loss, and a new cost basis in
the investment is established.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform
to the current year’s presentation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires man-
agement to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompa-
nying notes. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition

Traditional voice and Voice over IP (VoIP) telephony services
sold by IDT Telecom and Net2Phone are generally recog-
nized as revenue when services are provided, primarily on a
per usage basis and/or a per monthly fee. Revenues derived
from sales of calling cards is deferred upon sale of the cards.
These deferred revenues are recognized when call usage of
the cards occur, administrative fees are imposed, or no fur-
ther obligations exist with respect to a calling card. Revenues
from high-speed Internet and data services and local and
long-distance voice services at IDT Solutions are recognized
when services are provided. Net2Phone’s per subscriber ac-
tivation fees which are invoiced based on contracted service
commitment levels, are deferred when invoiced and recog-
nized as revenue over the remaining life of the service agree-
ment.

Revenues generated by IDT Entertainment relating to pro-
prietary programs is recognized in accordance with State-
ment of Position (“SOP”) 00-02, Accounting by Producers of
Distributors of Films as programs are exploited in the mar-
kets in which the Company has retained ownership rights,
typically upon the receipt of statements from the Company’s
licensees. In the event that a licensee pays the Company a
nonrefundable minimum guarantee at the beginning of a li-
cense term, the Company will record this amount as revenue
when all of the criteria for recognition pursuant to SOP 00-02
are met.

Revenues generated by IDT Entertainment relating to
fee-for-hire productions is recognized in accordance with
SOP 81-1, Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type
Contracts and Certain Production-Type Contracts. Revenues
from fixed-price contracts are recognized under the percent-
age of completion method, measured by actual cost incurred
to date versus an estimate of the remaining costs to complete
each production. This method is used because management
considers estimated costs to complete to be the best avail-
able measure of progress on these contracts.
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Revenues generated by IDT Entertainment relating to video
distribution activities are recognized upon the estimated re-
ceipt of the product by the customer.

Cost Recognition

Direct cost of revenues at IDT Telecom and Net2Phone con-
sist primarily of termination costs, toll-free and payphone
costs, and network costs——including customer/carrier inter-
connect charges and leased fiber circuit charges. Direct cost
of revenues at IDT Solutions also includes connectivity costs
relating to its fixed wireless network backbone and leased
property costs relating to its network of buildings, hubs and
switches. Direct cost of revenues excludes depreciation and
amortization expense.

Direct cost of revenues at IDT Entertainment consist
primarily of production labor costs, direct product costs,
postage, shipping and royalty expenses. Costs incurred on
proprietary programs such as the acquisition of story rights,
the development of stories, production labor and allocable
overhead are capitalized as film costs. Film costs are stated
at the lower of unamortized cost or fair value. Film costs for
each proprietary program are amortized based on the pro-
portion that current revenues from that proprietary program
bear to an estimate of the total revenues (ultimate revenues)
expected to be realized from such program. Costs incurred in
connection with fee-for-hire productions are capitalized and
subsequently amortized to cost of revenues at the time rev-
enue is recognized. If the costs of a production is expected
to exceed the corresponding anticipated revenue stream,
then all costs incurred in excess of this revenue stream is
expensed to cost of revenues when incurred. .

Film libraries generally include the unamortized cost of
completed theatrical films and television series, theatrical
films and television series in production, and film rights ac-
quired for the home video market. Film libraries are amortized
based on the proportion that current revenues from the films
bear to an estimate of total revenues anticipated from all mar-
kets. Ultimate revenue estimates range from 3 to 15 years,
depending on the nature and type of the property. These es-
timates are revised periodically and losses, if any, are written
down in full.

Exploitation costs are charged to selling, general and ad-
ministrative expense as incurred.

Purchase of Network Capacity

Purchases of network capacity pursuant to Indefeasible
Rights of Use (“IRU”) agreements are capitalized at cost and
amortized over the term of the capacity agreement, which is
generally 15 years. Historically, we have not been a provider
of network capacity.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Equipment, buildings, and furniture and fixtures are recorded
at cost and are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives, which range as follows: equipment-5
to 7 years; buildings-40 years; and furniture and fixtures-5 to
7 years. Leasehold improvements are recorded at cost and
are depreciated on a straight line basis over the term of their
lease or their estimated useful lives, whichever is shorter.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impair-
ment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (“SFAS No. 144”), the
Company periodically reviews the carrying value of its prop-
erty and equipment and its intangible assets, with finite lives,
to test whether current events or circumstances indicate that
such carrying value may not be recoverable. If the tests in-
dicate that the carrying value of the asset is greater than
the expected undiscounted cash flows to be generated by
such asset, then an impairment adjustment needs to be rec-
ognized. Such adjustment consists of the amount by which
the carrying value of such asset exceeds its fair value. The
Company generally measures fair value by considering sale
prices for similar assets or by discounting estimated future
cash flows from such asset using an appropriate discount
rate. Considerable management judgment is necessary to
estimate the fair value of assets, and accordingly, actual re-
sults could vary significantly from such estimates. Assets to
be disposed of are carried at the lower of their carrying value
or fair value less costs to sell.

Aadvertising Expense

The majority of the Company’s advertising expense budget
is used to support IDT Telecom’s consumer phone services
business. Most of the advertisements are in print or televi-
sion media, with expenses recorded as they are incurred.

" Some of the advertising for the consumer phone services

business is also done on a cost-per-acquisition basis, where
the Company pays the provider of advertising based on a
fixed amount per each customer who becomes a subscriber
of its services. In such cases, the expenses are recorded
based on the number of customers who were added during
the period in question. For the years ended July 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002, included in selling, general and adminis-
trative expenses was advertising expense totaling approxi-
mately $63.6 million, $36.3 million and $18.8 million, respec-
tively.

Software Development Costs

Costs for the internal development of new software prod-
ucts and for substantial enhancements to existing software
products to be sold are expensed as incurred until techno-
logical feasibility has been established, at which time any
additional costs are capitalized. For the years ended July 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002, included in selling, general and admin-
istrative expenses are research and development costs total-
ing approximately $8.2 million, $5.4 million and $9.4 million,
respectively.

Capitalized Internal Use Software Costs

The Company capitalizes the cost of internal-use software
that has a useful life in excess of one year in accordance
with SOP 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Soft-
ware Developed or Obtained for Internal Use. These costs
consist of payments made to third parties and the salaries
of employees working on such software development. Sub-
sequent additions, modifications or upgrades to internal-use
software are capitalized only to the extent that they allow
the software to perform a task it previously did not perform.
Software maintenance and training costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred. Capitalized internal use
software costs are amortized using the straight-line method
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over their estimated useful lives, generally consisting of 3to 7
years. For the years ended July 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, the
Company capitalized $9.6 million, $16.7 million and $6.9 mil-
lion, respectively, of internal use software costs as computer
software. Amortization expense relating to such capitalized
software for the years ended July 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
was $1.7 million, $2.2 million and $1.4 million, respectively.

Repairs and Maintenance

The Company charges the cost of repairs and maintenance,
including the cost of replacing minor items not constituting
substantial betterment, to selling, general and administrative
expenses as these costs are incurred.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a
maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash
equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at cost,
which approximates market value. The Company holds cash
and cash equivalents and marketable securities at several
major financial institutions, which often exceed FDIC insured
limits. Historically, the Company has not experienced any
losses due to such concentration of credit risk.

Goodwill and Other Intangibles

Goodwill is the excess of the acquisition cost of businesses
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired. Ef-
fective August 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142,
Gooawill and Other Intangible Assets and, as required, the
Company no longer amortizes goodwill and other indefinite
lived intangible assets. These assets are reviewed annually
(or more frequently under various conditions) for impairment
using a fair value approach. Intangible assets that do not
have indefinite lives are amortized over their useful lives and
reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144.
Costs associated with obtaining the right to use trademark,
licenses and patents owned by third parties are capitalized
and amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the
trademark licenses and patents. Acquired licenses and core
technology are capitalized and amortized on a straight-line
basis over 3 to 5 years. For additional information on the im-
pact of adopting SFAS No. 142, see Note 5.

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries denominated in
foreign currencies at July 31 are translated to U.S. Dollars
at year-end rates of exchange, and their monthly results of
operations are translated to U.S. Dollars at the average rates
of exchange for that month. Gains or losses resulting from
such foreign currency translations are recorded in accumu-
lated other comprehensive income (loss) in the accompany-
ing consolidated balance sheets.

Income Taxes

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities
for the future tax consequences attributable to differences
between the financial statements carrying amounts of exist-
ing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. A
valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than
not that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not
be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets
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depends on the generation of future taxable income during
the period in which related temporary differences become
deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal
of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income and
tax planning strategies in this assessment. Deferred tax as-
sets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which
those temporary differences are expected to be recovered
or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of
a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period
that includes the enactment date of such change.

Earnings Per Share

The Company computes earnings per share under the pro-
visions of SFAS No. 128, Earnings per Share, whereby basic
earnings per share is computed by dividing net income (loss)
attributable to all classes of common shareholders by the
weighted average number of shares of all classes of com-
mon stock outstanding during the applicable period. Diluted
earnings per share is determined in the same manner as ba-
sic earnings per share except that the number of shares is
increased to assume exercise of potentially dilutive stock op-
tions, unvested restricted stock and contingently issuable
shares using the treasury stock method, unless the effect
of such increase would be anti-dilutive. For the years ended
July 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, the diluted earnings per share
amounts equal basic earnings per share because the Com-
pany had net losses and the impact of the assumed exercise
of stock options, unvested restricted stock and contingently
issuable shares would have been anti-dilutive.

Vulnerability Due to Certain Concentrations

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company
to concentration of credit risk consist principally of cash and
cash equivalents, marketable securities and trade accounts
receivable. Concentration of credit risk with respect to trade
accounts receivable is limited due to the large number of
customers in various geographic regions and industry seg-
ments comprising the Company’s customer base. No sin-
gle customer accounted for more than 10% of consolidated
revenues in fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002. However, the Com-
pany’s five largest customers accounted for 12.0%, 14.5%
and 14.7% of its consolidated revenues in fiscal 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively. This concentration of customers in-
creases the Company’s risk associated with nonpayment by
these customers. Thus, in an effort to reduce risk, the Com-
pany performs ongoing credit evaluations of its significant
retail telecom, wholesale carrier and cable telephony cus-
tomers, as well as its significant video distribution and fee-
for-hire production customers. In light of the deteriorating
credit quality of some of our retail telecom and wholesale car-
rier customers, however, the Company has imposed stricter
credit restrictions on them. In addition, the Company often
attempts to mitigate the credit risk related to specific whole-
sale carrier customers by also buying services from the cus-
tomer in question, in order to create the offset opportunity
and reduce its net trade accounts receivable exposure risk.

The Company is also subject to risks associated with its in-
ternational operations, including changes in exchange rates,
difficulty in trade accounts receivable collection and longer
payment cycles. Management regularly monitors the credit-
worthiness of its domestic and international customers and
believes that it has adequately provided for any exposure to
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potential credit losses. Allowances for doubtful accounts are
based on management’s past collection experience and ex-
isting economic conditions. Doubtful accounts are written-off
upon final determination that such trade receivables will not
be collected.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The estimated fair value of financial instruments has been
determined using available market information or other ap-
propriate valuation methodologies. However, considerable
judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop
estimates of fair value. Consequently, the estimates are not
necessarily indicative of the amounts that could be realized
or would be paid in a current market exchange. At July 31,
2004, the carrying value of the Company’s trade accounts
receivable, other current assets, trade accounts payable, ac-
crued expenses, deferred revenue, capital lease obligations
and other current liabilities approximate fair value.

Stock Based Compensation

As permitted under SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation, as amended, the Company applies
APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Em-
ployees, and related Interpretations (“APB No. 25”) in ac-
counting for its stock option plans and, accordingly, com-
pensation cost is recognized for repriced options that are
subject to variable accounting treatment and therefore must
be marked-to-market each quarter. In addition, compensa-
tion cost is recognized for stock options if it relates to non-
qualified stock options for which the exercise price was less
than the fair market value of the Company’s stock as of the
date of grant. The compensation cost for these grants is
amortized to expense on a straight-line basis over their vest-
ing periods.

The following table illustrates the effect on net loss and
earnings per share if the Company had applied the fair value
based method of accounting provisions of SFAS No. 123 to
stock-based employee compensation for the years ended
July 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002:

(In thousands, except per share data) 2004 2003 2002
Net loss, as reported $ (95,711) $(17,517) $(303,349)
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net loss, net of related tax

effects and minority interests 7,526 10,847 3,766
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under the fair value based

method of accounting for all awards, net of related tax effects and minority interests (35,496) (38,688) (36,291)
Pro forma net loss $(123,681) $(45,358) $(335,874)

Earnings per share:

Basic—as reported $  (1.09) $ (0.22) $  (4.04)
Basic—pro forma $ (141) $ (0.57) $ (447)
Diluted—as reported $  (1.09) $ (0.22) $ (4.04)
Diluted—pro forma $ (141) $ (057) $ @47
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The fair value of stock options was estimated at the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the
following assumptions for vested and non-vested options:

Assumptions 2004 2003 2002
Average risk-free interest rate 294%  3.02% 4.22%
Dividend yield — — —

Volatility factor of the expected market

price of the Company’s Class B

common stock 42% 59% 73%
Average life 4years OSyears Syears

The Black-Scholes option pricing model was developed for
use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have
no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition,
option valuation models require the input of highly subjective
assumptions, including the expected stock price volatility.
Because the Company’s employee stock options have char-
acteristics significantly different from those of traded options,
and because changes in the subjective input assumptions
can materially affect the fair value estimate, in management’s
opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a re-
liable single measure of the fair value of its employees’ stock
options.

1.50
IRON MOUNTAIN INCORPORATED (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

a. Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying financial statements reflect our financial
position and results of operations on a consolidated basis.
Financial position and results of operations of Iron Mountain
Europe Limited (“IME”), our European subsidiary, are con-
solidated for the appropriate periods based on its fiscal year
ended October 31. All significant intercompany account bal-
ances have been eliminated or presented to reflect the un-
derlying economics of the transactions.

b. Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with ac-
counting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America requires us to make estimates, judgments and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, li-
abilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and for the period then ended. On an on-going
basis, we evaluate the estimates used, including those re-
lated to the allowance for doubtful accounts and credit
memos, impairments of tangible and intangible assets, in-
come taxes, purchase accounting related reserves, self-
insurance liabilities, incentive compensation liabilities, litiga-
tion liabilities and contingencies. We base our estimates on
historical experience, actuarial estimates, current conditions
and various other assumptions that we believe to be reason-
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able under the circumstances. These estimates form the ba-
sis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets
and liabilities and are not readily apparent from other sources.
We use these estimates to assist us in the identification
and assessment of the accounting treatment necessary with
respect to commitments and contingencies. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

c. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and cash
invested in short-term securities which have remaining matu-
rities at the date of purchase of less than 90 days. Cash and
cash equivalents are carried at cost, which approximates fair
value.

d. Foreign Currency Translation

Local currencies are considered the functional currencies for
most of our operations outside the United States. All as-
sets and liabilities are translated at period-end exchange
rates, and revenues and expenses are translated at aver-
age exchange rates for the applicable period, in accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”)
No. 52, “Foreign Currency Translation.” Resulting translation
adjustments are reflected in the accumulated other compre-
hensive items component of shareholders’ equity. The gain
or loss on foreign currency transactions, including those re-
lated to (a) U.S. dollar denominated 8% senior notes of
our Canadian subsidiary (the “Subsidiary notes”), (b) our
7'/,% GBP Senior Subordinated Notes due 2014 (the “77/,%
notes”), (c) the borrowings in certain foreign currencies under
our revolving credit agreements, and (d) the foreign currency
denominated intercompany obligations of our foreign sub-
sidiaries to us, are included in other (income) expense, net,
on our consolidated statements of operations. The total of
such net gains amounted to $5,043, $30,223 and $8,915 for
the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respec-
tively.

e. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities,” requires that every derivative instrument
be recorded in the balance sheet as either an asset or a liabil-
ity measured at its fair value. Periodically, we acquire deriva-
tive instruments that are intended to hedge either cash flows
or values which are subject to foreign exchange or other mar-
ket price risk, and not for trading purposes. We have formally
documented our hedging relationships, including identifica-
tion of the hedging instruments and the hedged items, as
well as our risk management objectives and strategies for
undertaking each hedge transaction. Given the recurring na-
ture of our revenues and the long term nature of our asset
base, we have the ability and the preference to use long term,
fixed interest rate debt to finance our business, thereby pre-
serving our long term returns on invested capital. We target a
range 80% to 85% of our debt portfolio to be long term and
fixed with respect to interest rates. Occasionally, we will use
floating to fixed interest rate swaps as a tool to maintain our
targeted level of fixed rate debt. In addition, we will use bor-
rowings in foreign currencies, either obtained in the U.S. or by
our foreign subsidiaries, to naturally hedge foreign currency
risk associated with our international investments. Some-
times we enter into currency swaps to temporarily hedge an
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overseas investment, such as a major acquisition, while we
arrange permanent financing.

f. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost and depre-
ciated using the straight-line method with the following useful
lives:

Buildings
Leasehold improvements

40 to 50 years
8 to 10 years or the life of
the lease, whichever is

shorter
Racking 5 to 20 years
Warehouse equipment 3 to 9 years
Vehicles 5to 10 years
Furniture and fixtures 2 to 5 years
Computer hardware and
software 3 to 5 years

Property, plant and equipment, at cost, consist of the
following:

2003 2004

Land and buildings $ 745838 $ 819,221
Leasehold improvements 144,244 181,452
Racking 598,101 699,104
Warehouse equipment/vehicles 88,127 117,740
Furniture and fixtures 41,996 51,075
Computer hardware and software 260,190 326,613
Construction in progress 72,397 71,634
$1,950,893 $2,266,839

Minor maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. Major
improvements which extend the life, increase the capacity
or improve the safety or the efficiency of property owned
are capitalized. Major improvements to leased buildings are
capitalized as leasehold improvements and depreciated.

We develop various software applications for internal use.
Payroll and related costs for employees who are directly as-
sociated with, and who devote time to, the development of
internal use computer software projects (to the extent of the
time spent directly on the project) are capitalized and depre-
ciated over the estimated useful life of the software. Cap-
italization begins when the design stage of the application
has been completed and it is probable that the project will
be completed and used to perform the function intended.
Depreciation begins when the software is placed in service.

We apply the provisions of Statement of Position 98-1,
“Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed
or Obtained for internal Use” (“SOP 98-1”) which requires
computer software costs associated with internal use soft-
ware to be expensed as incurred until certain capitalization
criteria are met. SOP 98-1 also defines which types of costs
should be capitalized and which should be expensed. The
computer software costs incurred and capitalized are being
depreciated over their useful lives or the useful lives of the
related assets.

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

g. Gooadwill and Other Intangible Assets

Effective July 1, 2001 and January 1, 2002, we adopted the
provisions of SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations” and
SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” re-
spectively. SFAS No. 141 requires all business combinations
initiated after June 30, 2001 to be accounted for using the
purchase method. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill and intan-
gible assets with indefinite lives are no longer amortized but
are reviewed annually for impairment or more frequently if
impairment indicators arise. Separable intangible assets that
are not deemed to have indefinite lives will continue to be
amortized over their useful lives.

Effective January 1, 2002, we reviewed goodwill for impair-
ment consistent with the guidelines of SFAS No. 142 using
a discounted future cash flow approach to approximate fair
value. The result of testing our goodwill for impairment in ac-
cordance with SFAS No. 142, as of January 1, 2002, was a
non-cash charge of $6,396 (net of minority interest of $8,487),
which, consistent with SFAS No. 142, is reported in the cap-
tion “cumulative effect of change in accounting principle”
in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.
Impairment adjustments recognized in the future, if any, are
generally required to be recognized as operating expenses.
The $6,396 charge relates to our South American reporting
unit within our international reporting segment. The South
American reporting unit failed the impairment test primarily
due to a reduction in the expected future performance of the
unit resulting from a deterioration of the local economic envi-
ronment and the devaluation of the currency in Argentina. As
goodwill amortization expense in our South American report-
ing unit is not deductible for tax purposes, this impairment
charge is not net of a tax benefit. We have a controlling 50.1%
interest in Iron Mountain South America, Ltd. (“IMSA”) and
the remainder is owned by an unaffiliated entity. IMSA has
acquired a controlling interest in entities in which local part-
ners have retained a minority interest in order to enhance our
local market expertise. These local partners have no owner-
ship interest in IMSA. This has caused the minority interest
portion of the non-cash goodwill impairment charge ($8,487)
to exceed our portion of the non-cash goodwill impairment
charge ($6,396). In accordance with SFAS No. 142, we se-
lected October 1 as our annual goodwill impairment review
date. We performed our annual goodwill impairment review
as of October 1, 2003 and 2004 and noted no impairment of
goodwill at our reporting units as of such dates. As of De-
cember 31, 2004, no factors were identified that would alter
this assessment.
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The changes in the carrying value of goodwill attributable
to each reportable operating segment for the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2004 is as follows:

Accounting Trends & Techniques

Business
Records Data Corporate Total
Management Protection International & Other  Consolidated
Balance as of December 31, 2002 $1,151,760 $237,178 $154,665 $ 1,371 $1,544,974
Deductible goodwill acquired during the year 18,998 7,675 136,178 — 162,851
Non-deductible goodwill acquired during the year 20,332 - 5,887 — 26,219
Adjustments to purchase reserves (613) (52) (285) — (950)
Fair value adjustments 3,097 (150) (4,385) — (1,438)
Currency effects and other adjustments 24,898 (30) 19,755 — 44,623
Balance as of December 31, 2003 1,218,472 244,621 311,815 1,371 1,776,279
Deductible goodwill acquired during the year 50,408 881 55,297 3,238 109,824
Non-deductible goodwill acquired during the year 11,106 1,599 11,141 73,667 97,513
Adjustments to purchase reserves (414) (104) 11,966 — 11,448
Fair value adjustments (1,701) (31) 940 — (792)
Currency effects and other adjustments 12,780 — 33,214 (49) 45,945
Balance as of December 31, 2004 $1,290,651 $246,966 $424,373 $78,227 $2,040,217

Estimated amortization expense for existing intangible as-
sets (excluding deferred financing costs which are amortized
through interest expense) for the next five succeeding fiscal
years is as follows:

Estimated Amortization Expense

2005 $14,672
2006 14,391
2007 14,193
2008 13,957
2009 13,920

h. Long-Lived Assets

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, we review long-lived as-
sets and all amortizable intangible assets (excluding good-
will) for impairment whenever events or changes in circum-
stances indicate the carrying amount of such assets may not
be recoverable. Recoverability of these assets is determined
by comparing the forecasted undiscounted net cash flows
of the operation to which the assets relate to their carrying
amount. The operations are generally distinguished by the
business segment and geographic region in which they op-
erate. If the operation is determined to be unable to recover
the carrying amount of its assets, then intangible assets are
written down first, followed by the other long-lived assets of
the operation, to fair value. Fair value is determined based on
discounted cash flows or appraised values, depending upon
the nature of the assets.

Consolidated losses on disposal/writedown of property,
plant and equipment, net of $774 in the year ended
December 31, 2002 consisted of disposals and asset write-
downs partially offset by a $2,091 gain on the sale of a prop-
erty in the U.K. Consolidated losses on disposal/writedown
of property, plant and equipment, net of $1,130 in the year
ended December 31, 2003 consisted of disposals and asset
writedowns partially offset by approximately $4,200 of gains
on the sale of properties in Texas, Florida and the U.K. Con-
solidated gains on disposal/writedown of property, plant and
equipment, net of $681 for the year ended December 31,
2004, consisted primarily of a gain on the sale of a property
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in Florida during the second guarter of 2004 of approximately
$1,200 offset by disposals and asset writedowns.

i. Customer Relationships and Acquisition Costs and Other

In connection with adopting SFAS No. 142, we reassessed
the useful lives and classification of our intangible assets.
Costs related to the acquisition of large volume accounts,
net of revenues received for the initial transfer of the records,
are capitalized and amortized for periods ranging from five
to 30 years (weighted average of 28 years at December 31,
2004). These costs had previously been amortized over pe-
riods not to exceed 12 years. If the customer terminates its
relationship with us, the unamortized cost is charged to ex-
pense. However, in the event of such termination, we collect,
and record as income, permanent removal fees that generally
equal or exceed the amount of the unamortized costs. Cus-
tomer relationship intangible assets acquired through busi-
ness combinations are amortized over periods ranging from
five to 30 years (weighted average of 18 years at December
31, 2004). As of December 31, 2003 and 2004, the gross car-
rying amount of customer relationships and acquisition costs
was $131,294 and $213,378, respectively, and accumulated
amortization of those costs was $14,828 and $23,598, re-
spectively. For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>